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OUR VALUES
We strive to be a GREAT company in all of 
our operations and dealings with people. 
The GREAT values are the foundation of our 
Company, and provide a core commitment 
to achieve the best we can for all of 
G-Resources’ stakeholders.
 

GREAT VALUES
GROWTH in value for all our stakeholders
RESPECT for our people, our  
 communities and for all stakeholders
EXCELLENCE in everything we do
ACTION to deliver on our commitments
TRANSPARENCY openness, honesty  
 and good governance

G-Resources is a company listed on the Hong Kong 
Stock Exchange focusing on financial services 
business, principal investment business, money lending 
business and real property business (HKEx: 1051).

CORPORATE 
PHILOSOPHY
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of G-Resources Group Limited (the “Company” or 
“G-Resources”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”), I hereby present to our shareholders the annual results 
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Year”). In 2022, the economy prolonged to be dampened by 
the spread of COVID-19 Omicron variants, extended lock-down measures, geopolitical tensions and the slowdown of 
the global economy. Despite facing such difficult and challenging times, G-Resources continued to maintain stable 
business development and strived to strengthen our market position to expand our business in the long term.

During 2022, the Group continued to focus on our three main businesses, namely financial services business, principal 
investment business and real property business.

For our financial services business, the Group recorded a net profit during the Year. As the Russo-Ukrainian war 
intensified and the interest rates increased, it brought uncertainty and volatility to the overall financial market. Hit by 
ongoing geopolitical issues and the continuation of the Sino-United States disputes, the Hong Kong securities market 
was in a worse situation. Hong Kong initial public offering (“IPO”) market also continued to be sluggish in 2022. Many 
expected IPOs in the pipeline were further delayed to 2023 or later. Amidst such adverse market conditions, with great 
efforts from our experienced management team, well-established securities trading infrastructure, strong client loyalty 
and multiple sales channels, the Group’s financial services business has remained in a steady position and made 
unremitting efforts to improve itself.

With the reopening of the border between Hong Kong and mainland China, expansion and diversification of financing 
platform for listing in Hong Kong and the driving force of the New Economy and US-listed Chinese enterprises, we 
believe that the Hong Kong IPO market will gradually resume in 2023, enhancing liquidity and have positive impact on 
the overall Hong Kong financial market. We will continue to further strengthen our business competitiveness, optimise 
resources allocation and enhance our service quality.

For our principal investment business, the Group continued to review its existing investment portfolio which we invested 
in the past years. This Year has been particularly difficult given the global political and economic issues including 
geopolitical tensions, supply chain disruptions, inflationary pressures and tightened monetary policies which led to a 
gloomy macroeconomic environment. Our professional and experienced investment team will continue to review our 
existing investment portfolio and wherever suitable and beneficial opportunities arise which can elevate the Group’s 
overall profitability and returns, the Group may invest in such investment products.

For our real property business, the Group’s property investments in Hong Kong brought us stable rental income 
during the Year. Given the uncertainties of the global commercial property market under the economic recession and 
the continued impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has remained very conservative during the process of 
seeking new investment opportunities in 2022. In 2023, the Group will resume a more active role in seeking investment 
opportunities for quality and upscale commercial properties and other types of properties in Hong Kong and other 
countries and regions, including the Greater Bay Area, North America and Europe as the COVID-19 pandemic gradually 
eases and various countries intend to slowly relax their restrictive measures.

G-Resources is confident in the Group’s business operations and very positive about our business development 
and future performance. The management of the Group will review and adjust its business strategies and focus 
on a regular basis to maximise returns and value for all its shareholders. The Group will explore all possibilities in 
expanding our financial services business for both our individual and institutional clients, strengthen product platform 
for asset management, arrange better allocation of the resources, provide extensive corporate financial services, 
with best endeavors to become an integrated financial services provider with international competitiveness to offer 
comprehensive services and bring utmost benefits to all our loyal clients.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, I would like to thank our management team and the entire staff team for their devoted 
service during the Year, and express our sincere gratitude to our shareholders for their continuing support for 
G-Resources. I look forward to continuing to work with them to achieve further development and greater success for the 
Company.

Li Zhongye, Cindy
Chairperson
Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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The principal business segments of the Group are described below:

1. FINANCIAL SERVICES BUSINESS
The Group is continuing to extend the scope of its principal activities to offer a wide range of financial services, 
including securities brokerage services, placing and underwriting services, corporate finance advisory services, 
provision of margin financing, money lending business and investment advisory and asset management 
services.

(A) Securities Dealing, Margin Financing and Asset Management
The Group currently holds type 1 (dealing in securities), type 2 (dealing in futures contracts), type 4 
(advising on securities), type 5 (advising on futures contracts), type 6 (advising on corporate finance), 
and type 9 (asset management) licences under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the 
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”).

(B) Money Lending
The Company engaged in money lending business in Hong Kong through its subsidiaries, namely Global 
Access Development Limited and Funderstone Finance Limited. Both companies are incorporated in 
Hong Kong and hold a money lender’s licence under the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the 
Laws of Hong Kong). The Group will continue to adopt a prudent approach to manage risk and maintain 
the profitability of the business.

2. PRINCIPAL INVESTMENT BUSINESS
The goal of our principal investment business is to identify investment opportunities and to invest in different 
industries, to provide better risk weighted return and capital value to the Group.

The executive committee of the Company (“Executive Committee”) is responsible for identifying, reviewing, 
considering and approving different investment opportunities taking into account the Group’s liquidity 
requirements, risk to capital and reasonable returns on investment with the risk taken.

We are also diversifying our investment portfolio under our principal investment business. During the Year, the 
Group invested in funds, bonds and equity investments (including listed and unlisted).

3. REAL PROPERTY BUSINESS
The Group intends to continue to expand its property portfolio on commercial properties in Hong Kong and other 
countries and regions, but also in other types of properties as and when appropriate investment opportunities 
arise.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Li Zhongye, Cindy
Ms Li Zhongye, Cindy, aged 54, was appointed as a chairperson of the Company and non-executive Director on 12 
October 2018. Ms Li has twenty years of experience in finance and information technology industry and possesses 
extensive corporate management experience. She has been a board director of WeAreHAH since January 2019, and 
an independent board director of ZHRH Corporation (a company listed on the OTC market of the United States) since 
March 2022. Ms Li also served as a director of Sunny Education Inc.. Ms Li obtained a medical degree in Capital 
Medical University, the People’s Republic of China in 1992.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Leung Oi Kin
Mr Leung Oi Kin, aged 48, was appointed as an executive Director and company secretary of the Company on 8 
November 2016 and 16 December 2016, respectively. Mr Leung is a director of various subsidiaries of the Company. 
He has more than twenty years of experience in accounting and financial management. He is a professional 
accountant and a fellow member of the CPA Australia. He is currently an independent non-executive director of Austar 
Lifesciences Limited (whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange). Mr Leung also worked 
in PricewaterhouseCoopers audit and assurance services team. Mr Leung graduated from University of Adelaide, 
Australia in 1997 with a bachelor’s degree in commerce and obtained the degree of master of business administration 
with honors from the University of Chicago Booth School of Business in the United States in 2022.

Leung Wai Yiu, Malcoln
Mr Leung Wai Yiu, Malcoln, aged 41, was appointed as an executive Director on 16 April 2018. Mr Malcoln Leung 
currently serves as executive director, chief investment officer of the Company and is primarily responsible for the 
Group’s investment, asset management and strategic planning, as well as formulating the Group’s overall business and 
asset portfolio strategy. He is also responsible for the day-to-day operations and overall management of the Company’s 
investment management team. He is a director of various subsidiaries of the Company. Mr Malcoln Leung has over 
nineteen years of extensive experience in asset management, investment banking and technology industry, based in 
the United States, Singapore and Hong Kong. Prior to joining the Group in 2017, Mr Malcoln Leung held key positions 
in various multinational financial institutions and investment banks including Bank of America, Merrill Lynch, Standard 
Chartered and HSBC, and he was responsible for leading global private equity investments and cross-border merger 
and acquisition transactions, covering different industries such as technology, real estate, financials, insurance and 
healthcare. Mr Malcoln Leung obtained a master’s degree in business administration from the Massachusetts Institute 
of Technology in the United States in 2008.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Lo Wa Kei, Roy
Mr Lo Wa Kei, Roy, aged 51, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 17 July 2017. Mr Lo is 
a practicing accountant in Hong Kong and is a certified public accountant in Hong Kong, a fellow member of the 
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of CPA Australia and a fellow of the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. He serves as the managing partner of SHINEWING (HK) CPA 
Limited, which is a full-service accounting and consulting firm engaged in the provision of, among other things, audit 
and business advisory services. He is also a member of the Shanghai Committee of the Chinese People’s Political 
Consultative Conference, the President of the Hong Kong Independent Non-Executive Director Association from 
2021 to 2022 and the Divisional President 2019 — Greater China of CPA Australia. Mr Lo has over twenty-nine years 
of experience in auditing, accounting, risk management and finance and has been serving as an independent non-
executive director of a number of companies listed on the Stock Exchange, including China Tonghai International 
Financial Limited, Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited and China Oceanwide Holdings Limited. He also served as an 
independent non-executive director of a number of companies listed on the Stock Exchange, including Sheen Tai 
Holdings Group Company Limited, Sun Hing Vision Group Holdings Limited, China Zhongwang Holdings Limited and 
Xinming China Holdings Limited. Mr Lo received a bachelor’s degree of business administration from The University of 
Hong Kong in 1993 and a master’s degree of professional accounting from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 
2000.
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Chen Gong
Mr Chen Gong, aged 52, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 3 February 2017. Mr Chen 
has more than twenty years of extensive experience in finance management, mergers & acquisitions, financing, 
negotiation and restructuring in a cross-culture environment. Mr Chen has participated in cross-border merger & 
acquisition and financing transactions. Mr Chen is the founder and managing director of DoubleOcean Financial 
Group, a financial advisory company that facilitates the cross-border investments between North America and China. 
He had also been involved in the management of various public companies listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange, 
in the capacity of director and/or chief executive officer/chief financial officer. Mr Chen was an independent director 
of Evermount Ventures Inc. (whose shares are listed on TSX Venture Exchange NEX), a director and chief financial 
officer of Credent Capital Corp. (whose shares are listed on TSX Venture Exchange NEX), a director and chief financial 
officer of Nextraction Energy Corp. (whose shares are listed on TSX Venture Exchange NEX), an independent director 
of Newmac Resources Inc. (whose shares are listed on TSX Venture Exchange) and an independent director of Ord 
Mountain Resources Corp. (whose shares are listed on TSX Venture Exchange NEX). Mr Chen also worked in various 
financial management positions at two Fortune 100 companies in the United States for about eight years. Mr Chen 
received a bachelor’s degree in International Economics from Peking (Beijing) University in 1992 and a master of 
business administration (MBA) from the University of Arizona in 1997. He is a Certified Public Accountant (CPA) in the 
United States.

Martin Que Meideng
Mr Martin Que Meideng, aged 61, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 3 February 2017. Mr 
Que has over twenty-six years of extensive experience of North American financial investment and management, and 
as a Certified Financial Planner in North America, covering tax planning, investment and risk management. Mr Que is 
a president and owner of Allvista Financial and Planning Services Inc., British Columbia, Canada; a vice-president of 
Marketing of Citistar Financial, British Columbia, Canada; and a chief financial officer of Blue-O Technology Inc., British 
Columbia, Canada, a fuel cell technology company. He is also a member of the Million Dollar Round Table (MDRT) of 
The Premier Association of Financial Professionals®, a Certified Financial Planner of the Financial Planning Standards 
Council and a Chartered Life Underwriter of The American College of Financial Services. Mr Que received a bachelor of 
engineering from Wuhan College of Geology in 1983 and a master of science from China University of Geosciences in 
1986.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Chan Chun Fung
Mr Chan Chun Fung, aged 39, is a director and general manager of Funderstone Securities Limited (“FSL”) and 
Funderstone Futures Limited (“FFL”). Mr Chan has over ten years of experience in the financial services industry. Since 
2012, he has been licensed under the SFO as a responsible officer for type 1, type 2, type 4 and type 5 regulated 
activities, and licensed responsible officer of FSL and FFL in 2019. With extensive financial industry experience in 
Chinese capital companies such as Dongxing Securities (Hong Kong) Financial Holdings Limited, iFAST Financial (HK) 
Limited, Ping An of China Securities (Hong Kong) Company Limited, Huatai Financial Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited, 
Huarong International Securities Limited and Bright Smart Securities & Commodities Group Limited (whose shares are 
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange), Mr Chan has built his strongest expertise in middle to back office 
operations, information technology, client services and business development. Mr Chan obtained his bachelor’s degree 
in commerce from Curtin University of Technology, Australia in 2007.

Lau Yue Wah, Brian
Mr Lau Yue Wah, Brian, aged 49, is a director of various subsidiaries of the Company. He is a co-founder of Enhanced 
Securities Limited (“ESL”). Mr Lau has over twenty years of experience in the financial services industry. He had held 
different positions in ESL. He is a responsible officer for type 1, type 2, type 4 and type 9 regulated activities under 
the SFO and is also the manager-in-charge of the overall management oversight of ESL. Mr Lau graduated from The 
University of New South Wales in Sydney, Australia.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND RESULTS
Below is a summary of the financial information:

2022 2021
USD’000 USD’000  

Revenue 26,873 63,165
Other income 9,086 1,201
Administrative expenses (10,878) (11,148)
Fair value changes of financial assets and investments in perpetual notes at 

fair value through profit or loss (106,724) 18,050
Provision for expected credit losses on financial assets, net (2,643) (4,326)
(Decrease)/increase in fair value of investment properties (281) 141
Other (loss)/gain (2,632) 2,838
EBITDA (88,601) 70,821
(Loss)/profit before taxation (Note) (89,434) 69,917
(Loss)/profit for the year (89,434) 69,921

Analysis of external revenue by operating segment:
(i) Financial Services Business 2,034 8,854
(ii) Principal Investment Business 23,391 52,588
(iii) Real Property Business 1,448 1,723

Analysis of results by operating segment:
(i) Financial Services Business 1,764 4,035
(ii) Principal Investment Business (88,169) 64,300
(iii) Real Property Business 1,485 1,751

Note: The loss/profit before taxation included segment results, unallocated other income, unallocated corporate expenses and fair 
value changes of investment properties.

The Group had a loss for the Year of USD89.4 million (2021: profit for the year of USD69.9 million). The change from 
profit for the last year to the loss for the Year was mainly due to (i) fair value losses of financial assets and investments in 
perpetual notes at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) held by the Group recognised of approximately USD106.7 
million as compared to fair value gains of approximately USD18.1 million in the corresponding year; and (ii) decrease 
in revenue by USD36.3 million. However, the effect was partially offset by (i) a decrease in administrative expenses by 
USD0.3 million; and (ii) an increase in other income by USD7.9 million.

Revenue was USD26.9 million (2021: USD63.2 million), which was mainly generated by the dividend and distribution 
income as well as interest income from financial products; interest income from financial institutions and margin 
financing; commission income and handling charges from financial services; as well as rental income. The decrease 
in revenue was mainly due to (i) a significant decrease in dividend and distribution income under principal investment 
business of the Group by USD37.6 million, which was mainly due to decrease in distribution income received from our 
unlisted investments; and (ii) decrease in commission income and handling charges from financial services and interest 
income from margin financing by USD6.7 million. However, the effect was partially offset by an increase in interest 
income from financial institutions’ deposit as well as interest income from financial products under principal investment 
business of the Group by USD8.4 million.

Other income was USD9.1 million (2021: USD1.2 million) for the Year and mainly comprises interest income generated 
from fixed income investment which amounted to USD8.6 million (2021: USD0.9 million), and government grants 
amounted to USD0.2 million (2021: USD0.1 million).

A significant decrease in fair value changes of financial assets and investments in perpetual notes at FVTPL was due 
to a composition of (i) fair value gain or loss; (ii) payment for the commitments; and (iii) netting off the distributions of 
investments during the Year.
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Fair value of the investment properties has dropped by USD0.3 million due to a slight decline in prices of commercial 
properties located in Wanchai in 2022.

Other loss was USD2.6 million (2021: gain USD2.8 million) for the Year, primarily attributed to exchange loss. The 
recognition of exchange loss of USD2.6 million was mainly due to a change in the exchange rate for the year end 
balance.

Administrative expenses were USD10.9 million for the Year, representing a slight decrease of USD0.2 million as 
compared to USD11.1 million for the corresponding year. Such decrease was mainly due to the effective cost control of 
the Group for the Year.

General description on the Group’s investment strategies
The Group has been continuously reviewing its business and investment strategies, especially for its principal 
investment business pursuant to the Group’s financial needs and change of market circumstances. The Group 
generates profit from interest income, dividend income and distribution income from financial assets held by the Group 
in its principal investment business. The Group takes a prudent approach in allocating its financial assets. Apart from 
equity investments which are usually accompanied by higher market risks, the Group has been exploring different fixed 
income investment portfolios as part of its assets allocation plan, including the selection of fixed income assets and the 
vehicles the Group uses to access them.

Since 2018, considering the trend of interest rates, risk tolerance, capital preservation, liquidity and yield, the Group 
constructed its fixed income investment portfolios by pairing its bond investment with cash investment. The Group 
believes that a strong fixed income component serves as a safety net for the Group’s overall investment portfolios.

The Group has allocated approximately 40% of its financial assets to fixed income investment, divided equally between 
bond investment and cash investment (including deposits with financial institutions), as part of its on-going investment 
strategies to eliminate the impact from market fluctuations that are typical in equity investment.

Segment analysis
(i) Financial Services Business

The Group focuses on four key financial services business areas mainly in the Hong Kong market, which are 
(i) securities trading and brokerage; (ii) margin financing; (iii) money lending; and (iv) asset management. 
Enhanced Financial Services Group Limited and Funderstone Securities Holdings Limited (“FSHL”) are the two 
corporate vehicles of the Group involved in the provision of a wide range of licensed financial services, which 
mainly include underwriting, securities and futures brokerage, corporate finance, investment advisory, and other 
related financial services in Hong Kong and other countries.

In 2022, in view of the local outbreak of Omicron variant of COVID-19 and tightening of restriction policies, the 
Group had taken a more prudent and conservative approach, to focus on existing product offerings and to 
continue to leverage the client base generated from the acquisition of FSHL Group and identified new high-
quality client base where opportunity arises. The Group’s experienced management team continued to put 
tremendous efforts in our margin financing, securities and brokerage services and asset management business 
through the use of our well-established securities trading infrastructure, strong client loyalty and multiple sales 
channels. The Group believes that it has developed and maintained a niche in the margin financing market 
to serve corporate and retail clients in meeting their corporate goals and personal needs by building on our 
renowned reputation in delivering professional and personalised financial services. The Group also continued 
its underwriting exercises during the Year. The Group will continue to actively identify business opportunities, 
diversify into more business lines and offer more varieties of financial services to our customers.

Revenue generated from the financial services business mainly consists of (i) commission income and handling 
charges from financial services; (ii) interest income from margin financing; and (iii) asset management fee 
income.
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The segment results was USD1.8 million (2021: USD4.0 million), which was mainly due to the decrease in 
commission income and handling charges. However, such decrease was partially offset by the increase in other 
income for the Year.

Commission income and handling charges
During the Year, the commission income and handling charges from financial services were USD1.3 million 
(2021: USD4.4 million). The decrease in the commission income and handling charges was mainly due to a 
decrease in trading volume which was mainly resulted from the adverse Hong Kong stock market during the 
Year.

Interest income from margin financing and money lending businesses
The interest income from margin financing was USD0.6 million (2021: USD4.2 million). The accounts receivables 
from clients was USD2.4 million as at 31 December 2022 (as at 31 December 2021: USD15.7 million). Such 
decreases were due to the adverse Hong Kong IPO market environment, which in turn affected our margin 
financing business.

Adhering to the transformation plan, the Group ceased to provide unsecured loan which is considered to be 
of higher credit risk, and accentuated our secured and mortgaged loans business since the second quarter of 
2019 which are backed by collaterals with a comparatively lower credit risk.

The Group has established a more stringent risk control and management system, including optimised loan 
approval and monitoring procedures, as well as adjusted interest rate and loan-to-value (“LTV”) ratio, which 
allows the Group to be better structured to serve existing and new clients and minimise the Group’s risk 
exposure.

In addition, the Group consistently implemented cautious and prudent internal control measures in its margin 
financing and money lending businesses, including but not limited to:

– periodic review of collateral value and quality;
– stress testing on borrowers’ repayment ability and collateral value;
– on-going loan portfolio monitoring and management;
– watch list mechanism;
– overdue loan collection management; and
– loan impairment provision.

The Group has assessed the clients’ risk profiles according to its internal credit control procedures and remains 
prudent in minimising the credit risk that they are exposed to and is persistent in following its approach in 
developing the money lending business to achieve a risk-gain balance. Despite the difficulties and challenges 
ahead, the Group will continue to leverage our professionalism and solid experience in money lending business.

The Group had no bad debts during the Year.

(ii) Principal Investment Business
During the Year, the Group invested USD47.4 million in unlisted financial assets, which was mainly payment 
for capital commitments of the unlisted investment funds and unlisted equity investments. During the Year, 
the Group (i) invested USD46.1 million in listed bonds; (ii) disposed of listed bonds or having the same being 
redeemed or reaching maturity in the aggregate value of USD46.8 million; and (iii) had a decrease in the 
aggregate market value of listed shares of USD11.8 million. Other than the abovementioned reasons, the net 
decrease of USD75.3 million in non-cash financial assets was primarily due to the net effect of return of capital 
from the unlisted investments, and the net realised and unrealised fair value loss on the listed shares, listed 
bonds and unlisted investments mainly acquired in previous years.

The segment results of principal investment business’s loss of USD88.2 million mainly included (i) fair value loss 
of financial assets and investments in perpetual notes at FVTPL of USD106.7 million; and (ii) exchange loss of 
USD3.9 million, which was partially offset by interest income, dividend and distribution income from the financial 
assets of USD28.3 million. The significant decrease in dividend and distribution income was mainly due to 
significant decrease in distribution income from unlisted investments during the Year.
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As at 31 December 2022, the Group held non-cash financial assets of USD539.9 million, as follows:

2022 2021
USD’000 USD’000  

Listed shares 46,138 57,968
Listed bonds 81,914 88,048
Unlisted investment funds 350,768 403,514
Unlisted equity investments 36,966 39,182
Convertible notes 24,096 26,481  
Total 539,882 615,193  

Significant Investments
Genesis Capital I LP (“Genesis Fund I”)
The Group held limited partner interest of Genesis Fund I as an unlisted investment fund since April 2017. The 
diversified investment portfolio of the Genesis Fund I operates in the form of a limited partnership, focusing on 
underlying investment opportunities in China which aligns with the theme of “Information Technology Improves 
Efficiency”. Based on this idea, Genesis Fund I’s investment profile yields returns from investing in a wide range 
of equity and equity-related securities of growth and late-stage technology entities or business-to-business 
and business-to-consumer commerce such as software-as-a-service companies and e-commerce platforms. 
The Group’s capital commitment to Genesis Fund I accounts for 17.8% of total partners’ capital commitment as 
at 31 December 2022. The fair value of the investment as at 31 December 2022 was USD150.9 million, which 
accounted for 9.4% of the total assets of the Group as at 31 December 2022. The investment cost of Genesis 
Fund I was USD75.9 million (2021: USD73.3 million). The increase in investment cost was mainly due to a capital 
call.

Genesis Fund I has achieved income generation and capital appreciation since our investment in April 2017. For 
the Year, the realised gain and unrealised losses of the investment were USD2.6 million and USD23.2 million, 
respectively. Moving forward, the Group is optimistic about the potential of this investment. With China reopening 
its economy and lifting its travel restrictions, the level of business activities and consumption sentiment have 
resumed gradually. It is expected that China will maintain accommodative monetary policy and, if necessary, 
launch stimulus package to provide further support to the economy, creating favorable environment for the 
growth of the technology and consumption sector, thus benefiting the performance of the portfolio companies 
under Genesis Fund I. Being a limited partner of Genesis Fund I, based on the proven track record, the Group 
believes that by leveraging the strategic and extensive resources available and extensive experience in 
investment and fund operation in the technology, media and telecommunications industry possessed by Genesis 
Fund I’s management team, the investment will continue to bring about positive financial returns.

Except for the investment disclosed above, there was no other single investment (for example, financial assets 
at FVTPL and investments in debt instruments measured at amortised cost) in the Group’s diversified investment 
portfolio that was considered a significant investment, given that none of the investments had a carrying amount 
accounting for more than 5% of the Group’s total assets as at 31 December 2022.

(iii) Real Property Business
The Group owns three floors of commercial office (including 17th, 18th and 19th floor) and ten car parking 
spaces located at Capital Centre, No. 151 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. Part of the commercial 
offices are being used by the Group as our head office and the remaining part has been leased to third parties 
for office use under leases of not more than three years. The rental income generated and the segment results of 
the real property business were USD1.4 million and USD1.5 million (2021: USD1.7 million and USD1.8 million) for 
the Year, respectively, which were relatively stable as compared to the same period in 2021. The slight decrease 
in rental income was due to grant of extra rent-free period as part of the renewal of the rental contract for leased 
commercial offices during the Year.
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The Group has been seeking for investment opportunities for quality and upscale commercial properties and 
other types of properties in other countries. Given the continued restrictive travelling measures adopted by Hong 
Kong due to outbreak of COVID-19 during the Year, the Group was unable to conduct physical examination 
of properties in other countries. Since the second half of 2020, the Group has been concentrating on those 
properties in Hong Kong, in particular distressed and foreclosed properties, and assessing the capital returns 
and rental yield of the same. Due to continued change of circumstances in connection with the COVID-19 
pandemic and the uncertainty in Hong Kong business environment resulting from economic recession and 
geopolitical tensions, Hong Kong’s office leasing market is still subject to strong headwinds and struggling to 
recover from the bottom in the Year. Demand for leased offices remained subdued with the new lettings in the 
central business districts dropped significantly and the vacancy rate in the overall office market rising – both of 
which have affected a rental recovery in 2022. As a result, the Group did not identify any properties which are 
suitable for our value-add or opportunistic investment strategies.

REVIEW OF GROUP FINANCIAL POSITION

2022 2021
USD’000 USD’000  

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 854,253 900,845
Time deposits with original maturities over three months 30,000 –
Financial assets at FVTPL 39,383 29,552
Investments in debt instruments measured at amortised cost 20,111 14,038
Accounts and other receivables 14,807 19,705
Others 48,037 39,430

Non-current Assets
Financial assets at FVTPL 418,585 497,593
Investments in debt instruments measured at amortised cost 36,396 44,977
Investments in perpetual notes at FVTPL 22,586 29,033
Investment properties 64,381 64,669
Others 51,732 50,984

Total Assets 1,600,271 1,690,826
Other Liabilities (60,140) (53,039)
Net Assets 1,540,131 1,637,787

Non-current assets were USD593.7 million (2021: USD687.3 million), representing a decrease of USD93.6 million. It was 
mainly due to the net decrease in investment in financial assets at FVTPL of USD79.0 million; a decrease in investments 
in debt instruments measured at amortised cost of USD8.6 million; and a decrease in investments in perpetual notes at 
FVTPL of USD6.4 million. Current assets were USD1,006.6 million (2021: USD1,003.6 million), representing an increase 
by USD3.0 million, which was mainly due to an increase in investments in debt instruments measured at amortised cost 
of USD6.1 million; an increase in bank trust accounts balances of USD8.6 million; and an increase in financial assets 
at FVTPL of USD9.8 million. However, the effect was offset by a decrease in accounts and other receivables of USD4.9 
million; a net decrease in cash and cash equivalent of USD46.6 million; and an increase in the time deposits with 
original maturities of over three months of USD30.0 million.

NET ASSETS VALUE
As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s net assets amounted to USD1,540.1 million, representing a decrease of USD97.7 
million as compared to USD1,637.8 million as at 31 December 2021. The decrease in net assets was mainly due to the 
loss for the Year of USD89.4 million.
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CASH FLOW, LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
Cash Flow Summary

2022 2021
USD’000 USD’000  

Net cash from Operating Activities 19,211 17,754
Net cash used in Investing Activities (60,085) (79,036)
Net cash (used in)/from Financing Activities (8,088) 2,384  
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (48,962) (58,898)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 900,845 964,665
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 2,370 (4,922)  
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 854,253 900,845  

The Group’s cash balance as at 31 December 2022 was USD854.3 million (2021: USD900.8 million). The net cash 
from operating activities for the Year of USD19.2 million was mainly resulting from loss for the Year of USD89.4 million 
adjusted for non-cash and non-operating items of USD87.7 million, movements in working capitals of USD12.1 million, 
interest received of USD5.8 million and dividend received of USD3.0 million. Net cash used in investing activities was 
USD60.1 million, mainly included net cash outflows for investments of USD41.9 million and placing of bank deposits of 
USD30.0 million, which was partially offset by USD11.7 million from interest received.

The Group’s gearing ratio as the percentage of the Group’s total borrowings over shareholders’ equity, was nil as at 31 
December 2022 and 31 December 2021. The Group had no outstanding bank borrowings as at 31 December 2022.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE OF THE GROUP
As at 31 December 2022, the equity attributable to the owners of the Company was USD1,538.2 million. The capital 
structure of the Group has not changed materially since 30 June 2022, being the end of the reporting period of the 
Group’s interim report.

CONTINGENT LIABILITY
As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have contingent liability.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
On 28 January 2022, Maximum Gains Group Limited (“Maximum Gains”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of 
the Company, and Princeville Global Partners III Ltd. (being the general partner) (the “Princeville GP”) entered into 
the subscription agreement to subscribe for the limited partner interest in Princeville Global III LP (the “Princeville 
Fund”) as a limited partner for a capital commitment of USD20 million (equivalent to approximately HKD155.8 million). 
The Princeville Fund is established for the principal purposes of (i) making, either directly or indirectly through an 
intermediate entity owned or controlled by the Princeville Fund, “breakout” stage investments in technology companies 
whose businesses are seeking growth capital, with a view to generating income and capital appreciation; (ii) managing, 
supervising and disposing of such investments; and (iii) engaging in such other activities related, incidental or ancillary 
thereto. The Princeville GP, incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company, is also the carried interest 
partner of the Princeville Fund, and may appoint Princeville Capital (the “Management Company”), an exempted 
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands, to provide investment advisory services to the Princeville Fund on a 
non-discretionary basis. The Management Company is principally engaged and specialises in investing in technology-
related growth companies around the world. The Management Company invests in companies in the “breakout” stage, 
in which there are proven business models, technologies, unit economics, accelerating KPIs and a need for capital 
to grow. Mr Emmanuel DeSousa and Mr Joaquin Alberto C Rodriguez Torres are the co-founders of the Management 
Company and lead the management team of the same, both possessing more than 20 years of investment experience, 
having invested in some of the prominent internet and technology companies globally. For further details, please refer to 
the announcement of the Company dated 28 January 2022. As at 31 December 2022, the Princeville Fund has invested 
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in seven projects including (i) a leading personalized news and entertainment APPs developer in Japan and the US; 
(ii) an eCommerce logistics technology platform in China; (iii) a leading eCommerce platform in Turkey; (iv) a leading 
layer-two scaling solution for the Ethereum blockchain and one of the largest NFT-focused blockchains; (v) a leading 
time-series database; (vi) a food technology company creating and commercialising a broad selection of plant-based 
products; and (vii) a digital enabler within the pharmaceutical value chain.

On 30 September 2022, (i) Golden Hero Holdings Limited (“Golden Hero”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of 
the Company, has served a request for redemption of 11.924875 class B shares in Woodmont Investments Limited 
(the “Woodmont Fund”) at an estimated aggregate redemption proceeds of approximately USD8.2 million; and (ii) 
Aqua Trend Limited (“Aqua Trend”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has served a request for 
redemption of 4,092.951430 series A – series 1 shares in Serenitas Credit Gamma Offshore Fund, Ltd. (the “Serenitas 
Fund”) at an estimated aggregate redemption proceeds of approximately USD5.4 million. The Woodmont Fund is an 
exempted company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and a long/short equity strategy hedge fund which invests 
primarily in long/short United States and international equities and equity derivatives and seeks to achieve compelling 
risk-adjusted returns in all market conditions with low correlation and low volatility. The Serenitas Fund is an exempted 
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and a relative value trading credit strategy hedge fund focused on 
mortgage, corporate and synthetic credit. The Serenitas Fund targets to generate attractive risk-adjusted returns with 
minimal financial leverage, and with a “low net risk approach” to credit spreads and interest rates. After completion of 
above redemptions, Golden Hero and Aqua Trend ceased to hold any shares in the Woodmont Fund and the Serenitas 
Fund, respectively.

On 20 January 2023, True Colour Group Limited (“True Colour”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 
has served a request for redemption of 8,000 class A1 shares in Shaolin Capital Partners International Fund, Ltd. (the 
“Shaolin Fund”) at an estimated aggregate redemption proceeds of approximately USD7.74 million. The Shaolin Fund is 
an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and an opportunistic and cross-asset value strategy hedge 
fund that uses a top-down thematic framework to capitalize on market inefficiencies. After completion of the redemption, 
True Colour ceased to hold any shares in the Shaolin Fund.

On 20 January 2023, Max Strength Holdings Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, ZQ Capital 
Services Limited (“ZQ Capital”) (being the general partner) and Ms Wang Jue (“Ms Wang”) (being the initial limited 
partner) entered into the limited partnership agreement to subscribe for the limited partner interest in Range 22 
Investors L.P. (the “Range 22 Fund”) for a capital commitment of USD32 million (equivalent to approximately HKD250.56 
million). The Range 22 Fund is an exempted limited partnership established in accordance with the Exempted Limited 
Partnership Act (2021 Revision) of the Cayman Islands on 12 December 2022. The primary focus of the Range 22 Fund 
is to make investments, directly or indirectly, in the securities of mature businesses in the global healthcare industry to 
achieve long term capital appreciation. ZQ Capital is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and it 
shall be responsible for the management and day-to-day operations of the Range 22 Fund. ZQ Capital is wholly-owned 
by Mr Shen Zheqing (“Mr Shen”). Mr Shen is the founding member of ZQ Capital. He has extensive experience in the 
healthcare industry and Asia capital markets, with a special area of expertise and network in China. Prior to founding ZQ 
Capital in 2017, Mr Shen was the managing director and head of the China Financial Institutions Business at Barclays 
PLC from 2011 to 2015. From 2004 to 2010, he worked with The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. (“Goldman Sachs”) as 
an investment banker in its New York and Hong Kong offices. Mr Shen has worked with many corporations in Asia. He 
also worked with a number of corporations in the United States during the early stages of his career at Goldman Sachs 
and Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. in New York. Mr Shen obtained a Bachelor of Arts in Mathematics and Economics 
from Wesleyan University. Ms Wang is a merchant. Upon execution of the limited partnership agreement, Ms Wang 
has withdrawn from the Range 22 Fund and has ceased to be a limited partner. For further details, please refer to the 
announcement of the Company dated 20 January 2023. As at 31 December 2022, the Range 22 Fund has not made 
any investment.

Save as disclosed above, there was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 
during the Year and as at the date of publication of the Company’s final results announcement.



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
 

BUSINESS REVIEW

G-RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED 2022 ANNUAL REPORT14

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE RATES AND HEDGE POLICIES
The Group conducted most of its business in United States dollars (“USD”) and Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”). The foreign 
currency exposure of HKD to USD is minimal as HKD is pegged to USD.

The management will continue to monitor the Group’s foreign currency exposure and consider other hedging policies 
should the need arise.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
As at 31 December 2022, no assets of the Group had been pledged.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK
Leveraging on our existing solid capital base, we actively optimised resources allocation and maintained our 
conservative and diligent investment philosophy. We believe that this strategy enables us to remain cautious in view 
of the difficulties and challenges under the current economic environment, whilst maximising return and value on the 
Group’s business and financial performance in 2023.

Financial services business. The Group will continue to focus on our key financial services business areas, including 
securities trading and brokerage and margin financing, asset management and corporate finance advisory services. 
Our competitive commission rate, quality and efficient service, strong financial resources, and reliable trading system 
shall enable our financial services business to maintain a strong client loyalty and sustain stable growth in our client 
base.

In 2022, the recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic was prolonged and subdued given the outbreak of the COVID-19 
Omicron variants in Hong Kong and extended lock-down measures. There were other factors affecting the global 
financial market, such as the Russo-Ukrainian War and the announcement by the US Federal Reserve to increase 
interest rates. The Hong Kong IPO market also remained sluggish in 2022 with many expected IPOs in the pipeline 
being further delayed to 2023 or later.

With the reopening of the border between Hong Kong and mainland China, the Group expected that the business and 
investment environment both globally and in Hong Kong will gradually recover. When the IPO market revives, the Group 
will tap into the IPO margin financing business and will continue to place great efforts in promoting and expanding such 
business through various channels, including existing clients, brokerage firms and its network of account executives 
and the Group’s interest income and related handling charge deriving from margin financing for both IPO and non-IPO 
transactions.

The Group will adopt a prudent and balanced approach and adjust its business strategies to respond to market 
changes in a flexible and timely manner. The Group will continue to build on its existing promotion strategies through 
the use of its multiple channels, including advertisements and marketing campaigns, as well as other brand building 
and brand awareness activities, and incentive measures to further strengthen its margin financing business and to 
enhance our client coverage on the securities trading and brokerage business. The Group will closely monitor the 
securities market and actively review all of its implemented strategies to maximise benefits arising from such market.

For our money lending business, the management of the Group has been prudent in minimising the credit risk it is 
exposed to and has been following its approach in developing the money lending business to achieve a risk-gain 
balance. In light of the continued uncertainty on the client’s creditworthiness for money lending business; global market 
under gradual economic recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic; collateral quality and valuation of property assets, the 
Group will continue to conduct prudent internal credit assessment and monitor the market and appropriately allocate its 
resources to other areas under the financial services business with lower risk and higher yields.
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The Group will also continue to explore other possibilities in expanding our quality client base and strengthen our 
relationship with major institutional clients by offering more comprehensive and tailor-made financial products and 
services. The Group will provide general corporate financial advisory services in relation to IPO, share placings, rights 
issues, corporate restructuring and mergers and acquisitions. The Group will also continue to participate in underwriting 
services as well as other related services when suitable opportunities arise.

For our asset management business, the Group will continue to enhance our services and provide customised 
discretionary investment management services to high-net-worth clients and to further enhance brand awareness and 
market reputation.

Principal investment business. The Group’s investment portfolio consists of a combination of diversified investment 
in funds, bonds and equity investments (including listed or unlisted). The Group will continue to review its investment 
portfolio from time to time. When its investment team considers that suitable opportunities arise which are beneficial 
to the Group and can enhance the Group’s overall profitability and returns, the Group may consider investing in such 
investment products.

Real property business. The Group continued to seek investment opportunities for quality and upscale commercial 
properties and other types of properties. Against the continued restrictive travelling measures adopted by Hong Kong 
due to the COVID-19 pandemic during the Year, the Group was unable to conduct physical examination of properties 
in other countries. Since the second half of 2020, the Group has been exploring distressed and foreclosed properties 
available in the areas where the Group is focusing on, and assessing the capital returns and rental yield of such 
properties. The Group will continue to explore other properties that can provide a higher return as well as good potential 
capital appreciation in the future. The Group will take all necessary and proper assessments if we intend to acquire any 
new properties.

Looking-forward. The COVID-19 pandemic has continued for over three years and had by far severely affected the 
global economy and corporate earnings. With the reopening of all borders, including Mainland China and Hong Kong, 
it is anticipated that the global economy will gradually recover, and Hong Kong will resume its normality. In view of the 
upcoming uncertainties as the global markets recover, the Group will maintain a balanced and prudent approach to 
asset allocation while seizing all possible opportunities to further develop and expand our businesses.

HUMAN RESOURCES
As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 49 employees in Hong Kong. Employees are remunerated at a competitive 
level and rewarded according to their performance. The Group’s remuneration packages include salary, medical 
scheme, group insurance, mandatory provident fund, performance bonus and share options for our employees.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Board is not aware of any significant events that have occurred subsequent 
to 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this annual report which require disclosure herein.
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The Board is pleased to present their report and the audited financial statements for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
In the course of the Year, the principal activities of the Company are financial services business, principal investment 
business, money lending business and real property business. The principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries as 
at 31 December 2022 are set out in note 36 to the financial statements contained in this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW
A business review of the Group is set out on pages 7 to 15 of this annual report.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS OF THE GROUP’S BUSINESS PROSPECTS
Details of the business’ s future prospects are set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis – 
Business Outlook” on pages 14 to 15 of this annual report.

DIVIDENDS
The Board has proposed a final dividend of HKD0.12 (2021: HKD0.12) per share for the Year. Subject to the approval 
of the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”), at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM”), 
the proposed final dividend will be payable to Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the 
Company on 30 June 2023 (Friday).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
For ascertaining Shareholders’ right to attend and vote at the AGM:

Latest time to lodge transfers 4:00 p.m. on 12 June 2023 (Monday)
Closure dates of register of members  

(both days inclusive)
13 June 2023 (Tuesday) to 

16 June 2023 (Friday)
Record date 16 June 2023 (Friday)
AGM 16 June 2023 (Friday)

For ascertaining Shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed final dividend#:

Latest time to lodge transfers 4:00 p.m. on 27 June 2023 (Tuesday)
Closure date of register of members  

(both days inclusive)
28 June 2023 (Wednesday) to 

30 June 2023 (Friday)
Record date 30 June 2023 (Friday)
Proposed final dividend payment date 12 July 2023 (Wednesday)

( # subject to Shareholders’ approval at the AGM)

During the periods of the closure of register of members, no share transfers will be registered. For registration, all 
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share 
registrar in Hong Kong, Union Registrars Limited, at Suites 3301–04, 33/F., Two Chinachem Exchange Square, 338 
King’s Road, North Point, Hong Kong before the relevant latest time to lodge transfers.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the past five financial years is set out on page 
112 of this annual report.

RESERVES
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity on page 51 of this annual report. Details of the reserves available for distribution to Shareholders as 
at 31 December 2022 is set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS
Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share options during the Year are set out in notes 26 and 27 
to the financial statements contained in this annual report, respectively.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the Year are set out in note 14 to the 
financial statements contained in this annual report.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual report are:

Non-Executive Director
Li Zhongye, Cindy (Chairperson)

Executive Directors
Leung Oi Kin
Leung Wai Yiu, Malcoln

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Lo Wa Kei, Roy 
Chen Gong
Martin Que Meideng

In accordance with clause 99 of the Company’s Bye-laws, at each AGM, one-third of the Directors for the time being, 
or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest but not less than one-third, shall retire from 
office by rotation. Accordingly, Mr Leung Oi Kin and Mr Lo Wa Kei, Roy will retire by rotation at the forthcoming AGM, 
and both of them, being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS OF THE RETIRING DIRECTORS
Mr Leung Oi Kin has entered into a service agreement with the Company. This service agreement shall be valid unless 
terminated by either party by giving a three months’ written notice.

The term of office of Mr Lo Wa Kei, Roy is three years commencing from 19 June 2020 and will be subject to retirement 
by rotation and re-election at the AGM in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a service contract 
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of 
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES
During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s 
listed securities.

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES
As at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors and executive officers of the Company (“Executive Officers”) or 
their respective associates had any interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares, convertible notes 
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as 
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to the 
Company and the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part 
XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of 
the SFO) or pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by directors and chief executives of the Company 
(“Model Code”) required to be disclosed in accordance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing 
Rules”).
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SHARE OPTION
Particulars of the share option scheme of the Company are set out in note 27 to the financial statements contained in 
this annual report.

Share Option Scheme
In order to continue to provide incentives and rewards to the eligible employees and participants, the Company 
adopted a share option scheme pursuant to a resolution passed by the Shareholders on 18 June 2014, of which the 
general scheme limit has been revised pursuant to a resolution passed by the Shareholders on 15 June 2018 (the “2014 
Share Option Scheme”) which will remain in force for ten years from the date becoming effective.

An offer of the grant of an option may be accepted by an eligible participant within 28 days from the date upon which 
it is made. A consideration of HKD1 is payable on acceptance of the offer of grant of an option. The period within 
which the options must be exercised will commence from the date of acceptance of the offer for the grant of options 
but shall end in any event not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the option subject to the provisions of early 
termination thereof. The subscription price shall be determined by the Board, but shall not be lower than the highest of 
(i) the closing price of shares at the date of grant which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of shares 
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a share. Unless the 
Board otherwise determined and stated in the offer of the grant of options to an eligible participant, there is neither any 
performance targets that needs to be achieved by the grantee before any options can be exercised nor any minimum 
period for which the option must be held before it can be exercised.

As at 31 December 2022, the total number of shares of the Company issuable pursuant to the 2014 Share Option 
Scheme on the date of its adoption was 22,540,703 shares of the Company, representing 5.0% of the issued share 
capital of the Company as at the date of this annual report and there was no share option granted, exercised, cancelled 
or lapsed under the 2014 Share Option Scheme as at the date of this annual report.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME
Details of the Group’s retirement benefit scheme for the Year are set out in note 33 to the financial statements contained 
in this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
At no time during the Year was the Company or its subsidiaries or jointly controlled entity a party to any arrangement 
that enabled any Director or Executive Officer to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or 
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

None of the Directors or Executive Officers or their spouses or children under the age of 18 had any right to subscribe 
for the securities of the Company or had exercised any such right during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF 
SIGNIFICANCE
No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party 
and in which a Director, any entity connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, 
subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS
During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, except otherwise disclosed herein, none of the Directors, or 
any of their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any material interest in a business that competes 
or may compete with the business of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT
No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the 
Company was entered into or existed during the Year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT
There was no equity-linked agreement entered into by the Company that will or may result in the Company issuing 
shares or that require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares 
during the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The Company has received from each of its independent non-executive Directors (“INED(s)”) written confirmation of 
their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

DISCLOSEABLE INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF PERSONS OTHER THAN 
DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
As at 31 December 2022, so far as known to the Directors or Executive Officers, the following persons/entities are the
Shareholders (other than the Directors or Executive Officers) who had interests or short positions in the shares and 
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or be directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of 
share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances of general meetings of the Company or who were recorded 
in the register of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO or had 
otherwise notified the Company.

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the Company

Name of shareholders Capacity

Number 
of shares/ 

underlying 
shares (Note 1)

Approximate 
% of the 

issued share 
capital of the 

Company Notes     

Xie Pengfei Interest of a controlled corporation 127,939,100 (L) 28.38% 2
PX Global Advisors, LLC Interest of a controlled corporation 127,939,100 (L) 28.38% 2
PX Capital Management Ltd. Interest of a controlled corporation 127,939,100 (L) 28.38% 2
PX Capital Partners L.P. Beneficial owner 127,939,100 (L) 28.38% 2
John Paul Buckley Interest of a controlled corporation 81,774,809 (L) 18.14% 3
Zhang Zheng Interest of a controlled corporation 81,774,809 (L) 18.14% 3
19 Growth Capital Fund GP, Inc. Interest of a controlled corporation 81,774,809 (L) 18.14% 3
19 Growth Equity Fund, LP Beneficial owner 81,774,809 (L) 18.14% 3

Notes:
1. “L” denotes long position.
2. PX Global Advisors, LLC is wholly-owned by Mr Xie Pengfei. PX Global Advisors, LLC owns 40% equity interests of PX Capital 

Management Ltd.. PX Capital Partners L.P. is wholly-owned by PX Capital Management Ltd.. Under Part XV of the SFO, Mr Xie 
Pengfei, PX Global Advisors, LLC and PX Capital Management Ltd. are deemed to have interest in the shares of the Company 
held by PX Capital Partners L.P..

3. Mr John Paul Buckley and Mr Zhang Zheng indirectly own 60% and 40% equity interests of 19 Growth Capital Fund GP, Inc, 
respectively. 19 Growth Equity Fund, LP is wholly-owned by 19 Growth Capital Fund GP, Inc.. Under Part XV of the SFO, Mr 
John Paul Buckley, Mr Zhang Zheng and 19 Growth Capital Fund GP, Inc. are deemed to have interest in the shares of the 
Company held by 19 Growth Equity Fund, LP..

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified by any person (other than the Directors or Executive 
Officers) who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be 
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or be directly or indirectly 
interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances of 
general meetings of the Company or who were recorded in the register of substantial shareholders maintained by the 
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO or had otherwise notified the Company as at 31 December 2022.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
The aggregate revenue attributable to the five largest customers accounted for approximately 35.5% of the Group’s total 
revenue for the Year, and the revenue attributable to the largest customer included therein amounted to approximately 
9.8% of the Group’s total revenue for the Year. The Group is a provider of financial services. In the opinion of the Board, 
it is therefore of no value to disclose details of the Group’s suppliers.

At no time during the Year, none of the Directors, their associates or the Shareholders, which to the knowledge of the 
Directors owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital, had any interests in the above customers.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-laws or the applicable laws of Bermuda, which 
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

RELIEF OF TAXATION
The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the 
Shares.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
A permitted indemnity provision under the Company’s Bye-laws and for the benefit of the Directors is currently in force 
and was in force throughout the Year. The Company has also purchased and maintained Directors’ liability insurance 
throughout the Year, which provides appropriate coverage for the Directors.

RISK FACTORS
Market Risk
Market risk refers to the risk that a change in the level of one or more market prices, rates, indices, implied volatilities 
(the price volatility of the underlying instrument imputed from option prices), correlations or other market factors, such 
as market liquidity, will result in losses for a position or portfolio owned by us.

Our results of operations may be materially affected by market fluctuations and by global and economic conditions and 
other factors.

The Group’s results of operations may be materially affected by market fluctuations due to global and economic conditions 
and other factors. Our results of operations in the past have been, and in the future may be, materially affected by many 
factors, including the effect of economic and political conditions and geopolitical events; the effect of market conditions, 
particularly in the global equity, fixed income, currency, credit and commodities markets, including corporate and mortgage 
(commercial and residential) lending and commercial real estate; the impact of current, pending and future legislation, 
regulation (including capital, leverage and liquidity requirements), policies (including fiscal and monetary), and legal and 
regulatory actions in Hong Kong and worldwide; the level and volatility of equity, fixed income and commodity prices, 
interest rates, currency values and other market indices; the performance of our acquisitions, divestitures, joint ventures, 
strategic alliances or other strategic arrangements; our reputation and the general perception of the financial services 
industry; inflation, natural disasters, pandemics and acts of war or terrorism; the actions and initiatives of current and potential 
competitors, as well as governments, regulators and self-regulatory organisations; the effectiveness of our risk management 
policies; and technological changes and risks and cybersecurity risks (including cyber-attacks and business continuity 
risks); or a combination of these or other factors. In addition, legislative, legal and regulatory developments related to our 
businesses are likely to increase costs, thereby affecting the results of operations. These factors also may have an adverse 
impact on our ability to achieve our strategic objectives.

We may experience declines in the value of our financial instruments and other losses related to volatile and illiquid 
market conditions.

Market volatility, illiquid market conditions and disruptions in the credit markets make it extremely difficult to value 
certain of our financial instruments, particularly during periods of market displacement. Subsequent valuations, in 
light of factors then prevailing, may result in significant changes in the values of these instruments in future periods. 
In addition, at the time of any sales and settlement of these financial instruments, the price we ultimately realise will 
depend on the demand and liquidity in the market at that time and may be materially lower than their current fair value. 
Any of these factors could cause a decline in the value of our financial instruments, which may have an adverse effect 
on our results of operations in future periods.

In addition, financial markets are susceptible to severe events evidenced by rapid depreciation in asset values accompanied 
by a reduction in asset liquidity. Under these extreme conditions, hedging and other risk management strategies may 
not be as effective at mitigating trading losses as they would be under more normal market conditions. Moreover, under 
these conditions market participants are particularly exposed to trading strategies employed by many market participants 
simultaneously and on a large scale. Our risk management and monitoring processes seek to quantify and mitigate risk to 
more extreme market moves. However, severe market events have historically been difficult to predict, as seen in the last 
several years, and we could realise significant losses if extreme market events were to occur.
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The Group is required to reassess the fair value of its investment properties at every balance sheet date to which 
financial statements are made up. Based on the valuation conducted by independent property valuer, the Group 
recognises investment properties at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position, while the variation 
in changes in fair value of investment properties are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
Notwithstanding any variations in profit, fair value gains and losses are not cash items and will not increase or decrease 
cash and cash equivalent. The amount of revaluation adjustment has been and will continually be subject to changes 
in market conditions. As such, there can be no assurance that changes in market conditions will continue to generate 
gains from fair value changes in investment properties at similar level or at all, or there will be no decline in the fair value 
of the Group’s investment properties.

The Group faces market risk due to market movement which may cause a fall in the value of principal investments. In 
view of the increased volatility in the stock and other financial markets, this may impact the fair value of the investments 
and add unpredictability to the Group’s profits and investment revaluation reserve.

Currency fluctuations may affect our results of businesses adversely.

The results of the Group are presented in US dollars, but the Company and its various subsidiaries may receive 
revenue, incur expenses and make investments in other currencies. Any currency fluctuations on translation of the 
accounts of the Company and these subsidiaries and also on the repatriation of earnings and equity investments may 
therefore impact on the Group’s businesses. Exchange rate of US dollars against other foreign currencies is affected 
by, among other things, changes in the political and economic environment of the issuing jurisdictions of the currencies. 
The appreciation or depreciation in US dollars against other foreign currencies may materially affect the Group’s 
businesses, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects.

Holding large and concentrated positions may expose us to losses.

Concentration of risk may reduce revenues or result in losses in our market-making, investing, block trading, 
underwriting and lending businesses in the event of unfavourable market movements. We commit substantial amounts 
of capital to these businesses, which often results in our taking large positions in the securities of, or making large loans 
to, a particular issuer or issuers in a particular industry, country or region.

Technological changes and risks and cybersecurity risks may affect our businesses to a certain extent.

Notwithstanding the appropriate measures adopted to protect the Group’s computer system and information, the Group 
cannot assure that there will be no occurrence of unlawful break-ins or misuse with rapid technological advancement, 
which may affect our businesses to a certain extent.

Credit Risk
Credit risk refers to the risk of loss arising when a borrower, counterparty or issuer does not meet its financial obligations 
to us.

We are exposed to the risk that third parties that are indebted to us will not perform their obligations.

This risk may arise from a variety of business activities, including but not limited to entering into swap or other derivative 
contracts under which counterparties have obligations to make payments to us; extending credit to clients through 
various lending commitments; providing short or long-term funding that is secured by physical or financial collateral 
whose value may at times be insufficient to fully cover the loan repayment amount; posting margin and/or collateral 
and other commitments to clearing houses, clearing agencies, exchanges, banks, securities firms and other financial 
counterparties; and investing and trading in securities and loan pools whereby the value of these assets may fluctuate 
based on realised or expected defaults on the underlying obligations or loans.

Although we regularly review our credit exposures, default risk may arise from events or circumstances that are difficult 
to detect or foresee. We use an internal credit assessment process to assess the potential borrower’s credit quality 
and define credit limits granted to borrowers. We may suffer loss on loans receivable if the repayment of principal and/
or interest is not paid on due date and the market value of collaterals, such as shares in companies listed on the Stock 
Exchange or certain properties in Hong Kong, fluctuate below the principal of the loans receivable and/or interest.
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Legal, Regulatory and Compliance Risk
Legal, regulatory and compliance risk includes the risk of legal or regulatory sanctions, material financial loss including 
fines, penalties, judgments, damages and/or settlements, or loss to reputation we may suffer as a result of our failure 
to comply with laws, regulations, rules, related self-regulatory organisation standards and codes of conduct applicable 
to our business activities. This risk also includes contractual and commercial risk such as the risk that a counterparty’s 
performance obligations will be unenforceable. In today’s environment of rapid and possibly transformational regulatory 
change, we also view regulatory change as a component of legal, regulatory and compliance risk.

The financial services industry is subject to extensive regulation, which is undergoing major changes that will impact 
our business.

The Group oversees potential compliance risks, such as insider dealing and money laundering, on a regular basis. 
With the support of external professional advisers where appropriate, the Group monitors whether and the extent to 
which additional regulatory requirements apply as a result of the growth or expansion of our business and operations in 
financial services business.

Like other major financial services firms, we are subject to extensive regulations, which significantly affect the way we 
do business and can restrict the scope of our existing businesses and limit our ability to expand our product offerings 
and pursue certain investments. The Group is and will continue to be subject to a more complex regulatory framework, 
and will incur costs to comply with new requirements as well as to monitor for compliance in the future.

The above risk factors should be read in conjunction with financial risk management objectives and policies as set out 
in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES
The Group is committed to building an environmental-friendly corporation that pays close attention to conserving natural 
resources. The Group strives to minimise its environmental impact by saving electricity and encouraging recycling of 
office supplies and other materials.

In accordance with Rule 13.91 of the Listing Rules, the Company will publish an Environmental, Social and Governance 
(“ESG”) Report at the same time as the publication of this annual report in compliance with the provisions set out in the 
ESG Reporting Guide in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
The Group is not aware of any instances of material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and 
regulations such as the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Listing Rules, 
and other applicable local laws and regulations in various jurisdictions during the Year and up to the date of this annual 
report.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
The sustainability of the Group’s business relies on the growth of the Group’s employees. Remuneration packages of 
the employees are generally structured with reference to prevailing market terms and individual qualifications. Salaries 
and wages are normally reviewed on an annual basis based on performance appraisals and other relevant factors.

Apart from salary payments, there are other staff benefits including mandatory provident fund, medical insurance and 
performance related bonus. Share options may also be granted to eligible employees by the Group.

Relationships are the fundamentals of business. The Group fully understands this principle and thus maintains a good 
relationship with its stakeholders, including but not limited to our customers, borrowers and tenants.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY
The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the Board on the basis of their merit, qualifications 
and competence. The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Board duly authorised by the Shareholders in 
the AGM, having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance and comparable market statistics. The 
Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to Directors and eligible employees, details of which are 
set out in note 27 to the financial statements contained in this annual report.

PUBLIC FLOAT
From information publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has 
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules at all times during the Year under review and as at the 
date of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The information set out on pages 24 to 42 of this annual report and information incorporated by reference, if any, 
constitutes the corporate governance report of the Company (“Corporate Governance Report”).

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Company has established an audit committee (“Audit Committee”) with written terms of reference based upon the 
recommendations set out in A Guide for Effective Audit Committees published by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants and the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code (as defined below). The duties 
of the Audit Committee include, inter alia, reviewing the Company’s annual reports and interim reports and providing 
advice and comments thereon to the Directors. The Audit Committee is also responsible for reviewing and supervising 
the financial reporting, risk management and internal control procedures of the Group.

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee comprised three INEDs, namely, Mr Lo Wa Kei, Roy, Mr Chen 
Gong, and Mr Martin Que Meideng, with Mr Lo Wa Kei, Roy being the chairman of the Audit Committee. The audited 
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

AUDITORS
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, who acted as the auditor of the Company since 2009, resigned on 3 January 2020 and 
Moore Stephens CPA Limited was appointed as the auditor of the Company on 3 January 2020.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year have been audited by Moore Stephens CPA Limited 
who shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment in the forthcoming AGM. A resolution for their 
re-appointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

In order to maintain the independence and objectivity of Moore Stephens CPA Limited, the Group has been monitoring 
the use of the auditor for non-audit services and the balance of audit and non-audit fees paid. The Audit Committee 
has pre-approved the engagement of Moore Stephens CPA Limited to provide the non-audit services and any other 
non-audit services must be specifically pre-approved by the Audit Committee.

On behalf of the Board

Li Zhongye, Cindy
Chairperson
Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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The Company strives to be a GREAT (i.e. Growth, Respect, Excellence, Action, Transparency) company in all of its 
operations and dealings with people. The GREAT values are the foundation of the Company, and provide a core 
commitment to achieve the best the Company can for all of the stakeholders.

The culture of the Group is that the directors and management of the Group are required to develop its business and 
operation within the boundary of the applicable laws and regulations and the general standards and expectations of the 
business community and society. The Group is required to operate based on sound governance and utmost integrity 
and prohibit all kinds of damaging, corruptive, collusive, unethical and discriminative acts.

ORGANISATION CHART OF THE GROUP AND VARIOUS BOARD COMMITTEES

BOARD OF DIRECTORS Audit Committee

Remuneration Committee

Nomination Committee
Executive Committee

Management

The Group is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance and enhancing its transparency so 
as to protect shareholders’ interests in general. The Group will continue to raise the standard by formalising the best 
practices of corporate governance as far as possible.

The Company has adopted the principles and complied with all the applicable code provisions of the Corporate 
Governance Code (“Corporate Governance Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules for the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprised one non-executive Director, two executive Directors and three 
INEDs.

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual 
report, there is no financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship between the Directors and the Board, 
which comprised the following:

Non-Executive Director
Li Zhongye, Cindy (Chairperson)

Executive Directors
Leung Oi Kin
Leung Wai Yiu, Malcoln

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Lo Wa Kei, Roy 
Chen Gong
Martin Que Meideng

The principal functions of the Board are to supervise the management of the business and Company’s affairs; to 
approve the Company’s strategic plans, investment and funding decisions; to review the Group’s financial performance 
and operative initiatives.
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The role of the INEDs is to bring an independent and objective view to the Board’s deliberations and decisions. The 
INEDs must have appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial management expertise, so 
that they are of sufficient calibre and number for their views to carry weight. Each Director may also take independent 
professional advice at the Company’s expense in carrying out their functions. The Board has reviewed and considered 
the said mechanism to be effective in bringing independent views and input are available to the Board.  

The Board considers the current board size as adequate for its present operations. The day-to-day running of the 
Company is delegated to the senior management team, with divisional heads responsible for different aspects of the 
business. The Board is characterised by significant diversity, whether in terms of gender, nationality, professional 
background and skills. The Board has adopted the board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”). The nomination 
committee of the Company (“Nomination Committee”) is responsible for reviewing and assessing Board composition 
and its effectiveness on an annual basis.

The Company has received from each of the INEDs an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 
of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the INEDs to be independent.

The Board is responsible for overseeing the development of good corporate governance practice of the Group.

Role and Function on Corporate Governance

• to develop and review the Company’s policies 
and practices on corporate governance and make 
recommendations to the Board

• to develop, review and monitor the code of 
conduct and compliance manual (if any) 
applicable to employees and Directors

• to review and monitor the training and continuous 
professional development of Directors and senior 
management

• to review the Company’s compliance with the 
Corporate Governance Code and disclosure in 
this Corporate Governance Report

• to review and monitor the Company’s policies and 
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements

Summary of work during the Year

• reviewed and monitored the Company’s policies 
and practices on compliance with legal and 
regulatory requirements

• reviewed and updated shareholders 
communication policy

• reviewed the terms of reference of the Audit 
Committee and Nomination Committee

• established anti-corruption policy

• reviewed and updated the terms of reference 
of the remuneration committee of the Company 
(“Remuneration Committee”)

• established climate change policy

• reviewed the Company’s compliance with the 
Corporate Governance Code and disclosure in this 
Corporate Governance Report

• arranged suitable training for Directors, placing 
an appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions 
and duties of a listed company director

• reviewed the dividend policy (the “Dividend 
Policy”)

• reviewed and approved the financial results of the 
Company and announcements thereof
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BOARD COMMITTEES
Executive Committee
The Board has delegated the management of the daily operation and investment matters of the Group to the Executive 
Committee. As at 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this annual report, the Executive Committee comprised two 
members, both being executive Directors, namely:

Executive Committee Members
Leung Oi Kin
Leung Wai Yiu, Malcoln

Audit Committee
As at 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee comprised three members, all of whom are INEDs, namely:

Audit Committee Members 
Lo Wa Kei, Roy (Chairman) 
Chen Gong
Martin Que Meideng

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting process and internal 
control procedures of the Group.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee have been reviewed with reference to the Corporate Governance Code. 
The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange and 
are also available from the company secretary of the Company (“Company Secretary”) on request.

In accordance with the terms of reference of the Audit Committee, the Audit Committee meets at least twice a year 
to review the interim results and the final results of the Company. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are 
aligned with the recommendations set out in A Guide For Effective Audit Committees issued by the Hong Kong Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants and the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code.



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

G-RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED 2022 ANNUAL REPORT 27

Role and Function

• to be primarily responsible for making 
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, 
reappointment and removal of the external auditor, 
and to approve the remuneration and terms of 
engagement of external auditor, any questions of 
its resignation or dismissal

• to review and monitor the external auditor’s 
independence and objectivity and the 
effectiveness of the audit process in accordance 
with applicable standards. The Audit Committee 
should discuss with the auditor the nature and 
scope of the audit and reporting obligations 
before the audit commences

• to develop and implement policy on engaging an 
external auditor to supply non-audit services

• to consider other topics, as defined by the Board

• to review the Group’s financial and accounting 
policies and practices

• to ensure that the Board will provide a timely 
response to the issues raised in the external 
auditor’s management letter

• to consider major investigation findings on risk 
management and internal control matters as 
delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and 
management’s response to these findings

• to report to the Board on the matters contained 
in code provision of the Corporate Governance 
Code

• to review the Group’s financial controls, and unless 
expressly addressed by a separate board risk 
committee, or by the board itself, to review the 
Group’s risk management and internal control 
systems

• to review the external auditor’s management 
letter, any material queries raised by the auditor 
to management about accounting records, 
financial accounts or systems of control and 
management’s response

• to discuss the risk management and internal 
control system with management to ensure that 
management has performed its duty to have an 
effective systems

• to review arrangements employees of the 
Company can use, in confidence, to raise 
concerns about possible improprieties in financial 
reporting, internal control or other matters

• where an internal audit function exists, to ensure 
co-ordination between the internal and external 
auditors, and to ensure that the internal audit 
function is adequately resourced and has 
appropriate standing within the Group, and to 
review and monitor its effectiveness

• to establish a whistleblowing policy 
(“Whistleblowing Policy”) and system for 
employees and those who deal with the Group 
(e.g. customers and suppliers) to raise concerns, 
in confidence and anonymity, with the Audit 
Committee about possible improprieties in any 
matter related to the Group

• to monitor integrity of the Company’s financial 
statements and annual report and accounts, 
half-year report and, if prepared for publication, 
quarterly reports, and to review significant financial 
reporting judgments contained in them

• to act as the key representative body for 
overseeing the Company’s relations with the 
external auditor
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Summary of work during the Year

• reviewed and made recommendation for the 
Board’s approval of the draft 2022 interim report, 
2021 annual report and accounts

• discussed, examined and reviewed 2022 annual 
accounting and financial reporting issues

• reviewed management letter, tax issues, 
compliance and salient features of 2022 annual 
accounts presented by Moore Stephens CPA 
Limited, the external auditor

• reviewed and monitored the external auditor’s 
independence and objectivity and the 
effectiveness of the audit process

• reviewed the enhancements to the 2022 audit 
planning process

• reviewed the terms of reference of the Audit 
Committee

• approved the audit services provided by Moore 
Stephens CPA Limited

• reviewed the Whistleblowing Policy

• reviewed the fees proposal of Moore Stephens 
CPA Limited for the 2022 audit work for the Group

• discussed, assessed and reviewed the reports, 
on internal control and risk management system 
and its effectiveness for the Year

• established anti-corruption policy

Remuneration Committee
As at 31 December 2022, the Remuneration Committee comprised three members, all of whom are INEDs, namely:

Remuneration Committee Members
Lo Wa Kei, Roy (Chairman)
Chen Gong
Martin Que Meideng

The primary function of the Remuneration Committee is to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration 
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management. The remuneration packages include benefits in 
kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including any compensation payable for loss or termination of their 
office or appointment.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee have been reviewed with reference to the Corporate 
Governance Code. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are posted on the websites of the Company 
and the Stock Exchange and are also available from the Company Secretary on request.

The details of the remuneration payable to the Directors and members of senior management are set out in note 11 to 
the financial statements contained in this annual report.
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Role and Function

• to make recommendations to the Board on the 
Company’s policy and structure for all Directors 
and senior management remuneration and on 
the establishment of a formal and transparent 
procedure for developing remuneration policy

• to review and approve compensation 
arrangements relating to dismissal or removal 
of Directors for misconduct to ensure that they 
are consistent with contractual terms and are 
otherwise reasonable and appropriate

• to review and approve the management’s 
remuneration proposals with reference to the 
Board’s corporate goals and objectives

• to consider salaries paid by comparable 
companies, time commitment and responsibilities 
and employment conditions elsewhere in the 
Group

• to make recommendations to the Board on the 
remuneration packages of individual executive 
Directors and senior management which include 
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation 
payments (including any compensation payable for 
loss or termination of their office or appointment)

• to review and approve compensation payable to 
executive Directors and senior management for 
any loss or termination of office or appointment to 
ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms 
and is otherwise fair and not excessive

• to make recommendations to the Board on the 
remuneration of non-executive Directors

• to ensure that no Director or any of their 
associates is involved in deciding that director’s 
own remuneration

• to review the proposals for the award of share 
options to executive Directors and senior 
management based on their performance and 
contribution to the Company from time to time

• to recommend to the Board the structure of long-
term incentive plans for executive Directors and 
certain senior management

Summary of work during the Year

• reviewed the remuneration packages of individual 
executive Directors and senior management

• reviewed and updated the terms of reference of 
the Remuneration Committee in accordance with 
the amended Listing Rules

• conducted an annual review of the remuneration 
packages for executive Directors, non-executive 
Directors and senior management based on their 
performance

Nomination Committee
As at 31 December 2022, the Nomination Committee comprised three members, including the Chairperson of the 
Company and two INEDs, namely:

Nomination Committee Members 
Li Zhongye, Cindy (Chairperson) 
Chen Gong
Martin Que Meideng

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to develop and maintain a formal and transparent process for the 
appointment and re-appointment of members of the Board. The Nomination Committee also reviews and assesses 
Board composition and its effectiveness on an annual basis.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee have been reviewed with reference to the Corporate Governance 
Code. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock 
Exchange and are also available from the Company Secretary on request.
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Role and Function

• to review the structure, size and composition 
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) 
of the Board at least annually and make 
recommendations on any proposed changes to the 
Board to complement the Company’s corporate 
strategy

• to make recommendations to the Board on the 
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and 
succession planning for Directors, in particular 
the chairman and the chief executive

• to identify individuals suitably qualified to 
become Board members and select or make 
recommendations to the Board on the selection of 
individuals nominated for directorships

• to assess the independence of INEDs

• to review the policy concerning diversity of Board 
members

Summary of work during the Year

• reviewed and updated the Board Diversity Policy • reviewed the terms of reference of the Nomination 
Committee

• reviewed and assessed the structure, size and 
composition (including the skills, knowledge and 
experience) of the Board and its effectiveness

• proposed the Directors for re-election at AGM

• assessed the independence of INEDs and confirmed 
that all INEDs are considered independent

• reviewed the nomination policy (“Nomination 
Policy”)

NOMINATION POLICY
1. Purpose

The Nomination Policy sets out the process and criteria of identifying potential candidates of the Company. The 
Nomination Committee should ensure the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives 
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business.

2. Selection Criteria
The Nomination Committee shall consider the following selection criteria in evaluating and selecting candidates 
for directorships:

• character and integrity;
• qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant to 

the Company’s business and corporate strategy;
• willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a Board member and other directorships and 

significant commitments;
• requirement for the Board to have INEDs in accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidates 

would be considered independent with reference to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing 
Rules;

• succession planning or strategies for the ongoing effective performance of the Board as a whole;
• Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives adopted by the Nomination Committee for 

achieving diversity on the Board; and
• such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee 
has the discretion to nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.
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3. Nomination Process
3.1 Appointment of New Director

3.1.1 The Nomination Committee shall, upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director 
and the biographical information (or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate and assess 
such candidate based on the selection criteria as set out in section 2 to determine whether such 
candidate is qualified for directorship.

3.1.2 If there is one or more desirable candidates, the Nomination Committee shall rank them by order 
of preference based on the needs of the Company and reference check of each candidate (where 
applicable).

3.1.3 The Nomination Committee shall then recommend to appoint the appropriate candidate for 
directorship.

3.1.4 For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for election as a director at the general meeting 
of the Company, the Nomination Committee shall evaluate such candidate based on the criteria 
as set out in section 2 to determine whether such candidate is qualified for directorship and 
where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall make recommendation to 
shareholders in respect of the proposed election of director at the general meeting.

4. Re-Election of Director at General Meeting
4.1 The Nomination Committee shall review the overall contribution and service to the Company of the retiring 

director including his/her attendance of Board meetings and, where applicable, general meetings, and 
the level of participation and performance on the Board.

4.2 The Nomination Committee shall also review and determine whether the retiring director continues to meet 
the criteria as set out in section 2.

4.3 The Board, with the recommendation from Nomination Committee, shall then make recommendation to 
shareholders in respect of the proposed re-election of director at the general meeting.

5. Ultimate Responsibility for Selection and Appointment
The nomination of directors is also subject to any restrictions under the Bermuda law and the Company’s Bye-
laws. The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to its recommendation of candidates to stand 
for election at any general meeting.

6. Monitoring and Reporting
The Nomination Committee will disclose the Nomination Policy and the progress made towards achieving the 
objectives set out in the Nomination Policy in this Corporate Governance Report.

7. Regular Review of the Nomination Policy
The Nomination Committee will monitor and review the Nomination Policy periodically to ensure that it remains 
relevant to the Company’s needs and reflects both current regulatory requirements and good corporate 
governance practice.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY
1. Vision

The Company sees diversity at the Board level as an important element in maintaining a high standard of 
corporate governance. The Company is committed to a diverse Board, so directors from diverse backgrounds 
could present the Company effectively to various constituencies, and to bring different and inspiring perspective 
into the boardroom.

2. Policy Statement
2.1 The Company aspires to maintain an appropriate range and balance of skills, experience and 

background on the Board. In determining the optimum composition of the Board, differences in skills, 
knowledge, regional and industry or professional experience, background, ethnicity, gender, age, cultural 
and educational background and length of service and any other factors that the Board may consider 
relevant and applicable from time to time shall be considered. All Board appointments are made on 
merits, in the context of the skills and experience that the Board as a whole requires to be effective, with 
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.
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2.2 The Nomination Committee will review and assess Board composition and its effectiveness on an annual 
basis. When there is vacancy on Board, the Nomination Committee will recommend suitable candidates 
for appointment to the Board on merits, based on the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee, 
with due regard to the Company’s own circumstances.

3. Measurable Objectives
3.1 Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives and will take into account the 

Board Diversity Policy. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected 
candidates will bring to the Board, having due regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board and also 
the needs of the Board without focusing on a single diversity aspect.

3.2 The Board will take opportunities to increase the proportion of female members over time when selecting 
and making recommendation on suitable candidates for Board appointments. The Board would ensure 
that appropriate balance of gender diversity is achieved with reference to stakeholders’ expectation 
and international and local recommended best practices, with the ultimate goal of bringing the Board to 
gender parity. The Board also aspires to having an appropriate proportion of Directors who have direct 
experience in the Group’s core markets, with different ethnic backgrounds, and reflecting the Group’s 
strategy.

4. Monitoring, Reporting and Disclosure
4.1 The Nomination Committee will report annually in this Corporate Governance Report, on the composition 

of the Board (including gender, age, length of service, education background and working experience). 
The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions to the Board Diversity Policy that may be required 
and make recommendation to the Board for approval.

4.2 The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy by conducting 
review of the Board’s composition at least once annually taking into account the benefits of all relevant 
diversity aspects, and adhering to the Board Diversity Policy when making recommendation on any Board 
appointments. The Nomination Committee will also ensure that diversity is considered as part of the 
evaluation of the Board’s effectiveness.

The Nomination Committee reviewed the Board’s composition and considered the Board Diversity Policy during 
the Year. The Board Diversity Policy was amended on 30 March 2022. The Board currently comprises experts from 
diversified professions such as accounting, finance and management, and was diversified in terms of gender, 
age, duration of service which effectively improved the effectiveness of the Board in decision making and strategic 
management.

The Board already have female director in place, achieved board diversity and will continue to expand and ensure that 
the Company fulfils the Board Diversity Policy and the Listing Rules. The Company had a total of 6 Board members and 
2 members of senior management, and the ratio of males to females was 7:1.

DIVIDEND POLICY
1. The Dividend Policy sets out the structure of dividend payout to the Shareholders.

2. Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the contributed surplus account of the Company is 
available for distribution. However, the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of 
contributed surplus if:

(a) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(b) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued 
share capital and share premium accounts.

3. The Company may distribute dividends by way of (1) Cash; (2) Shares.

4. The Board may from time to time pay to the Shareholders such interim dividends as appear to the Board to be 
justified by the position of the Company.
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5. According to the Company’s Bye-laws, the Company in general meeting may declare dividends in any currency 
but no dividends shall exceed the amount recommended by the Board.

6. The Company’s ability to pay dividends is also subject to the requirements of the Listing Rules and all relevant 
applicable laws, rules and regulations in Bermuda, Hong Kong and the Bye-laws of the Company.

7. In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also take into account, inter alia:-

(a) the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;

(b) retained earnings of the Company and each of the members of the Group;

(c) the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity and the relevant financial covenants;

(d) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the Group’s lenders, if any;

(e) the Group’s expected working capital requirements and future expansion plans;

(f) general economic conditions and other internal or external factors that may have an impact on the 
business or financial performance and position of the Company; and

(g) any other factors that the Board deem appropriate.

8. Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to Shareholders’ approval.

9. The Board will continue to review the Dividend Policy (and its results) annually to ensure the Dividend Policy 
remains relevant and useful over time.

COMPANY SECRETARY
The Company Secretary, Mr Leung Oi Kin, plays the role in supporting the Board by ensuring good information flow 
within the Board, as well as communications with our Shareholders and management. The Company Secretary’s 
biography is set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual 
report. For the Year, the Company Secretary undertook 15 hours of professional training to update his skills and 
knowledge as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

ATTENDANCES OF MEETINGS
The Board will also conduct meetings on a regular basis and on an ad hoc basis, as required by business needs. The 
Company’s Bye-laws allow Board meetings to be conducted by way of telephone or video-conference. The Board held 
a total of four Board meetings during the Year.

Details of Directors’ attendance at the AGM, Board and Board committees’ meetings held during the Year are set out in 
the following table:

Meeting Attended/Held 

Name of Directors
Board of 

Directors
Audit 

Committee
Remuneration 

Committee
Nomination 
Committee 2022 AGM1

      

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Li Zhongye, Cindy 4/4 N/A N/A 1/1 1/1

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Leung Oi Kin 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
Leung Wai Yiu, Malcoln 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Lo Wa Kei, Roy 4/4 2/2 1/1 N/A 1/1
Chen Gong 4/4 1/2 0/1 1/1 0/1
Martin Que Meideng 3/4 1/2 1/1 1/1 1/1

Note:
1. The AGM for the year 2021 was held on 22 June 2022.
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SUPPLY AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION
All Directors have timely access to relevant information prior to each Board meeting. Directors are provided with monthly 
reports, covering financial and operating highlights and are entitled to have access to board papers and related 
materials to allow them to make informed decisions on matters arising from Board meetings. Minutes of Board meetings 
and other committees’ meetings are kept by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection by the Directors.

CHAIRPERSON AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Under code provision C.2.1 of Part 2 of the Corporate Governance Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive 
officer should be separated and should not be performed by the same individual. The Company currently does not 
have a chief executive officer. Meanwhile, Ms Li Zhongye, Cindy, the non-executive Director and the chairperson of 
the Company is responsible for the management of the Board and the Executive Committee (comprising two executive 
Directors) is responsible for the day-to-day management of business. There is a clear division of these responsibilities 
which ensures a balance of power and authority, and the power is not concentrated in any one individual.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, as the code of conduct 
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made a specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed 
that all Directors have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the Year under review.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true 
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results of its operations and its cashflows and in presenting 
the interim and annual financial statements and announcements to Shareholders, the Directors aim to present a 
balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s position and prospects. The Directors are not aware of 
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, therefore the Directors continue to adopt the going concern approach in preparing 
financial statements.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
For the Year, the Group engaged Moore Stephens CPA Limited as auditors of the Company to perform audit service. 
Their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report 
on pages 43 to 47 of this annual report.

The services provided by Moore Stephens CPA Limited and the fees thereof were as follows:

Nature of services
For the year ended 
31 December 2022

USD’000  

Audit services 158
Non-audit services in relation to tax return preparation and other professional and advisory 

services 23 
181 

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining a sound and effective risk management and internal control system 
for the Group. The Group’s system of internal control, which includes a defined management structure with limits of 
authority, is designed to help the achievement of business objectives, safeguard assets against unauthorised use or 
disposition, ensure the maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information for 
internal use or for publication, and ensure compliance with relevant legislations and regulations. The system is designed 
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and to manage rather than 
eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group’s objectives.
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The Board is responsible for the Group’s risk management and internal control system and for reviewing its 
effectiveness at least annually, in particular, considered those areas as detailed in the code provision D.2.3 under 
Part 2 of the Corporate Governance Code. The Board adopts a “top-down” and “bottom-up” approach on the Group’s 
risk management. The Audit Committee supports the Board in monitoring the Group’s risk exposures, the design and 
implementation effectiveness of the current risk management and internal controls systems. Management assesses 
and presents regular reports at the meetings of the Audit Committee for its assessments of key risks, the strengths and 
weaknesses of the overall risk management and internal controls systems, with action plans to address the weaknesses. 
The Group does not specifically have an internal audit department but engaged an independent internal control 
consultant to provide internal control review annually, which is responsible for carrying out an independent review for 
parts of internal control processes and activities, including action plans to address any identified control weaknesses to 
the Audit Committee. External auditors also report on any control issues identified in the course of their work.

As part of the risk management and internal control systems, executive Directors and the senior management would 
regularly and closely review the financial and operating performance of each department. The senior management of 
the key operating subsidiaries is also required to keep executive Directors informed of material developments of the 
business of the department and implementation of the strategies and policies set by the Board on a regular basis. The 
processes for identifying, evaluating and managing significant risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Risk Identification • identifies risks that may potentially affect the business and operations of 
the Group

Risk Assessment • assesses the risks identified by using the assessment criteria formulated 
by the management; and

• considers the impact of the risks on the business and the likelihood of 
their occurrence

Risk Response • prioritises risks by comparing the results of the risk assessment; and
• determines the risk management strategies and internal control 

procedures to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks

Risk Monitoring and Reporting • performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk and ensures that 
appropriate internal control procedures are in place;

• revises the risk management strategies and internal control procedures 
in case of any significant changes; and

• reports the results of risk monitoring to the management and the Board 
regularly

The abovementioned system enables the Group to (i) systematically and thoroughly identify and assess all major risks 
which threaten the achievement of business objectives, (ii) optimise business opportunities and secure continuation of 
business, (iii) recognise and identify uncertainties and subsequently develop the identification of risks and measures 
needed to manage the same, (iv) ensure the compliance with relevant rules and regulations, and (v) be cost-effective in 
risk management to avoid adopting unnecessary control and management procedures.

The Company has implemented proper procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of 
inside information to ensure that all current and prospective investors of the Company and public are provided with 
appropriate information relating to the Group in a timely and simultaneous manner. The Group has a set of control 
process for management of communications with Shareholders and investors and prohibition of the unauthorised use of 
confidential or non-public information. In general, the authorised spokespersons only make clarification and explanation 
on information that are available on the market, and avoid providing or divulging any unpublished inside information. 
Before conducting any external interview, if the authorised spokespersons have any doubt about the information to be 
disclosed, they will seek verification from the relevant staff or the person-in-charge of the relevant department, so as to 
determine if such information is accurate. In addition, discussions on the Company’s key financial data or other financial 
indicators are prohibited during the blackout periods under the Listing Rules.
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Taking these into consideration, the Audit Committee reviews the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal 
controls and reports to the Board on such reviews. The Board, through the Audit Committee, has effectively assessed 
the internal controls and risk management system in place for the Group and the Board is satisfied that the Group has 
fully complied with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code on internal control during the Year.

During the Year, the Group engaged an independent internal control consultant to review and assess its internal control 
system for the period from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022. The review covered parts of the system including 
risks, operational, financial and compliance controls. The Board and the Audit Committee are of the view that the 
Group’s current internal control system is adequate and effective, and will perform periodic reviews to improve and 
safeguard our internal control system. If material internal control defect was noted, the Company conducted continuous 
tracking for the improvement of internal control defects, and counseled and supported the persons in charge of internal 
audit function to ensure good rectification results.

The Audit Committee has established and adopted an anti-corruption policy and Whistleblowing Policy. Honesty 
and integrity of conduct is paramount to the Group. Bribery, fraud, and corruption are dealt with severely by our 
management to keep unethical practices at bay. All personnel are required to follow all applicable laws and regulations, 
including the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong). Our staff is required not to 
engage in inappropriate behavior or malpractices that may endanger interests of our customers and other stakeholders. 
To identify and investigate unethical behaviours effectively, the Whistleblowing Policy is set up by the Audit Committee, 
encouraging employees, customers, suppliers and other stakeholders of the Group to raise concerns and report 
any suspected misconducts related to corruption to the Company in a confidential manner. If the case is found to 
involve criminal offence, it is referred to the Independent Commission Against Corruption for further investigation. The 
Whistleblowing Policy is posted on the websites of the Company and is also available from the Company Secretary on 
request.

INTERNAL CONTROL PROCEDURES FOR CREDIT AND MONEY LENDING SERVICES
The subsidiaries of the Company, Global Access Development Limited and Funderstone Finance Limited, are licensed 
money lenders in Hong Kong under the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and are 
engaged in money lending business for the purpose of generating interest income for the Group. Risk management 
department of the Group (“Risk Management Department”) is responsible to determine an appropriate risk indicator 
and parameter for each type of loans, including, inter alia, the tenor, principal amount, LTV ratio, etc..

As at 31 December 2022, there was no outstanding loan granted by the Group under its money lending business. 
Nevertheless, the credit policies and internal controls procedures are in place covering the entire life cycle of money 
lending operation, which are summarised as follows:

Loan assessment Credit committee of the Group (“Credit Committee”) or the Board would assess the 
following factors in considering the loan application:

a) Assessment on the potential borrowers
In conducting a series of know-your-client procedures and credit assessment, the 
background, financial position, integrity, cashflow and debt-serving capability of 
the potential borrower under normal and stressed conditions, the capacity of the 
potential borrower to manage its business, the purpose and usage of the loans, 
the financial source for repayment, the outlook of the industry which the potential 
borrower is engaged in, the valuation of the collaterals, other credit facilities 
provided by third parties to the potential borrower will be considered.

If the loan transaction involves guarantors, the guarantors shall be subject to similar 
assessment. The guarantees shall (i) represent a direct claim against the guarantor; 
and (ii) be unconditional and irrevocable.
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b) Assessment on the collaterals
The quality and value of collaterals are crucial for the loan transactions. Collaterals 
acceptable to the Group mainly include real properties, listed or unlisted securities, 
financial products and valuable liquidity assets, etc.. All secured loans are usually 
required to satisfy the LTV ratio, i.e. the outstanding loan amount divided by the 
valuation of the collaterals, of not over 100%.

In general, the Group will only accept collaterals which satisfy the following criteria: 
(i) the market value of the collaterals are readily determinable or can be reasonably 
established or verified; (ii) there exists a readily available secondary market for the 
collaterals; (iii) the right of the Group to repossess the asset is legally enforceable 
in all relevant jurisdictions without impediment; (iv) the Group can have sufficient 
control over the collaterals, if necessary; and (v) the Group possesses the relevant 
expertise and knowledge and appropriate systems to manage the collaterals.

If a collateral which its value has a material positive correlation with the credit quality 
of the borrower (e.g. securities issued by the borrower or related group entity), it will 
not be heavily relied upon for credit risk mitigation.

In conducting valuation on the collaterals, a formal valuation report is usually 
required, unless such collaterals are marketable securities with readily determinable 
fair value.

Loan approval All loans with applicable percentage ratios (as defined in the Listing Rules) of less than 5% 
require the approval of all members of the Credit Committee while those equal or more than 
5% require the approval of the Board.

If the Credit Committee or the Board approved the loan application, a set of loan documents 
together with the loan agreement are prepared and arranged among the borrower, the 
guarantor (if any) and the Group. Once the loan is properly documented and executed, the 
borrower can request for loan drawdown in accordance with the loan agreement.

Loan monitoring and 
repayment collection

a) Periodic review of value of collaterals
The Risk Management Department will perform a periodic review to determine 
whether there is any significant change in the market value of the collaterals held 
by the Group. If the LTV ratio of any loans increase significantly, we may request 
the relevant borrower to make partial repayment in advance or provide additional 
collaterals.

b) Stress testing on borrowers’ repayment ability and value of collaterals
The Risk Management Department conducts stress testing on the repayment 
capability of the borrowers at regular intervals, taking into account potential 
downturn of industry outlook, fluctuation in interest rate and/or exchange rate. The 
results of the stress test will be submitted to the Credit Committee for monitoring the 
risk exposure of the loan portfolio.

If the stress testing results indicate that the risk exposure has exceeded the risk 
tolerance level, the Credit Committee may consider adjusting the credit indicator, 
such as decreasing the maximum acceptable LTV ratio or the debt-to-income ratio 
or execute any credit migration action.

c) Loan management and monitoring and watch list mechanism
The account manager of the Group monitors potential problematic loans through 
direct business contact with borrowers and other channels such as market 
information and public announcement. The Credit Committee may consider risk 
mitigation actions or place the loan on watch list whenever necessary.
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Loan impairment In the event that any borrower fails to make timely payment for more than 30 days, the 
account manager of the Group will inform the Credit Committee to consider whether further 
actions are required to be taken for loan collection.

The Company adopted the requirements in respect of expected credit loss assessment 
set forth in HKFRS 9 issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in 
determining the impairment loss allowance for its loan receivables. The impairment loss 
allowance is reviewed by the Credit Committee and the Board from time to time. The details 
of the accounting policies in respect of the impairment assessment of financial assets are 
set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group in this annual report.

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2022, no impairment has been made for 
loans in the money lending business.

Compliance with  
applicable laws and 
regulations

The Group has complied with all applicable laws and government guidelines applicable 
to its money lending business, including but not limited to the Money Lenders Ordinance, 
Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance, the Guidelines on 
Compliance of Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Requirements for 
Licensed Money Lenders and the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ COMMITMENTS
The Company has received confirmation from each Director that he/she has given sufficient time and attention to the 
affairs of the Company for the Year. Directors have disclosed to the Company the number and nature of offices held in 
Hong Kong or overseas listed public companies or organisations and other significant commitments, with the identity 
of the public companies or organisations and an indication of the time involved. Directors are also reminded to notify 
the Company Secretary in a timely manner and bi-annually confirm to the Company Secretary any change of such 
information. In respect of those Directors who stand for re-election at the AGM in 2023, all their directorships held in 
listed public companies in the past three years (if any) will be set out in the circular of AGM in 2023.

PARTICIPATION IN CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME IN 2022
During the Year, Directors received regular updates and presentations on changes and developments to the Group’s 
business and to the legislative and regulatory environments in which the Group operates. All Directors are also 
encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s expenses. With effect from 1 January 2012, all 
Directors are required to provide the Company with his or her training record.

During the Year, the Company arranged a seminar on 13 December 2022 on compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements to the Directors. The seminar covered updates and explanations of certain specific aspects of the 
regulatory frameworks for Listed Issuer. All Directors have attended the seminar.

Reading 
Regulatory 

Updates

Attending expert briefings/seminars/ 
conferences relevant to the business 

or Directors’ duties   

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Li Zhongye, Cindy   

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Leung Oi Kin   
Leung Wai Yiu, Malcoln   

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Lo Wa Kei, Roy   
Chen Gong   
Martin Que Meideng   
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INSURANCE ARRANGEMENT
Pursuant to the code provision C.1.8 under Part 2 of the Corporate Governance Code, the Company should arrange 
appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal action against its Directors. The Company has renewed its corporate 
liability insurance purchased for its Directors and senior management.

TERM OF APPOINTMENT OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
All non-executive Director and INEDs have signed the letters of appointment with the Company for a term of three years 
but they continue to be subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at AGM under the Bye-laws of the Company.

MEMORANDUM OF ASSOCIATION AND BYE-LAWS
During the Year, there were no changes to the Memorandum of Association and Bye-Laws of the Company. The latest 
consolidated version of the Memorandum of Association and Bye-Laws of the Company is available on the websites of 
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT AND COMMUNICATION
We have been reporting our financial and non-financial results in a transparent manner. Besides the annual report and 
the interim report, we published and released, from time to time, announcements and press releases.

The Company’s corporate website – www.g-resources.com, provides an excellent channel for our Shareholders and 
other interested parties to access information about the Company. Shareholders can find from the website all key 
corporate information and information of the Company including but not limited to:

• Financial Reports
• Announcements and Press Releases
• Information on Change of Share Capital
• Circulars
• Press Releases
• Terms of Reference of the various Board Committees
• Shareholders Communication Policy
• Whistleblowing Policy
• Board Diversity Policy
• Shareholders’ Rights

Shareholders are encouraged to attend all general meetings of the Company and have the right to convene special 
general meetings, if Shareholders consider necessary.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS ON CONVENING A SPECIAL GENERAL MEETING
Bye-laws of the Company
Bye-law 62 of the Company’s Bye-laws sets out the procedures to be followed where a requisition is made by 
Shareholders. Bye-law 62 provides that a special general meeting (the “SGM”) shall be convened on requisition, as 
provided by the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (the “Bermuda Companies Act”), and, in default, may be convened 
by the requisitionists.

Bermuda Companies Act
1. Pursuant to Section 74 of the Bermuda Companies Act, the Directors, notwithstanding anything in its Bye-laws 

shall, on the requisition of members of the Company holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less 
than one-tenth of such of the paid-up capital of the Company as at the date of the deposit carries the right of 
voting at general meetings of the Company, forthwith proceed duly to convene a SGM of the Company.

2. The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited 
at the registered office of the Company at Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 10, 
Bermuda (“Registered Office”), and may consist of several documents in like form each signed by one or more 
requisitionists.

3. If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to 
convene a meeting, the requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half of the total voting rights 
of all of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting so convened shall not be held after the 
expiration of three months from the said date.

4. A meeting convened under this section by the requisitionists shall be convened in the same manner, as nearly 
as possible, as that in which meetings are to be convened by Directors.
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PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING BY A SHAREHOLDER
1. Sections 79 and 80 of the Bermuda Companies Act allow certain shareholder(s) to make a requisition to the 

Company to move a resolution at an AGM or circulate a statement at any general meeting of the Company.

2. Under section 79 of the Bermuda Companies Act, it shall be the duty of the Company on the requisition in writing 
of such number of members, at the expense of the requisitionists unless the Company otherwise resolves:

(a) to give to members of the Company entitled to receive notice of the next AGM notice of any resolution 
which may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting;

(b) to circulate to members entitled to have notice of any general meeting sent to them any statement of not 
more than one thousand words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the 
business to be dealt with at that meeting.

3. The number of members necessary for a requisition under paragraph 2 above shall be:

(a) either any number of members representing not less than one-twentieth of the total voting rights of all 
the members having at the date of the requisition a right to vote at the meeting to which the requisition 
relates; or

(b) not less than one hundred members.

4. Notice of any such intended resolution shall be given, and any such statement shall be circulated, to members 
of the Company entitled to have notice of the meeting sent to them by serving a copy of the resolution or 
statement on each such member in any manner permitted for service of notice of the meeting, and notice of any 
such resolution shall be given to any other member of the Company by giving notice of the general effect of the 
resolution in any manner permitted for giving him notice of meetings of the Company, provided that the copy 
shall be served, or notice of the effect of the resolution shall be given, as the case may be, in the same manner 
and, so far as practicable, at the same time as notice of the meeting and, where it is not practicable for it to be 
served or given at that time, it shall be served or given as soon as practicable thereafter.

5. Section 80 of the Bermuda Companies Act sets out the conditions to be met before the Company is bound to 
give notice of any resolution or to circulate any statement. Pursuant to section 80 of the Bermuda Companies 
Act, the Company shall not be bound to give notice of any resolution or to circulate any statement as mentioned 
in paragraph 2 above unless:

(a) a copy of the requisition signed by the requisitionists, or two or more copies which between them contain 
the signatures of all the requisitionists, is deposited at the Registered Office:

i) in the case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution, not less than six weeks before the 
meeting; and

ii) in the case of any other requisition, not less than one week before the meeting; and

(b) there is deposited or tendered with the requisition a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s 
expense in giving effect to the procedures in paragraph 2 above.

Provided that if, after a copy of the requisition requiring notice of a resolution has been deposited at the Registered 
Office, an AGM is called for a date six weeks or less after the copy has been deposited, the copy though not deposited 
within the abovementioned time shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for the purposes thereof.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATION POLICY
1. General

1.1 The Shareholders’ Communication Policy sets out the standard and requirement of the Company 
in relation to communication with its shareholders, both individual and institutional (collectively, 
“Shareholders”), and the Company’s potential investors, analysts reporting and analysing the Company’s 
performance (the “Investment Community”).

1.2 The Company is committed to provide timely, accurate and compliant information to its Shareholders 
about the Company to enable them to exercise their rights as Shareholders in an informed manner.

1.3 The Board has approved the Shareholders’ Communication Policy. The Board shall maintain an on-going 
dialogue with Shareholders and will review the Shareholders’ Communication Policy on a regular basis to 
ensure its effectiveness.

1.4 Information shall be communicated to Shareholders and the Investment Community mainly through the 
Company’s financial reports (interim and annual reports), AGMs and other general meetings that may be 
convened, as well as by making available all the disclosures submitted to the Stock Exchange and its 
corporate communications and other corporate publications on the Company’s website.

1.5 Effective and timely dissemination of information to Shareholders and the Investment Community shall be 
ensured at all times. Any question regarding the Shareholders’ Communication Policy shall be directed to 
the Investor Relations Department or the Company Secretary.

2. Communication strategies
Shareholders’ enquiries
2.1 Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to the Company’s Registrar.

2.2 Shareholders and the Investment Community may at any time make a request for the Company’s 
information to the extent such information is publicly available.

2.3 Shareholders and the Investment Community shall be provided with designated contacts, email 
addresses and enquiry lines of the Company (and such other communication channels as may be made 
available by the Company from time to time) in order to enable them to make any query in respect of the 
Company.

2.4 Enquiries, comments and suggestions to the Board or the Company are welcome and can be addressed 
to the Investor Relations Department by mail to Room 1801, 18/F, Capital Centre, No. 151 Gloucester 
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong or by email at investor.relations@g-resources.com.

2.5 Questions about the Company’s activities may be directed to information@g-resources.com.

Corporate Communication#

2.6 Corporate communication will be provided to Shareholders in plain language and in both English and 
Chinese versions to facilitate Shareholders’ understanding. Shareholders have the right to choose the 
language (either English or Chinese) or means of receipt of the corporate communications (in hard copy 
or through electronic means).

2.7 Shareholders are encouraged to provide, amongst other things, in particular, their email addresses to the 
Company (and such other communication channels as may be made available by the Company from time 
to time) in order to facilitate timely and effective communications.
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Corporate Website
2.8 A dedicated Investor Relations section is available on the Company’s website http://www.g-resources.com. 

Information on the Company’s website is updated on a regular basis.

2.9 Information released by the Company to the Stock Exchange is also posted on the Company’s website 
immediately thereafter. Such information includes financial reports, results announcements, circulars and 
notices of general meetings and other regulatory disclosures.

2.10 All press releases, corporate presentation and quarterly update, etc. (if any) issued by the Company or its 
subsidiaries will be made available on the Company’s website.

Shareholders’ Meetings
2.11 Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote 

at meetings for and on their behalf if they are unable to attend the meetings.

2.12 Appropriate arrangements for the AGMs and other general meetings shall be in place to encourage 
Shareholders’ participation. Shareholders are also encouraged to speak at the meetings.

2.13 The process of the Company’s general meetings will be monitored and reviewed on a regular basis, and, 
if necessary, changes will be made to ensure that Shareholders’ needs are best served.

2.14 Board members, in particular, either the chairman or vice-chairman of Board committees or their 
delegates, appropriate management executives and external auditors will attend AGMs and (if relevant) 
other general meetings to answer Shareholders’ questions.

2.15 Shareholders are encouraged to attend shareholders’ activities organised by the Company, where 
information about the Company, including but not limited to its latest strategic plan, products and services 
etc., will be communicated.

3. Shareholder privacy
The Company recognises the importance of Shareholders’ privacy and will not disclose Shareholders’ information 
without their consent, unless required by law to do so.

4. Publication and review of the Shareholders’ Communication Policy
The Shareholders’ Communication Policy is available on the website of the Company. The Board will review 
the Shareholders’ Communication Policy on a regular basis and update the same if necessary to ensure the 
Shareholders’ Communication Policy remains relevant and useful over time.

# Corporate Communication refers to any document issued or to be issued by the Company for the information or action of 
holders of any of its securities, including, but not limited to, the directors’ report and annual accounts together with a copy 
of the auditor’s report, the interim report, a notice of meeting, a circular and a proxy form.

The Board conducted a review of the implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders’ Communication Policy 
during the Year and the Board is satisfied with the results thereof given the above measures.

SUBMISSION OF ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD
Enquiries, comments and suggestions to the Board or the Company are welcome and can be addressed to the Investor 
Relations Department by mail to Room 1801, 18/F, Capital Centre, No. 151 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong or 
by email at investor.relations@g-resources.com.

Questions about the Company’s activities may be directed to information@g-resources.com.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF G-RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED
國際資源集團有限公司

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of G-Resources Group Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 48 to 111, which comprise the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and 
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the 
Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure 
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with 
the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter  
Valuation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss classified as level 3 under fair value hierarchy
We identified the valuation of financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss (“FVTPL”) classified as level 3 under the fair value 
hierarchy (the “Level 3 financial instruments”) as a key audit 
matter due to the significance of the balance to the consolidated 
financial statements as a whole, the complexity involved in 
valuing the instruments and the significance of the judgments and 
estimates made by management. In particular, the determination of 
unobservable inputs is considerably more subjective given the lack 
of availability of market-based data.

The Level 3 financial instruments mainly include (i) unlisted 
private equity funds; (ii) unlisted hedge funds; (iii) unlisted 
equity investments; and (iv) unlisted convertible notes, with 
carrying amounts at 31 December 2022 of USD290,247,000, 
USD60,521,000, USD36,966,000 and USD24,096,000, respectively.

The details of the valuation techniques and unobservable inputs of 
the Level 3 financial instruments are set out in notes 17 and 29 to 
the consolidated financial statements.

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of Level 3 financial 
instruments included:

• Obtaining an understanding of the valuation 
methodologies and the processes performed by 
management with respect to the valuation of Level 3 
financial instruments;

• Agreeing the unlisted investments (including (i) unlisted 
private equity funds; (ii) unlisted hedge funds; (iii) unlisted 
equity investments; and (iv) unlisted convertible notes) on 
the number of fund units and shares of investments and 
other relevant particulars of the investments held by the 
Group to the confirmations received independently from 
the issuers or the fund administrators;

• In respect of the unlisted private equity funds,

— checking the net asset value against financial 
information provided by the fund managers or 
fund administrators;

— performing retrospective testing of the net asset 
value statements provided by fund managers 
or fund administrators against audited financial 
statements of the funds where these were 
available; and

— evaluating the appropriateness of the 
methodologies, integrity of assumptions and 
data used in determining the fair value of certain 
investments.

• In respect of the unlisted hedge funds,

— checking the net asset value against financial 
information provided by the fund managers or 
fund administrators; and

— obtaining the investment fact sheets and 
understanding on the investment portfolio 
held by the hedge funds, and evaluating the 
reasonableness of their performance based on 
our industry knowledge;

• In respect of unlisted equity investments and unlisted 
convertible notes,

— evaluating the competence, capabilities and 
objectivity of the independent external valuation 
expert, taking into account its experience and 
qualifications and business interests with the 
Group;

— performing the following procedures, with the 
assistance of our internal valuation specialists, 
where appropriate:

• evaluating the appropriateness of the 
methodologies and valuation techniques 
used by management for unlisted equity 
investments and unlisted convertible 
notes included in Level 3 financial 
instruments;

• assessing the reasonableness and 
relevance of key assumptions and inputs 
based on our industry knowledge; and

• checking the mathematical accuracy of 
the fair value calculations.

• Reviewing and assessing the related disclosures made in 
the consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter  
Valuation of investment properties
We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key 
audit matter due to the key source of estimation uncertainty 
and the significant assumptions and judgments involved in 
the valuation.

As disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated financial 
statements, the Group’s investment properties amounted 
to USD64,381,000 as at 31 December 2022. Loss on fair 
value change of investment properties of USD281,000 was 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
for the year then ended.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties was 
determined by adopting the valuation techniques with 
significant unobservable inputs, assumptions of market 
conditions and judgments on appropriate valuation 
techniques and inputs adopted. The Group also worked 
closely with the independent qualified valuer to establish 
and determine the appropriate valuation techniques.

Our procedures in relation to management’s fair value 
assessment included:

• Reviewing the valuation report from the 
independent qualified valuer and holding 
discussion with management and the independent 
qualified valuer to understand the valuation basis, 
methodology used and underlying assumptions 
applied;

• Evaluating management’s process in respect 
of reviewing the valuation performed by the 
independent qualified valuer;

• Evaluating the competence, capabilities and 
objectivity of the independent qualified valuer;

• Obtaining the underlying data including 
comparables of the market transactions used by 
the independent qualified valuer and assessing 
whether they are appropriate; and

• Performing market research and analysis to assess 
whether the changes in fair value of investment 
properties resulted from the valuation was 
reasonable and consistent with the market trends 
to our knowledge.
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Other Information
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true 
and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion 
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We 
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
For the year ended 31 December 2022

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

G-RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED 2022 ANNUAL REPORT 47

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or 
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about 
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our 
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of such communication.

Moore Stephens CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors

Lai Hung Wai
Practising Certificate Number: P06995
Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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2022 2021
NOTES USD’000 USD’000  

Revenue
Interest income 7 13,930 9,155
Dividend and distribution income 7 10,107 47,677
Fee and commission income 7 1,388 4,610
Rental income 7 1,448 1,723  

26,873 63,165
Other income 9,086 1,201
Administrative expenses (10,878) (11,148)
(Loss)/gain on disposal of investments in debt instruments measured at 

amortised cost (1,289) 2
Impairment loss on goodwill 20 (943) —
Fair value changes of financial assets and investments in perpetual notes 

at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) (106,724) 18,050
Provision for expected credit losses on financial assets, net (2,643) (4,326)
(Decrease)/increase in fair value of investment properties 16 (281) 141
Other (loss)/gain (2,632) 2,838
Finance costs 8 (3) (6)  
(Loss)/profit before taxation (89,434) 69,917
Taxation 9 — 4  
(Loss)/profit for the year 10 (89,434) 69,921  
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Company (89,927) 69,878
Non-controlling interests 493 43  

(89,434) 69,921  

(Loss)/earnings per share

— Basic and diluted (US cent) 13 (19.95) 15.50  
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2022 2021
USD’000 USD’000  

(Loss)/profit for the year (89,434) 69,921

Other comprehensive (expenses)/income:

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation from functional currency to presentation 

currency (147) (7,964)
Gain on disposal of investments in perpetual notes designated as at fair value 

through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) 8 —
Changes in fair value of investments in perpetual notes designated as at FVTOCI (179) —

Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations 121 2,011  

Other comprehensive expense for the year (197) (5,953)  
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year (89,631) 63,968  
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Company (90,124) 63,925
Non-controlling interests 493 43  

(89,631) 63,968  
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2022 2021
NOTES USD’000 USD’000  

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 14 29,572 30,295
Right-of-use assets 15 — 137
Investment properties 16 64,381 64,669
Financial assets at FVTPL 17 418,585 497,593
Investments in debt instruments measured at amortised cost 17 36,396 44,977
Investments in perpetual notes at FVTPL 17 22,586 29,033
Investments in perpetual notes designated as at FVTOCI 17 2,821 —
Other receivables and deposits 18 564 834
Intangible assets 19 1,746 1,746
Goodwill 20 17,029 17,972  

593,680 687,256  
CURRENT ASSETS
Accounts and other receivables 18 14,807 19,705
Investments in debt instruments measured at amortised cost 17 20,111 14,038
Financial assets at FVTPL 17 39,383 29,552
Time deposits with original maturities over three months 22 30,000 —
Bank trust accounts balances 21 48,037 39,430
Cash and cash equivalents 22 854,253 900,845  

1,006,591 1,003,570  
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Lease liabilities 23 — 112
Accounts and other payables 24 59,852 52,612  

59,852 52,724  
NET CURRENT ASSETS 946,739 950,846  
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,540,419 1,638,102  
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Deferred tax liabilities 25 288 288
Lease liabilities 23 — 27  

288 315  
1,540,131 1,637,787  

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 26 598 598
Reserves 1,537,599 1,634,636  
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 1,538,197 1,635,234
Non-controlling interests 1,934 2,553  
TOTAL EQUITY 1,540,131 1,637,787  

The consolidated financial statements on pages 48 to 111 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 
Directors on 30 March 2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

Leung Oi Kin Leung Wai Yiu, Malcoln
Director Director



G-RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED 2022 ANNUAL REPORT 51

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2022

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Attributable to owners of the Company 

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Capital 
redemption 

reserve

Contributed 
surplus 

(Note)
Exchange 

reserve

Financial 
asset 

designated 
as at FVTOCI 

reserve
Retained 
earnings Total

Non-
controlling 

interests Total
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000          

At 1 January 2021 34,871 1,023,183 212 11,658 1,688 — 499,697 1,571,309 — 1,571,309
Profit for the year — — — — — — 69,878 69,878 43 69,921
Exchange difference arising on 

translation — — — — (5,953) — — (5,953) — (5,953)          

Total comprehensive (expense)/
income for the year — — — — (5,953) — 69,878 63,925 43 63,968          

Capital reorganisation (Note 26a) (34,273) — — 34,273 — — — — — —
Deemed partial disposal of 

interests in subsidiaries to  
non-controlling shareholders — — — — — — — — 1,310 1,310

Partial disposal of interest in a 
subsidiary to non-controlling 
shareholders — — — — — — — — 1,200 1,200          

At 31 December 2021 and  
1 January 2022 598 1,023,183 212 45,931 (4,265) — 569,575 1,635,234 2,553 1,637,787

(Loss)/profit for the year — — — — — — (89,927) (89,927) 493 (89,434)
Exchange difference arising on 

translation — — — — (26) — — (26) — (26)
Gain on disposal of investments 

in perpetual notes designated 
as at FVTOCI — — — — — 8 — 8 — 8

Changes in fair value of 
investments in perpetual notes 
designated as at FVTOCI — — — — — (179) — (179) — (179)          

Total comprehensive (expense)/
income for the year — — — — (26) (171) (89,927) (90,124) 493 (89,631)          

Acquisition of non-controlling 
interests — — — — — — — — (1,112) (1,112)

Final 2021 dividend recognised 
as distribution — — — — — — (6,913) (6,913) — (6,913)          

At 31 December 2022 598 1,023,183 212 45,931 (4,291) (171) 472,735 1,538,197 1,934 1,540,131
          

Note: The contributed surplus includes the surplus arising from capital reorganisations in June 2009 and June 2021.
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2022 2021
USD’000 USD’000  

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/profit before taxation (89,434) 69,917
Adjustments for:

Interest income (21,892) (5,860)
Dividend income (3,026) (4,300)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 770 778
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 60 120
Impairment loss on goodwill 943 —
Fair value changes of financial assets and investments in perpetual notes at 

FVTPL 106,724 (18,050)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of investments in debt instruments measured at amortised 

cost 1,289 (2)
Gain on disposal of interests in a subsidiary (120) —
Provision for expected credit losses on financial assets, net 2,643 4,326
Finance costs 3 6
Decrease/(increase) in fair value of investment properties 281 (141)  

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (1,759) 46,794
Decrease in accounts and other receivables and deposits 16,337 2,163
Repayments from money lending customer — 901
Increase in financial assets at FVTPL (2,852) (36,855)
(Increase)/decrease in bank trust accounts balances (8,639) 3,634
Increase/(decrease) in accounts and other payables 7,276 (6,981)  
Cash generated from operations 10,363 9,656
Income taxes recovered — 75
Interest received 5,830 3,723
Dividend received 3,018 4,300  
Net cash from Operating Activities 19,211 17,754  
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2022 2021
USD’000 USD’000  

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (55) (30)
Purchase of financial assets at FVTPL (47,419) (219,032)
Purchase of investments in debt instruments measured at amortised cost (42,127) (27,238)
Purchase of investments in perpetual notes designated as at FVTOCI (3,992) —
Proceeds from disposal of investments in debt instruments measured at amortised 

cost 42,360 62,995
Proceeds from disposal of investment in perpetual notes at FVTPL 3,390 28,518
Proceeds from disposal of investment in perpetual notes designated as at FVTOCI 1,000 —
Proceeds from return of capital of financial assets at FVTPL 4,910 70,282
Proceeds on disposal of interests in a subsidiary 148 —
Interest received 11,700 5,469
Placement of time deposits with original maturities over three months (30,000) —  
Net cash used in Investing Activities (60,085) (79,036)  

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of non-controlling interests (1,112) —
Dividend paid to shareholders (6,913) —
Repayments of leases liabilities (60) (120)
Interest expenses paid (3) (6)
Proceeds received from issues of shares of subsidiaries to non-controlling 

shareholders — 1,310
Proceeds on disposal of partial interests in a subsidiary without losing control — 1,200  
Net cash (used in)/from Financing Activities (8,088) 2,384  
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (48,962) (58,898)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 900,845 964,665
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 2,370 (4,922)  
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 854,253 900,845  
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

G-Resources Group Limited (the “Company”) is an exempted company with limited liability incorporated in 
Bermuda and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The 
address of the registered office and principal place of business of the Company is disclosed in the Corporate 
Information of the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set 
out in note 36.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in United States Dollars (“USD”), which is different from the 
Company’s functional currency of Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD”). The management adopted USD as presentation 
currency as the management controls and monitors the performance and financial position of the Group based 
on USD. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial 
statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.

Certain comparative figures have been re-presented to conform with current year’s presentation. These 
reclassifications have no effect on the financial position, results for the year or cash flows of the Group.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS

Amendments to Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards that are mandatorily 
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments to Hong Kong Accounting Standards 
(“HKAS”s) and Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”s) (hereinafter collectively referred to as 
“New and Revised HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for 
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 for the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework
Amendment to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018–2020

The application of the New and Revised HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the Group’s 
financial performance and positions for the current and prior year and/or disclosures set out in the consolidated 
financial statements.
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2.  APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (continued)

New and Revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards in issue but not yet 
effective
The Group has not early applied the following New and Revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet 
effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the October 
2020 and February 2022 
Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts1

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and 
HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 
Venture2

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback3

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related amendments 
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)3

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants3

Amendments to HKAS 1 and 
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies1

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates1

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 
Transaction1

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all New and Revised HKFRSs will have no 
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. 
For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information is considered material if such 
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated 
financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on 
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for certain properties 
and financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period. Historical cost is 
generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes 
into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics 
into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except 
for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing 
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases, and measurements that have some 
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in 
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that 
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique 
that unobservable inputs are to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique is 
calibrated so that at initial recognition, the result of the valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based 
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the 
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 
entity can access at the measurement date;

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the assets through 
corroboration with observable market data. Observable inputs generally used to measure the fair value 
of financial assets classified as Level 2 include quoted market prices for similar assets in active markets; 
quoted market prices in markets that are not active for identical or similar assets and other market 
observable inputs; and

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities 
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

• has power over the investee;
• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when 
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of the subsidiaries acquired or 
disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income from the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income (“OCI”) are attributed to the owners of the Company 
and to the non-controlling interests. The total comprehensive income and expense of a subsidiary is attributed to 
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests 
having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Allocation of total comprehensive income to non-controlling interests
The total comprehensive income and expense of a subsidiary is attributed to the owners of the Company and to 
the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from Group’s equity therein, which represent 
present ownership interests that entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant subsidiary’s net 
assets in the event of liquidation. The non-controlling interests are initially measured either at fair value or at the 
non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 
The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries
Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the 
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant components 
of equity and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the 
subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and the non-controlling interests 
according to the Group’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the 
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling 
interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the 
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any 
retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary 
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised in OCI in relation to that subsidiary 
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. 
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable 
HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is 
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
(“HKFRS 9”) or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint 
venture.

Investment in a subsidiary
Investment in a subsidiary (see note 35) is measured at cost less accumulated impairment loss.

Revenue from contracts with customers
The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the 
goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good and service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a 
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress towards 
complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

• the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance 
as the Group performs;

• the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group performs; 
or

• the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group 
has an enforceable right to payment for the performance completed to date.
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Asset management services on diversified and comprehensive investment products are provided to customers. 
Asset management fee income is charged at a fixed percentage per quarter of the net asset value of the 
managed accounts.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the distinct good or 
service.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from financial services is recognised on the following basis:

• Commission and brokerage income from dealing in securities are recognised on a trade date basis;
• Underwriting commission income, sub-underwriting commission income, placing commission and 

sub-placing commission are recognised as income in accordance with the terms of the underwriting 
agreement or deal mandate when the relevant significant acts have been completed; and

• Advisory, clearing and handling fee income are recognised when the relevant transactions have been 
arranged or the relevant services have been rendered.

Principal versus agent
When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a customer, the Group determines whether the 
nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group 
is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an 
agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service before that good or service is transferred to a 
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for the provision of the specified good or service 
by another party. In this case, the Group does not control the specified good or service provided by another 
party before that good or service is transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises 
revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for 
the specified goods or services to be provided by the other party.

The Group’s accounting policy for recognition of revenue from operating leases is described in the accounting 
policy for leases below.

Revenue from interest income, dividend and distribution income
Interest income from a financial asset and from margin financing are recognised when it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is 
accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, 
which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the 
financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Dividend and distribution income from investments including financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
(“FVTPL”) and fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) are recognised when the shareholders’ 
rights to receive payment have been established.
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations
Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a 
business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values 
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and 
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for the control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are 
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair 
value, except that:

• deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are 
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits 
respectively;

• liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or 
share-based payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment 
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the 
acquisition date as described in the accounting policy below;

• assets that are classified as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale 
and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that standard; and

• lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments (as 
defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases 
for which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is 
of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and measured at the same amount as the relevant lease 
liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with market 
terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any 
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in 
the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at 
the acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in 
the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain. 

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the 
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. 
Those provisional amounts are adjusted retrospectively during the measurement period as mentioned above, 
and additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about the facts and 
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised at 
that date.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the 
business, which is described in the accounting policy above, less accumulated impairment losses, if any. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or 
groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, which 
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purpose and not larger 
than an operating segment. 
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Goodwill (continued)

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for 
impairment annually or more frequently when there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill 
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) 
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated 
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets of on a pro-rata basis based 
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating units). Any impairment loss for 
goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in 
subsequent periods. 

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of the cash-generating unit within group of 
cash-generating units, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount of 
profit or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation within the cash-generating unit (or a 
cash-generating unit within a group of cash-generating units), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured 
on the basis of the relative values of the operation (or the cash-generating unit) disposed of and the portion of 
the cash-generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units) retained.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially 
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost). 

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination with finite useful lives 
are reported at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for 
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The 
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect 
of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful 
lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses. The 
accounting policy in respect of impairment losses on intangible assets is described below. 

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use 
or disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when 
the asset is derecognised. 

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment, including land and buildings held for use in the supply of services, or for 
administrative purposes, are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less subsequent 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment less their 
estimated residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful 
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect 
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement 
of asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and is 
recognised in the profit or loss.
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases
Definition of a lease
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a 
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of the initial application of HKFRS 16, the Group 
assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at the inception 
or modification date. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are 
subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases of land and buildings that have a lease 
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies 
the recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of 
low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
Except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets, the Group recognises right-of-use assets at the 
commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets 
are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any 
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

• the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;
• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received;
• any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and
• an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and removing the underlying assets, 

restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the 
terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased 
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated from the commencement date to the end of the useful life. 
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life 
and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial 
position.

Refundable rental deposits
Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments 
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included in the cost of 
right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures the lease liability at the present 
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the 
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the 
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable; and
• payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to 

terminate.
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities (continued)
After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use 
assets) whenever the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase 
option, in which case the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a 
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Taxation
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which the Group recognises the 
right-of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax deductions are 
attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases
Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the 
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee, 
the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating lease is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
relevant lease.

Rental income which is derived from the Group’s ordinary course of business is presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
The Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15”) to allocate consideration in 
a contract to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease components are separated from lease component on 
the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits
Refundable rental deposits received are accounted under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. 
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification
The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a new lease from the effective date of the 
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease as part of the 
lease payments for the new lease.

Leasehold land and building
When the Group makes payments for a property interest which includes both leasehold land and building 
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and the building elements in 
proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land element and building element at initial 
recognition.

When the payments cannot be allocated reliably between the leasehold land and building elements, the entire 
property is generally classified as property, plant and equipment.
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject 
to regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprise of short-term (generally with original maturity of three months or less), 
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject to 
an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-term 
cash commitments rather than for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and 
cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and 
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. Investment properties 
are initially measured at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
investment properties are measured at fair value. All of the Group’s property interests held under operating 
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are classified and accounted for as investment 
properties and are measured using the fair value model. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of 
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the year in which they arise.

When an item of investment properties is transferred to owner-occupied property, the deemed cost of a property 
is its fair value at the date of change in use.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently 
withdrawn from use or no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.

Foreign currencies
In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the 
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the 
dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies 
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated 
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement and retranslation of monetary items are recognised in the profit 
or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s 
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. USD) at the rate of exchange prevailing 
at the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at the average exchange 
rates for the year. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in OCI and accumulated in equity (the 
exchange reserve), attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign 
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange 
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in OCI. Upon the 
disposal of a foreign operation, the exchange reserve will be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefits scheme
The retirement benefits scheme contributions relating to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for all employees 
in Hong Kong charged to profit and loss represent contributions payable to the schemes by the Group at rates 
specified in the rules of the schemes.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid 
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an expense 
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick 
leave) after deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee benefits are measured at the present value of the 
estimated future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in respect of services provided by employees 
up to the reporting date. Any changes in the liabilities’ carrying amounts resulting from service cost, interest and 
remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that another HKFRS requires or permits 
their inclusion in the cost of an asset.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before taxation’ 
as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss because it excludes items of income or expense that 
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability 
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the 
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. 
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are 
generally recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits 
will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in 
a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the 
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from 
the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference 
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets 
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the 
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the assets 
to be recovered.
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applicable in the period 
in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the 
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount 
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment properties that are measured using the fair value 
model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the 
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is depreciable and is held 
within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in 
the investment property over time, rather than through sale.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised 
in OCI or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in OCI or directly 
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business 
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position when a 
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments. All regular way purchases or sales 
of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales of 
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the 
marketplace.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for accounts receivables arising 
from contracts with customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15, if any. Transaction 
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other 
than financial assets at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial 
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of 
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability 
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the 
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees paid or received 
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) 
through the expected life of the financial asset and financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to 
the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income from a financial asset or margin financing; and distribution and dividend income from financial 
products which are derived from the Group’s ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.

Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement 
of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

G-RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED 2022 ANNUAL REPORT66

4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows; and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured as at FVTOCI:

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both selling and 
collecting contractual cash flows; and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial 
asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in 
OCI if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in 
a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income
Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for financial assets measured subsequently at 
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying 
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired 
(see below). For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is 
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next 
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial 
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to 
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period following the 
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

(ii) Investments in perpetual notes designated as at FVTOCI
Investments in perpetual notes designated as at FVTOCI are subsequently measured at fair value with 
gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in the financial asset designated as at FVTOCI reserve; and are not subject to impairment 
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity 
investments, and will be transferred to retained profits.

Interests from these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s 
right to receive the interests is established, unless the interests clearly represent a recovery of part of the 
cost of the investment. Interests are included in the “Interest income from financial products” line item in 
profit or loss.

(iii) Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCl or 
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any 
fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss 
excludes any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the “fair value changes 
of financial assets and investments in perpetual notes at fair value through profit or loss” line items.
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model
The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial assets which are subject to impairment under 
HKFRS 9 (including accounts and other receivables, investments in debt instruments measured at amortised 
cost, bank trust accounts balances and cash and cash equivalents). The amount of ECL is updated at each 
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of the 
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is 
expected to result from default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments 
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the 
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as 
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtors with significant balances.

The Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL 
should be recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial 
recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group 
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the 
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this 
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and 
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without 
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has 
increased significantly:

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or 
internal credit rating;

• significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the 
credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

• existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are 
expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;
• an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological 

environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its 
debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk has 
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past 
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model (continued)
(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the 
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) 
the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) 
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, 
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable 
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

(ii) Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default occurs when information 
developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its 
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more 
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that 
a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of default that have a detrimental impact on 
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is 
credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
• a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;
• the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s 

financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not 
otherwise consider; or

• it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(iv) Write-off policy
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is 
in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the 
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial 
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, 
taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any 
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude 
of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default 
and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information. Estimation of 
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks of 
default occurring as the weights. 
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model (continued)
(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to 
the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, 
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases where evidence for impairment 
measurement at the individual instrument level may not yet be available, the financial instruments are 
grouped on the following basis:

• Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s accounts receivable, receivable from clients for 
subscription of new shares in IPO, investments in debt instruments measured at amortised cost, 
other receivables and deposits, cash and cash equivalents, time deposits with original maturities 
over three months and bank trusts accounts balances are each assessed as a separate group);

• Past-due status; and
• External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each group continue to 
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless the 
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case the interest income is calculated based on amortised cost 
of the financial asset.

Except for investments in debt instruments that are measured as at FVTOCI, the Group recognises an 
impairment charges, net of reversal in profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying 
amount, with the exception of advances to customers and investment securities at amortised cost, where 
the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification on debt or equity instruments
Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity 
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability 
and an equity instrument.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting 
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of 
direct issue costs.
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised only when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire, 
or when it transfers the financial assets and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial 
assets to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset 
and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and 
also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivables is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the Group has elected on initial recognition to 
measure as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the financial asset as at FVTOCI 
reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained profits.

Financial liabilities are derecognised only when the obligation specified in the relevant contract is discharged, 
cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the 
consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or construction) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the consideration required to 
settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present 
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of 
money is material).

Contingent liabilities
A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past events but is not recognised because it is not 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation or 
the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to 
be met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability and it is not recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has 
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow of future economic benefits will be required for an item 
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision is recognised in the consolidated financial statements in 
the reporting period in which the change in probability occurs, except in the extremely rare circumstances where 
no reliable estimate can be made.
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible 
assets other than goodwill
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and 
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any 
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of impairment loss (if any). 

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are estimated individually. When 
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amounts of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and 
intangible assets individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which 
the asset belongs. 

When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to 
individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units 
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for 
impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired. 

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporates assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating 
units when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated 
to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be 
established. The recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating 
units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant 
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating 
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, 
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. In allocating 
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if 
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the 
unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if 
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise 
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro-rata to the other assets of the unit. An impairment loss is 
recognised as an expense immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, the increased carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset 
(or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately in 
profit or loss.
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to directors and employees of the Company
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the 
fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined at the grant date without taking into 
consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, 
based on the Group’s estimate of share options that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity 
(share options reserve). For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the share 
options granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected 
to vest based on the assessment of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of 
the original estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative 
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share options reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve will 
be transferred to share premium. When the share options are forfeited or lapsed after the vesting date or are still 
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to 
retained earnings.

Share options granted to suppliers/consultants
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured at the fair 
values of the goods or services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which 
case the goods or services received are measured at the fair value of the share options granted, measured at 
the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service. The fair values of the goods or 
services received are recognised as expenses (unless the goods or services qualify for recognition as assets.)

Government Grant
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the 
conditions attaching to them and the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group 
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants relate to income that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred 
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised 
in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such grants are presented under “other income”.

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 4, the directors of the 
Company are required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are 
based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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5.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
The following is the critical judgment, apart from those involving estimations (see below), that the directors of 
the Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising from investment properties that are measured using the 
fair value model, the directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s investment property portfolios and 
concluded that the Group’s investment properties are not held under a business model whose objective is to 
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over time. Therefore, 
in measuring the Group’s deferred taxation on investment properties, the directors of the Company have 
determined that the presumption that the carrying amounts of investment properties measured using the fair 
value model are recovered entirely through sale is not rebutted. As a result, the Group has not recognised any 
deferred taxes on changes in fair value of investment properties as the Group is not subject to any income taxes 
on the fair value changes of the investment properties on disposal.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty 
at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment of goodwill
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of the value in use or fair value 
less costs of disposal. The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected 
to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value, taking 
into account other key assumptions including discount rate, future growth rate and expected gross margin. 
Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected, or change in facts and circumstances which results 
in downward revision of future cash flows, a material impairment loss may arise. Furthermore, the estimated cash 
flows are uncertain in view of the uncertainty on how the COVID-19 pandemic may progress and evolve and 
volatility in financial markets, including potential disruptions of the Group’s financial services business.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of goodwill is USD17,029,000 (2021: USD17,972,000). Details of 
the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in note 20.

Fair value measurements and valuation processes
Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value for financial reporting purposes.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it 
is available. Where Level 1 and Level 2 inputs are not available, the Group engages an independent firm of 
professional valuers to perform the valuation. In relying on the valuation report, the directors of the Company 
have exercised their judgment and are satisfied to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to 
the model. The fluctuation in the fair value of the assets and liabilities is reported and analysed periodically.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that are not based on observable market data to 
estimate the fair value of certain types of financial instruments. Judgment and estimation are required in 
establishing the relevant valuation techniques and the relevant inputs thereof. Whilst the Group considers these 
valuations are the best estimates, the ongoing changes in market conditions that may result in greater market 
volatility and may cause further disruptions to the investees’/issuers’ businesses, which have led to higher 
degree of uncertainties in respect of the valuations in the current year. Changes in assumptions relating to these 
factors could result in material adjustments to the fair value of these financial instruments. Detailed information 
about the valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions used in the determination of the fair value of various 
assets and liabilities are set out in note 29(c).
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5.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment loss on accounts receivables from clients and investments in debt instruments measured at 
amortised cost
The management of the Group estimates the amount of loss allowance for accounts receivables from clients and 
investments in debt instruments measured at amortised cost based on the credit risk of the respective financial 
assets. The loss allowance amount is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows with the consideration of expected future credit losses.

The assessment of the credit risk of accounts receivables from clients and investments in debt instruments 
measured at amortised cost involve high degree of estimation uncertainty as the management of the Group 
estimates the loss rates for debtors based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information. When the 
actual future cash flows are less than expected or more than expected, a material impairment loss or a material 
reversal of impairment loss may arise accordingly. As at 31 December 2022, the net carrying amount of accounts 
receivables from clients and investments in debt instruments measured at amortised cost is USD1,521,000 and 
USD56,507,000 (2021: USD15,496,000 and USD59,015,000), respectively.

Fair value of investment properties
Investment properties are stated at fair value based on the valuation performed by an independent firm of 
professional valuers. The determination of the fair value involves certain assumptions of market conditions which 
are set out in note 16.

In relying on the valuation report, the directors of the Company have exercised their judgment and are satisfied 
that the method of valuation is reflective of the current market conditions. In light of the negative impact of the 
COVID-19 pandemic, the independent valuers included uncertainty clauses in the valuation reports in respect 
of the investments properties in Hong Kong which amounted to USD64,381,000 as at 31 December 2022. Whilst 
the Group considers the valuations of the Group’s investment properties are the best estimates, the ongoing 
COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in greater market volatility depending on how the COVID-19 pandemic may 
progress and evolve, which have led to higher degree of uncertainties in respect of the valuations in the current 
year. Changes to these assumptions, including the potential risk of any market violation, policy, geographical 
and social changes or other unexpected incidents as a result of change in the macroeconomic environment, 
travel restrictions implemented by many countries, increased complexity in international trade tensions 
geopolitics, changes in policy direction and/or mortgage requirements, or other expected incidents would result 
in changes in the fair values of the Group’s investment properties and the corresponding adjustments to the 
amount of increase or decrease in fair value reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of the Group’s investment properties is USD64,381,000 (2021: 
USD64,669,000).

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company, being the chief operating decision makers, 
for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on the nature of their 
operations and types of products and services provided. Each of the Group’s business segments represents a 
strategic business unit that offers products and services which are subject to risks and returns that are different 
from those of the other business segments.

The Group has three (2021: three) operating business units which represent three (2021: three) operating 
segments, namely:

• financial services business — engaging in securities trading and brokerage, margin financing, money 
lending, and asset management;

• principal investment business — managing a portfolio of investments in listed shares, listed senior notes, 
listed perpetual notes, unlisted investment funds, unlisted equity investments, unlisted hedge funds and 
convertible notes; and

• real property business — leasing of office units and car parks.
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6.  SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(a) Segment revenue and results
An analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by operating and reportable segment is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Financial 
services 

business

Principal 
investment 

business

Real  
property 

business Eliminations Total
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000     

External revenue
Interest income 646 13,284 — — 13,930
Dividend and distribution income — 10,107 — — 10,107
Fee and commission income 1,388 — — — 1,388
Rental income — — 1,448 — 1,448     

Segment revenue from external parties 2,034 23,391 1,448 — 26,873
Inter-segment revenue 439 — — (439) —     
Segment revenue 2,473 23,391 1,448 (439) 26,873     
Segment results before impairment loss 

on goodwill 1,764 (88,169) 1,485 — (84,920)
Impairment loss on goodwill (943) — — — (943)     
Segment profit/(loss) 821 (88,169) 1,485 — (85,863)    
Unallocated other income 80
Unallocated corporate expenses (4,762)
Unallocated exchange gain 1,392
Decrease in fair value of investment 

properties (281) 
Loss before taxation (89,434) 

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Financial 
services 
business

Principal 
investment 

business

Real 
property 
business Eliminations Total

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000     
External revenue

Interest income 4,244 4,911 — — 9,155
Dividend and distribution income — 47,677 — — 47,677
Fee and commission income 4,610 — — — 4,610
Rental income — — 1,723 — 1,723     

Segment revenue from external parties 8,854 52,588 1,723 — 63,165
Inter-segment revenue 531 — — (531) —     
Segment revenue 9,385 52,588 1,723 (531) 63,165     
Segment profit 4,035 64,300 1,751 — 70,086    
Unallocated other income 146
Unallocated corporate expenses (4,756)
Unallocated exchange gain 4,300
Increase in fair value of investment 

properties 141 
Profit before taxation 69,917 
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6.  SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(a)  Segment revenue and results (continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies 
described in note 4. Segment results represent the profit or loss earned, generated or incurred by each 
segment without allocation of central administration costs, unallocated other income and change in fair 
value of investment properties. This is the measure reported to the executive directors of the Company for 
the purposes of resources allocation and assessment of segment performance.

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates.

(b) Segment assets and liabilities
An analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by operating and reportable segment is as follows:

At 31 December 2022

Financial 
services 

business

Principal 
investment 

business

Real 
property 

business Total
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000    

ASSETS
Segment assets 329,767 1,176,273 64,517 1,570,557   
Unallocated corporate assets 29,714 
Total assets 1,600,271 
LIABILITIES
Segment liabilities 49,426 49 365 49,840   
Liabilities relating to discontinued operation 9,839
Unallocated corporate liabilities 461 
Total liabilities 60,140 

At 31 December 2021

Financial 
services 

business

Principal 
investment 

business

Real 
property 
business Total

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000    
ASSETS
Segment assets 186,683 1,408,848 64,802 1,660,333   
Unallocated corporate assets 30,493 
Total assets 1,690,826 
LIABILITIES
Segment liabilities 42,088 158 522 42,768   
Liabilities relating to discontinued operation 9,839
Unallocated corporate liabilities 432 
Total liabilities 53,039 

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and allocating resources between segments:

• all assets are allocated to operating segments other than certain property, plant and equipment 
and other receivables.

• all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than certain other payables.
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6.  SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(c) Other segment information
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Financial 
services 

business

Principal 
investment 

business

Real  
property 

business Unallocated Total
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000     

Amounts included in the measure of segment 
profit or loss or segment assets:

Additions to non-current assets (Note) 52 — — 3 55
Additions to financial assets at FVTPL — 47,419 — — 47,419
Additions to investments in debt instruments 

measured at amortised cost — 42,127 — — 42,127
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (36) — — (734) (770)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (60) — — — (60)
Finance costs (3) — — — (3)
Fair value changes of financial assets and 

investments in perpetual notes at FVTPL 74 (106,798) — — (106,724)
Provision for expected credit losses on financial 

assets, net (739) (1,904) — — (2,643)
Exchange (loss)/gain included in other loss (76) (3,930) — 1,392 (2,614)
Loss on disposal of investments in debt 

instruments measured at amortised cost — (1,289) — — (1,289)
Interest income from bank deposits, included in 

other income 3,748 4,860 — — 8,608     

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Financial 
services 

business

Principal 
investment 

business

Real  
property 
business Unallocated Total

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000     
Amounts included in the measure of segment 

profit or loss or segment assets:
Additions to non-current assets (Note) 18 — — 12 30
Additions to financial assets at FVTPL — 219,032 — — 219,032
Additions to investments in debt instruments 

measured at amortised cost — 27,238 — — 27,238
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (38) — — (740) (778)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (120) — — — (120)
Finance costs (6) — — — (6)
Fair value changes of financial assets and 

investments in perpetual notes at FVTPL — 18,050 — — 18,050
Provision for expected credit losses on financial 

assets, net (137) (4,189) — — (4,326)
Exchange (loss)/gain included in other gain (218) (1,244) — 4,300 2,838
Gain on disposal of investments in debt 

instruments measured at amortised cost — 2 — — 2
Interest income from bank deposits, included in 

other income 184 765 — — 949     

Note: Non-current assets excluded financial assets at FVTPL, investments in perpetual notes at FVTPL and 
designated as at FVTOCI, investments in debt instruments measured at amortised cost and other receivables 
and deposits.
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6.  SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(d) Geographical information
The following table sets out (i) information about the geographical location of the Group’s revenue from 
external customers, determined based on the location of financial products, the location of financial 
services business operated and location of properties in the case of rental income and (ii) information of 
the non-current assets by the geographical area in which the assets are located are detailed below:

Segment revenue
Non-current assets excluding 

financial instruments

2022 2021 2022 2021
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000    

Singapore 2,162 2,116 — —
Hong Kong 14,832 14,652 112,728 114,819
People’s Republic of China 3,188 6,410 — —
United States of America 2,888 35,045 — —
Europe 2,663 4,727 — —
Others 1,140 215 — —    

26,873 63,165 112,728 114,819    

Note: Non-current assets excluded financial assets at FVTPL, investments in perpetual notes at FVTPL and 
designated as at FVTOCI, investments in debt instruments measured at amortised cost, and other receivables 
and deposits.

(e) Information about major customers
For the year ended 31 December 2022, no customer (2021: one counterparty) contributed over 10% of 
the total revenue (2021: contributed USD29,796,000 from principal investment business).

7. REVENUE

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from its major products and services:

2022 2021
USD’000 USD’000  

Interest income from financial products 5,021 3,589
Interest income from money lending business — 20
Interest income from margin financing 646 4,224
Interest income from financial institutions’ deposits 8,263 1,322  

Interest income 13,930 9,155  
Dividend and distribution income from financial products (Note) 10,107 47,677

Commission income and handling charges from financial services 1,263 4,418
Asset management fee income 125 192  

Fee and commission income 1,388 4,610  
Rental income 1,448 1,723  

26,873 63,165  

Note: Included in dividend and distribution income from financial products is distribution of investments in perpetual notes 
designated as at FVTOCI amounted to USD29,000 (2021:nil) for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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7.  REVENUE (continued)

The Group’s performance obligations in contracts with customers in accordance with HKFRS 15 are set out 
below:

Fee and commission income
The Group provides financial services to customers which mainly include securities trading, underwriting and 
placing services. Such service income is recognised at a point in time when the performance obligation is 
satisfied.

Asset management services to customers are recognised over time, the fee income is recognised as a 
performance obligation satisfied over time.

8. FINANCE COSTS

2022 2021
USD’000 USD’000  

Interest expense on lease liabilities 3 6  
Finance costs for the year 3 6  

9. TAXATION

2022 2021
USD’000 USD’000  

Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax   
Overprovision in prior years — (4)  

Taxation for the year — (4)  

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both years.

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss as follows:

2022 2021
USD’000 USD’000  

(Loss)/profit before taxation (89,434) 69,917  

Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) (14,756) 11,536
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose 18,268 8,247
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose (5,551) (20,773)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 2,245 1,377
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised (206) (387)
Overprovision in respect of prior years — (4)  
Taxation for the year — (4)  
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10. (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

2022 2021
USD’000 USD’000  

(Loss)/profit for the year has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):   

Staff costs
– Directors’ emoluments 1,024 1,149
– Other staff costs (Note (a)) 4,572 5,328
– Contributions to retirement benefits schemes, excluding directors 120 133  

Total staff costs 5,716 6,610  
Auditors’ remuneration 158 223
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 770 778
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 60 120
Exchange loss/(gain), net, included in other (loss)/gain 2,614 (2,838)
Interest income from bank deposits, included in other income (8,608) (949)
Government grants, included in other income (Note (b)) (216) (46)

Notes:

(a) Other staff costs comprise salaries and other emoluments, discretionary bonus and commission paid to accounts 
executives of the brokerage business (included in the financial service segment).

(b) During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recognised government grants of USD216,000 (2021: 
USD46,000). In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group has fulfilled all conditions attached to the 
grants.

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ Emoluments
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors for the year were as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Fees

Salaries 
and other 

emoluments
Discretionary 

bonus

Contributions 
to retirement 

benefits 
scheme Allowances Total

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000      
Executive directors: (Note b)

Leung Oi Kin — 306 128 2 — 436
Leung Wai Yiu, Malcoln — 306 180 2 — 488

Non-executive director: (Note c)
Li Zhongye, Cindy 31 — — — — 31

Independent non-executive 
directors: (Note c)
Lo Wa Kei, Roy 31 — — — — 31
Chen Gong 19 — — — — 19
Martin Que Meideng 19 — — — — 19      

100 612 308 4 — 1,024      
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11.  DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a)  Directors’ Emoluments (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Fees

Salaries 
and other 

emoluments
Discretionary 

bonus

Contributions 
to retirement 

benefits 
scheme Allowances Total

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000      
Executive directors: (Note b)

Leung Oi Kin — 320 206 2 — 528
Leung Wai Yiu, Malcoln — 313 206 2 — 521

Non-executive director: (Note c)
Li Zhongye, Cindy 31 — — — — 31

Independent non-executive 
directors: (Note c)
Lo Wa Kei, Roy 31 — — — — 31
Chen Gong 19 — — — — 19
Martin Que Meideng 19 — — — — 19      

100 633 412 4 — 1,149      

Notes:

(a) Mr Leung Oi Kin and Mr Leung Wai Yiu, Malcoln are the acting Chief Executives. Their emoluments disclosed 
above include those for services rendered by them as the Chief Executives.

(b) The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in connection with the management 
of the affairs of the Company and the Group.

(c) The independent non-executive directors’ and non-executive director’s emoluments shown above were for their 
services as directors of the Company.

Bonuses which are discretionary are determined with reference to individual performance. No director 
waived any emoluments in the year. The remuneration of directors is determined by the remuneration 
committee having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

G-RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED 2022 ANNUAL REPORT82

11.  DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Employees’ Emoluments
(i) Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments (excluding amounts paid or payable by way of 

commissions on sales generated by the employees concerned) in the Group, two (2021: two) were 
executive directors of the Company as at 31 December 2022. None (2021: one) of the remaining 
three highest paid individuals is senior management as at 31 December 2022. The emoluments of 
the individuals who were not directors of the Company, were as follows:

2022 2021
USD’000 USD’000  

Salaries and other benefits 442 472
Discretionary bonus 64 —
Retirement benefits scheme contributions 7 9  

513 481  

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the directors of the Company whose 
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

Number of Employees

2022 2021  
HKD500,001 (USD63,851) to HKD1,000,000 (USD127,702) — 1
HKD1,000,001 (USD127,702) to HKD1,500,000 (USD191,553) 2 2
HKD1,500,001 (USD191,553) to HKD2,000,000 (USD255,403) 1 —  

3 3  

(ii) The emoluments of senior management who are not directors of the Company were within the 
following bands:

Number of Employees

2022 2021  
HKD500,001 (USD63,851) to HKD1,000,000 (USD127,702) 1 1
HKD1,000,001 (USD127,702) to HKD1,500,000 (USD191,553) 1 1
HKD2,000,001 (USD255,403) to HKD2,500,000 (USD319,254) — 1  

2 3  

The senior management of the Group are solely determined by the directors. The senior 
management for 2022 are Chan Chun Fung and Lau Yue Wah, Brian (2021: John Lawrence 
Sigerson, Chan Chun Fung and Lau Yue Wah, Brian). For the year ended 31 December 2022, 
none (2021: one) of the senior management is included within the five individuals with the highest 
emoluments in the Group.

(c) Save as disclosed above, no emoluments have been paid by the Group to any directors or the five 
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss 
of office for the year.

12. DIVIDEND

During the current year, a final dividend of HKD0.12 per share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2021 
amounted to approximately USD6,913,000 (equivalent to approximately HKD54,098,000) was paid to the owners 
of the Company. Subsequent to 31 December 2022, a final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 
2022 of HKD0.12 (2021: HKD0.12) per share, totaling approximately HKD54,098,000 (2021: HKD54,098,000) 
has been proposed by the Board and is subject to the approval by the shareholders of the Company in the 
forthcoming annual general meeting.
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13. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company is based 
on the following data:

2022 2021
USD’000 USD’000  

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company,  
for the purposes of basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share (89,927) 69,878

Number of shares

2022 2021  
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic and 

diluted (loss)/earnings per share 450,814,079 450,814,079

No adjustment is made in arriving at diluted (loss)/earnings per share for both 2022 and 2021 as there were no 
potential ordinary shares in issue for both 2022 and 2021.

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land and 
buildings

Leasehold 
improvements

Furniture, 
fixtures and 

equipment Total
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000    

COST
At 1 January 2021 32,456 574 211 33,241
Exchange realignments (186) (3) (1) (190)
Additions — — 30 30    
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 32,270 571 240 33,081    
Exchange realignments (3) — — (3)
Additions — — 55 55
Written off — (12) (10) (22)    
At 31 December 2022 32,267 559 285 33,111    
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND 

IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2021 1,589 307 126 2,022
Exchange realignments (12) (2) — (14)
Provided for the year 647 85 46 778    
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 2,224 390 172 2,786    
Exchange realignments 3 — — 3
Provided for the year 643 83 44 770
Written off — (12) (8) (20)    
At 31 December 2022 2,870 461 208 3,539    
CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2022 29,397 98 77 29,572    
At 31 December 2021 30,046 181 68 30,295    

The property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis after taking into account their 
estimated residual value, at the following rates per annum:

Land and buildings 2%
Leasehold improvements 10% to 20% or over the terms of the leases whichever is shorter
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20% to 50%



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

G-RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED 2022 ANNUAL REPORT84

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

2022 2021
USD’000 USD’000  

Leased properties
At 1 January
Carrying amount 137 51  
At 31 December
Carrying amount — 137  
For the year ended 31 December
Depreciation charge 60 120
Expense relating to short-term leases 6 1
Written off 77 —
Total cash outflow for leases 69 127
Additions to right-of-use assets — 206

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group leased various offices for its operations. Lease contracts 
were entered into for fixed terms of one to three years, and did not have any extension and termination options. 
Lease terms were negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. 
In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applied the 
definition of a contract and determined the period for which the contract was enforceable. During the current 
financial year, the Group terminated all lease contracts.

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that 
are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out various offices under operating leases with rentals payable monthly. The leases typically 
run for an initial period of three years (2021: three years), with unilateral rights to extend the lease beyond initial 
period held by lessees only. The majority of the lease contracts contain market review clauses in the event the 
lessee exercises the option to extend.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the lease arrangements, as all leases are 
denominated in the respective functional currencies of the group entities. The lease contracts do not contain 
residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of lease term.

At fair value USD’000 
At 1 January 2021 64,899
Fair value change during the year 141
Exchange realignments (371) 
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 64,669
Fair value change during the year (281)
Exchange realignments (7) 
At 31 December 2022 64,381 

The investment properties comprise commercial office units and car park spaces situated in a commercial 
building in Hong Kong on leasehold land under a Government Lease for a term of 99 years commencing on 14 
April 1928 (i.e. 2027). Under the Government Lease, it is renewable for another 99 years upon the end of lease 
term.
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16.  INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 December 2022 has been arrived at on the basis of a 
valuation carried out by Roma Appraisals Limited, independent qualified professional valuers not connected to 
the Group.

Roma Appraisals Limited has appropriate qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of properties 
in the relevant locations. The fair value is determined based on direct comparison method that reflects recent 
transaction prices for similar property units, adjusted for differences in nature, timing and condition of the 
properties under review. The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in greater market volatility depending 
on how the COVID-19 pandemic may progress and evolve, which has led to higher degree of uncertainties 
in respect of the valuations in the current year, and independent valuers included uncertainty clauses in the 
valuation reports in respect of investment properties located in Hong Kong in arriving at the fair value of the 
properties which amounted to USD64,381,000 as at 31 December 2022. There has been no change from the 
valuation technique used for both years.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

Details of the Group’s investment properties and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 
2022 and 2021 are as follows:

Level 3 Level 3
2022 2021

USD’000 USD’000  
Commercial office units in Hong Kong 61,175 61,463
Car parking spaces in Hong Kong 3,206 3,206  

64,381 64,669  

For the investment properties categorised into Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, the valuation method used 
is direct comparison method and the key inputs for valuation technique of the commercial office units in Hong 
Kong is price per square foot and the car parking spaces in Hong Kong is price per car parking space. The 
price per square foot is based on market direct comparable and adjustments are made taking into account 
of differences in other individual factors such as floor range and change in market environment for the timing 
differences of comparable transactions. The inputs applied range from HKD18,322 to HKD19,090 (2021: the 
range from HKD18,408 to HKD19,176) per square foot and HKD2,500,000 (2021: HKD2,500,000) per car 
parking space. A slight decrease in price per square foot and price per car parking space will decrease the fair 
value of commercial office units and car parking spaces.
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17. INVESTMENTS IN DEBT INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST/FINANCIAL 
ASSETS AT FVTPL/INVESTMENTS IN PERPETUAL NOTES AT FVTPL/INVESTMENTS IN 
PERPETUAL NOTES DESIGNATED AS AT FVTOCI

2022 2021
USD’000 USD’000  

Investments in debt instruments measured at amortised cost
Debt securities listed in Hong Kong

Fixed Rate Senior Notes (Notes a, b, c) 8,887 5,655
Debt securities listed outside Hong Kong

Fixed Rate Senior Notes (Notes a, b, c) 38,271 39,898
Floating Rate Senior Notes (Notes a, b, e) 11,110 16,614

Less: Expected credit losses (1,761) (3,152)  
56,507 59,015

Less: Investments in debt instruments measured at amortised cost classified 
as current assets (20,111) (14,038)  

Investments in debt instruments measured at amortised cost classified as 
non-current assets 36,396 44,977  

Investments in perpetual notes at FVTPL
Perpetual Notes, listed outside Hong Kong (Note d) 22,586 29,033  

Investments in perpetual notes designated as at FVTOCI
Perpetual Notes, listed outside Hong Kong (Note d) 2,821 —  

Financial assets at FVTPL
Unlisted investments

Unlisted investment funds (Note f) 350,768 403,514
Unlisted equity investments (Note g) 36,966 39,182
Convertible notes (Note h) 24,096 26,481

Listed equity investments (Note i)
Listed in Hong Kong 37,646 43,466
Listed outside Hong Kong 8,492 14,502  

457,968 527,145
Less: Financial assets at FVTPL classified as current assets (39,383) (29,552)  
Financial assets at FVTPL classified as non-current assets 418,585 497,593  

Notes:

(a) The Group’s investments in debt instruments measured at amortised cost mainly comprise instruments that have a low 
risk of default or the issuers have a strong capacity to repay (e.g. financial instruments that are of investment grade or 
issuer with good credit history and capacity to repay etc.). The details of the impairment assessment on investments in 
debt instruments measured at amortised cost with ECL model are disclosed in note 29(b).

(b) During the year ended 31 December 2022, seven of the Fixed Rate Senior Notes were matured, five of the Fixed Rate 
Senior Notes were partially sold, nine of the Fixed Rate Senior Notes were sold, two of the Fixed Rate Senior Notes 
were being called and four of the Floating Rate Senior Notes were being called. For the year ended 31 December 
2022, the loss on disposal including redemption of investments in debt instruments measured at amortised cost was 
USD1,289,000. During the year ended 31 December 2021, thirteen of the Fixed Rate Senior Notes were matured, one 
of the Floating Rate Senior Notes was matured, one of the Fixed Rate Senior Notes was partially sold, nine of the Fixed 
Rate Senior Notes were sold, one of the Floating Rate Senior Notes was sold and three of the Fixed Rate Senior Notes 
were being called. For the year ended 31 December 2021, the gain on disposal including redemption of investments in 
debt instruments measured at amortised cost was USD2,000.
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17.  INVESTMENTS IN DEBT INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST/FINANCIAL 
ASSETS AT FVTPL/INVESTMENTS IN PERPETUAL NOTES AT FVTPL/INVESTMENTS IN 
PERPETUAL NOTES DESIGNATED AS AT FVTOCI (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(c) Senior Notes held by the Group bear a fixed coupon interest ranging from 1.12% to 7.88% (2021: from 2.45% to 8.8%) 
per annum and with maturity dates from 24 January 2023 to 9 February 2026 (2021: from 3 March 2022 to 9 February 
2026). As at 31 December 2022, three of the Senior Notes carrying a gross amount of USD2,519,000 with original 
maturity dates ranging from July 2023 to May 2024 have a provision of lifetime ECL of USD1,414,000. The directors of 
the Company considered that the provision for ECL was sufficient.

(d) Perpetual Notes at FVTPL held by the Group bear discretionary interests at the rate of ranging from 5.25% to 6.57% 
(2021: from 4.5% to 6.38%) per annum and are callable from 19 July 2023 to 15 August 2027 (2021: from 24 January 
2022 to 16 May 2025). The interest rates are subject to change at reset day with reset rate ranging from 2.76% to 
4.98% (2021: from 2.76% to 7.77%) plus USD 5 years mid-swap rate or the prevailing yield for U.S. Treasury Securities 
at a constant maturity having a designated maturity of 5 years or semi-annual USD 5 years mid-swap rate. The rest 
dates are ranging from 3 months to 5 years. During the year ended 31 December 2022, one of the Perpetual Notes 
was being called and one of the Perpetual Notes was partially sold.

 Perpetual Notes designated as at FVTOCI held by the Group as at 31 December 2022 bear a discretionary interest 
at the rate of 8.0% per annum and are callable on 26 October 2027. The distribution of perpetual notes is at the 
discretion of the issuers and the issuers have the right to defer the payments of the distribution. The redemption rights 
of the perpetual notes are at the option of the issuers. Management of the Group made an initial irrevocable election 
to designate the perpetual notes to be measured at FVTOCI because the perpetual notes are for long term investment 
purpose. The interest rates are subject to change at reset day with reset rate of 8.0% plus the prevailing yield for 
U.S. Treasury Securities at a constant maturity having a designated maturity of 5 years. During the year ended 31 
December 2022, one of the Perpetual Notes was being called.

(e) Senior Notes held by the Group bear a floating rate ranging from 3.89% to 6.33% (2021: from 1.52%% to 5.0%) per 
annum and with maturity dates from 3 July 2023 to 18 October 2024 (2021: from 1 September 2023 to 9 November 
2047). The interest rate is subject to change at reset day with reset rate ranging from 0.32% to 1.6% (2021: from 1.4% 
to 3.47%) plus 3 months USD LIBOR or secured overnight financing rate index.

(f) As at 31 December 2022, the unlisted investment funds classified as FVTPL include unlisted private equity funds 
and unlisted hedge funds with carrying values of USD290,247,000 and USD60,521,000 (2021: USD327,389,000 and 
USD76,125,000), respectively.

In accounting for the fair value measurement of the investment in unlisted private equity funds, the management of the 
Group has determined that the reported net asset value of the unlisted private equity funds provided by the general 
partners represented the fair value of the unlisted private equity funds. The general partners used methodology based 
on relevant comparable data wherever possible to quantify the adjustment from cost or latest financing price when 
adjustment is necessary, or to justify that cost or latest financing price is still a proper approximation of fair value of the 
underlying investments held by the unlisted private equity funds in determining the net asset value. The factors to be 
considered in general partners’ assessment may require the exercise of judgment. For the unrestricted actively traded 
public equity and debt instruments in the unlisted private equity funds, the fair value is determined based on closing 
price or bid price as of measurement date.

As at 31 December 2022, three (2021: three) out of these nine (2021: seven) unlisted private equity funds accounted 
for 85% (2021: 84%) of the aggregate carrying value, with the investment portfolio of these three funds being focused 
in listed and unlisted equity investments in technology, media and telecommunications and healthcare industry.
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17.  INVESTMENTS IN DEBT INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST/FINANCIAL 
ASSETS AT FVTPL/INVESTMENTS IN PERPETUAL NOTES AT FVTPL/INVESTMENTS IN 
PERPETUAL NOTES DESIGNATED AS AT FVTOCI (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(f) (continued)

The Group invested in ten (2021: eleven) unlisted hedge funds of carrying amount of USD60,521,000 (2021: 
USD76,125,000) as at 31 December 2022 which are managed by fund managers and invested in a variety of 
global financial securities across a range of strategies. The financial products include listed and unlisted equity 
shares, government bonds, corporate bonds, convertible bonds, options, futures, and swap contracts. As at 31 
December 2022, the Group has redeemed one of the unlisted hedge funds of USD8,532,000, which was included 
in other receivables as at 31 December 2022. During the year ended 31 December 2022, an increase in fair value 
of the redeemed unlisted hedge funds of USD549,000 (a decrease in fair value for year ended 31 December 2021: 
USD17,000) was recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

In accounting for the fair value measurement of the investment in unlisted hedge funds, the management of the Group 
has determined that the reported net asset values of the unlisted hedge funds provided by fund managers represented 
the fair value of the unlisted hedge funds. Securities of these funds which are listed or quoted on a national or regional 
securities or commodities exchange or market, are valued at their last sales price on the day of determination. The 
fair values of securities which are not listed or quoted are valued at the price of any recent transaction in issue with 
adjustments or observable prices in the open market or measured using techniques in which significant inputs are 
based on observable market data. The fair value of government bonds, corporate bonds, and convertible bonds is 
generally based on quoted prices or last reported sales prices when traded in active/observable markets. The fair 
value of options, futures and swap contracts is generally based on the last settlement price or quoted market prices 
on the date of determination. The factors to be considered in fund managers’ assessments may require the exercise of 
judgment.

 During the year ended 31 December 2022, a decrease in fair value of unlisted investment funds of USD86,523,000 
(2021: an increase in fair value for year ended 31 December 2021 of USD30,619,000) was recognised in consolidated 
profit or loss. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group received returns of capital of USD4,910,000 
(2021: USD70,282,000) plus distributions of USD5,446,000 (2021: USD39,833,000) from four (2021: four) of its unlisted 
investment funds.

(g) The Group invested seven (2021: five) unlisted equity investments with the carrying amount of USD36,966,000 (2021: 
USD39,182,000), which three of them engaged in financial technology, three engaged in information technology, and 
one engaged in financial service.

As at 31 December 2022, three (2021: three) unlisted equity investments are with the carrying amount of 
USD13,317,000 (2021: USD23,025,000). The valuation technique adopted is the market approach (i.e. comparable 
company approach). The valuation method used was the Guideline Public Company Method under Market approach. 
The significant unobservable inputs are price-to-sales multiple of 4.0x and 18.6x (2021: 29.6x, and 43.5x), and 
price-to-book multiple (2021: price-to-sales multiple) of 19.8x (2021: 30.0x), respectively.

As at 31 December 2022, two (2021: two) unlisted equity investments are with the carrying amount of USD15,704,000 
(2021: USD16,157,000). The valuation technique adopted is the market approach (i.e. comparable company 
approach). The valuation method used was the Guideline Public Company Method under Market approach with 
Option-Pricing Method (“OPM”) to allocate the enterprise value among different classes of shares. The significant 
unobservable inputs are price-to-sales multiple of 14.8x (2021: 19.5x) and price-to-sales multiple (2021: price-to-book 
multiple) of 24.1x (2021: 6.7x), risk-free rate of 4.68% and 4.75% (2021: 0.82% and 0.76%), expected volatility of 
46.75% and 75.5% (2021: 45.5% and 80.1%), expected initial public offering probability of 95% and 95% (2021: 95% 
and 95%), expected redemption probability of 5% and 0% (2021: 5% and 0%), and expected liquidation probability of 
0% and 5% (2021: 0% and 5%), respectively.
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17.  INVESTMENTS IN DEBT INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST/FINANCIAL 
ASSETS AT FVTPL/INVESTMENTS IN PERPETUAL NOTES AT FVTPL/INVESTMENTS IN 
PERPETUAL NOTES DESIGNATED AS AT FVTOCI (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(g) (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, an unlisted equity investment was converted from convertible notes into 
equity shares during the year with the carrying amount of USD7,871,000 (2021: USD8,681,000). As at 31 December 
2022, the valuation method used was the Guideline Public Company Method under Market approach with OPM 
to allocate the enterprise value among different classes of shares (2021: Monte Carlo simulations). The significant 
unobservable inputs are price-to-sales multiple of 2.7x (2021: 2.4x), and risk-free rate of 4.49% (2021: 0.30%), and 
expected volatility of 120% (2021: 40%). During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group disposed of 66.6% of 
equity interest in Enhanced Investment Management Limited that was a wholly owned subsidiary, for a consideration of 
USD148,000. As at 31 December 2022, the fair value of the remaining shares is determined and arrived at a valuation 
conducted by an independent professional valuer not connected with the Group, using cost approach. The remaining 
shares were subsequently sold in January 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group completed acquisitions of additional equity interests of 
subsidiaries which hold certain unlisted equity investments from non-controlling shareholders at a cash consideration 
of USD1,112,000 based on their net asset values, and these subsidiaries became wholly-owned subsidiaries of the 
Group after the acquisitions.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, a decrease in fair value of unlisted equity investments of USD9,825,000 was 
recognised in consolidated profit or loss (an increase in fair value for year ended 31 December 2021: USD4,087,000).

(h) The Group invested in convertible notes in a principal amount of USD17,000,000 with the maturity date of 30 April 
2023. The convertible notes carry interest at 1.0% per annum from the issue date of the convertible notes through and 
including the first anniversary of 30 April 2021 (“Closing”); 7.0% per annum from but not including the first anniversary 
of the Closing and through and including the date 18 months after the Closing; and 8.0% per annum from but not 
including the date 18 months after the date of the Closing and through and including the maturity date. The convertible 
notes will be converted if there is an automatic conversion triggering event or upon the Group’s election to convert all 
or part of the outstanding amount into shares of the issuer by, among other things, applying the applicable discount 
rate ranging from 75% to 85% on the outstanding principal and interest accrued. The significant unobservable inputs 
used in the fair value measurement are equity value of the note issuer, risk-free rate of 4.69% (31 December 2021: 
0.51%), expected volatility of 90% (2021: 80%), expected dividend yield of 0% (2021: 0%), remaining option life of 0.33 
years (2021: 1.33 years), and discount rate of nil (2021: 16%).

As at 31 December 2022, the fair value of the convertible notes is determined and arrived at a valuation conducted by 
an independent professional valuer not connected with the Group, using Monte Carlo simulations.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, an increase in fair value of the convertible notes of USD6,296,000 was 
recognised in profit or loss (an increase in fair value for year ended 31 December 2021: USD800,000).

(i) The fair value is determined based on the closing price per share quoted on the relevant stock exchanges and quoted 
market bid price as at the end of the respective reporting periods apart from the shares which the listing of shares had 
been cancelled by the Stock Exchange, the management considered that the fair value remained as nil.
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18. ACCOUNTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND DEPOSITS

2022 2021
USD’000 USD’000  

Accounts receivables from the business of dealing in securities:
Clients (Note b) 2,418 15,651
Clearing house and brokers 279 2,832

Accounts receivables from the business of dealing in futures contracts:
Clearing house and brokers 316 593  

Accounts receivables (Note a) 3,013 19,076
Other receivables and deposits (Note d) 13,255 1,618
Less: Impairment allowance (Note c) (897) (155)  

15,371 20,539
Less: Other receivables and deposits classified as non-current assets (564) (834)  
Accounts and other receivables classified as current assets 14,807 19,705  

Notes:

(a) Accounts receivables from clearing house and certain clients from the business of dealing in securities is repayable on 
the settlement date, which is two business days after trade date, except for the remaining accounts receivables from 
the business of dealing in securities and futures contracts are repayable on demand. No ageing analysis is disclosed 
as, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, an ageing analysis does not give additional value in view of the 
nature of these businesses.

(b) The majority of the accounts receivables from clients are secured by clients’ securities as collaterals with fair value of 
USD24,453,000 (2021: USD164,241,000). A significant portion of the collaterals are listed equity securities in Hong 
Kong. These receivables are mainly repayable on demand subsequent to settlement date and carry interest typically at 
3.63% to 18% (2021: 3% to 15%) per annum as at 31 December 2022. The collateral held can be sold at the Group’s 
discretion to settle any outstanding amount owed by customers. No ageing analysis is disclosed as, in the opinion of 
the directors of the Company, an ageing analysis does not give additional value in view of the nature of the business.

(c) Impairment assessment on accounts and other receivables with ECL model

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group applied internal credit rating for its customers and considers 
the fair value of its collateral. The Group assessed the ECL for accounts receivables from clients individually.

The Group held collateral of listed equity securities with a fair value of USD24,453,000 (2021: USD164,241,000) at the 
end of the reporting period in respect of accounts receivables from clients. No impairment allowance has been made 
for accounts receivables from clients with an aggregate outstanding balance of USD1,030,000 (2021: USD15,001,000), 
while parts of accounts receivables from clients with an aggregate outstanding balance of USD1,388,000 (31 
December 2021: USD650,000) occurred a provision of ECL of USD897,000 (31 December 2021: USD155,000) based 
on the Group’s impairment assessment with ECL model. The directors of the Company considered that the provision 
for ECL was sufficient. The details of the impairment assessment on accounts receivables with ECL model is disclosed 
in note 29(b).

(d) Included in other receivables and deposits are interest receivables, sundry deposits, and receivables from a hedge 
fund for redemption amounting to USD3,700,000, USD773,000 and USD8,532,000 (2021: USD229,000, USD1,001,000 
and nil), respectively. The receivable from a hedge fund for redemption is fully settled in January 2023 subsequent to 
settlement date. The details of the impairment assessment on other receivables with ECL model is disclosed in note 
29(b).
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19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Trading rights
USD’000 

COST
At 1 January 2021 2,265
Exchange realignments (3) 
At 31 December 2021, 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 2,262 
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2021 519
Exchange realignments (3) 
At 31 December 2021, 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 516 
CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2022 1,746 
At 31 December 2021 1,746 

Trading rights confer a right to the Group to trade securities, options contracts and futures contracts on or 
through the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the Hong Kong Futures Exchange Limited such that the Group can 
conduct the business of brokerage of securities and futures contracts, placing and underwriting services, margin 
financing, advisory, assets management and money lending.

Trading rights are considered by the directors of the Company as having indefinite useful life because there is 
no foreseeable limit on the period over which the trading right is expected to generate cash flows to the Group. 
Trading rights are not amortised until its useful life is determined to be finite. Instead, it is tested for impairment 
annually and whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired. For such purposes, trading right is 
allocated to two cash generating units (“CGU”s). The businesses of CGU 1 are brokerage of securities and 
futures contracts, placing and underwriting services, margin financing. The businesses of CGU 2 are brokerage 
of securities and futures contracts, placing and underwriting services, margin financing, asset management and 
money lending.

For the purposes of impairment testing, trading rights with indefinite useful lives have been allocated to the 
CGU 1 and CGU 2. The cost of trading rights as at 31 December 2022 allocated to CGU 1 and CGU 2 are 
USD516,000 and USD1,746,000 (2021: USD516,000 and USD1,746,000) respectively. For CGU 1, the cost of 
trading rights was fully impaired in the year ended 31 December 2018.

The recoverable amount of the CGUs has been determined based on a value in use (2021: value in use) 
calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the 
management covering a five-year period, and a pre-tax discount rate of 15.3% (2021: 13.1%) for CGU 2. The 
cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a steady 3.0% (2021: 2.7%) growth rate for 
CGU 2. This growth rate is based on past performance and the management’s expectations for the market 
development. Other key assumptions for the value in use (2021: value in use) calculation relate to the estimation 
of cash inflows/outflows which include budgeted revenue and such estimation is based on the unit’s past 
performance and the management’s expectations for the market development. The cash flow projections, growth 
rates and discount rate have been reassessed as at 31 December 2022 taking into consideration higher degree 
of estimation uncertainties in the current year due to how the COVID-19 pandemic may progress and evolve and 
volatility in financial markets, including potential disruptions of the Group’s financial services business.

Further details of the impairment testing on intangible assets with indefinite useful lives in CGU 2 are disclosed in 
note 20.
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20. GOODWILL

CGU 3 CGU 2 Total
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000   

COST
At 1 January 2021 1,482 17,972 19,454
Exchange realignments (9) — (9)   
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 1,473 17,972 19,445   
Exchange realignments (5) — (5)
Written off (762) — (762)   
At 31 December 2022 706 17,972 18,678   
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2021 1,482 — 1,482
Exchange realignments (9) — (9)   
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 1,473 — 1,473
Exchange realignments (5) — (5)
Written off (762) — (762)
Impairment charge — 943 943   
At 31 December 2022 706 943 1,649   
CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2022 — 17,029 17,029   
At 31 December 2021 — 17,972 17,972   

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated to CGU 2 and CGU 3. The business of CGU 
3 is brokerage of securities and futures contracts, placing and underwriting services, margin financing, advisory, 
asset management and money lending and the business of CGU 2 is disclosed in note 19.

For the purposes of impairment testing, the basis of the recoverable amounts of the above CGUs and their major 
underlying assumptions are summarised below:

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been determined based on a value in use (2021: value in use) 
calculation. The recoverable amounts were determined with the assistance of an independent professional 
qualified valuer not connected with the Group. That calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial 
budgets approved by the management covering a five-year period, and a pre-tax discount rate of 15.3% 
(2021:13.1%) for CGU. The cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a steady 3.0% (2021: 
2.7%) growth rate. This growth rate is based on past performance and the management’s expectations for the 
market development. Other key assumptions for the value in use (2021: value in use) calculation relate to the 
estimation of cash inflows/outflows which include budgeted revenue and such estimation is based on the unit’s 
past performance and management’s expectations for the market development including the fluctuation in the 
current economic environment. The cash flow projections, growth rates and discount rate have been reassessed 
as at 31 December 2022 taking into consideration higher degree of estimation uncertainties in the current year 
due to how the COVID-19 pandemic may progress and evolve and volatility in financial markets, including 
potential disruptions of the Group’s financial services business.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, due to the deterioration in capital market conditions in Hong Kong 
as a result of the prolonged COVID-19 pandemic, the performance of CGU 2 was worse than that for the year 
ended 31 December 2021. The directors of the Company have consequently determined impairment of goodwill 
directly related to CGU 2 amounting to USD943,000. The impairment loss has been included in profit or loss. 
No other write-down of the assets of CGU 2 is considered necessary. The recoverable amount of the CGU 2 
amounted to USD45.7 million as at 31 December 2022.

For CGU 3, the goodwill was fully impaired in the year ended 31 December 2018.
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21. BANK TRUST ACCOUNTS BALANCES

The Group maintains segregated trust accounts with licensed financial institutions to hold clients’ monies arising 
from the business of dealing in securities and futures contracts. The Group has classified the clients’ monies as 
cash held on behalf of customers under the current assets of the consolidated statement of financial position 
and recognised the corresponding accounts payables to respective clients on grounds that it is liable for any 
loss or misappropriation of clients’ monies. The Group is not allowed to use the clients’ monies to settle its own 
obligations.

22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS/TIME DEPOSITS WITH ORIGINAL MATURITIES 
OVER THREE MONTHS

Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits and short term deposits for the purpose of meeting the 
Group’s short term cash commitments. Bank balances held by the Group with original maturity within three 
months and accrued interest at prevailing market rates which range from 0.001% to 6.2% (2021: 0.001% to 
0.64%) per annum as at 31 December 2022.

Time deposits with original maturities over three months represent short-term bank deposits at effective interest 
rates at 3.96% per annum as at 31 December 2022 (2021: nil).

23. LEASE LIABILITIES

2022 2021
USD’000 USD’000  

Lease liabilities payable:
Within one year — 112
Within a period of more than one year but not more than two years — 27  

— 139
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months shown under current 

liabilities — (112)  
Amount due for settlement after 12 months shown under non-current liabilities — 27  

24. ACCOUNTS AND OTHER PAYABLES

2022 2021
USD’000 USD’000  

Accounts payables from the business of dealing in securities:
Clients 47,702 39,746
Clearing house and brokers 88 554

Accounts payables from the business of dealing in futures contracts:
Clients 1,010 995  

Accounts payables (Note a) 48,800 41,295
Other payables (Note b) 11,052 11,317  

59,852 52,612  

Notes:

(a) Accounts payables to clients mainly include money held in banks, brokers and clearing house on behalf of customers 
from the business of dealing in securities and futures contracts. The majority of the accounts payables from the 
business of dealing in securities and futures contracts are repayable on demand except for certain accounts payables 
from the business of dealing in securities are repayable on settlement date, which is two business days after trade 
date. No ageing analysis is disclosed for the accounts payables from the business of dealing in securities and futures 
contracts as, in the opinion of directors of the Company, the ageing analysis does not give additional value in view of 
the nature of these businesses.

(b) As at 31 December 2022, included in other payables are USD9,839,000 (2021: USD9,839,000) relating to the liabilities 
arising from the disposal of mining business during the year ended 31 December 2016.
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25. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The following is the major deferred tax liabilities recognised and movements thereon during the current year and 
prior year:

Fair value 
adjustment on 

intangible assets
USD’000 

At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 288 

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses of USD130,003,000 (2021: USD117,644,000) 
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of unused tax 
losses due to the unpredictability of future profits streams. The tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

26. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of shares Value
USD’000  

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of HKD0.01 each
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, 1 January 2022 and 31 

December 2022 60,000,000,000 76,923  
Issued and fully paid:

Ordinary shares of HKD0.01 each
At 1 January 2021 27,048,844,786 34,871
Consolidation of shares and cancellation of paid-up capital (Note a) (26,598,030,707) (34,273)  

At 31 December 2021, 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 450,814,079 598  

Note:

(a) Capital reorganisation

Pursuant to the ordinary resolutions passed at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 24 June 2021 and 
the approval granted by the Listing Committee of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, the capital reorganisation set out 
below became effective on 28 June 2021:

(i) every sixty (60) issued and unissued shares of the Company of par value of HKD0.01 each were consolidated 
into one (1) consolidated share of par value of HKD0.6 each and any fractional consolidated share in the 
issued share capital was cancelled; and

(ii) the par value of each issued consolidated share was reduced from HKD0.6 to HKD0.01 by cancelling the 
paid-up capital to the extent of HKD0.59 on each issued consolidated share.

27. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted a share option scheme pursuant to a resolution passed by shareholders on 18 June 2014 
(the “2014 Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives or rewards to directors, employees, customers, 
suppliers, providers of research, development or technical support, shareholders and holders of securities 
of the Group and its invested entities, in which the Group holds not less than 10% equity interest (“Eligible 
Participants”). Under the 2014 Scheme, the Board of Directors may grant options to Eligible Participants to 
subscribe for shares in the Company. The Company revised the general scheme limit allowing the Company 
to issue options representing no more than 22,540,703 shares under the 2014 Scheme for the option incentive 
purpose of the Group and made certain amendments in relation to the scheme limit which have been approved 
at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 15 June 2018 (“Amendments to the 2014 Scheme”).
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27.  SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Upon the Amendments to the 2014 Scheme, the maximum number of shares of the Company which may be 
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under 2014 Scheme or any other 
share option scheme adopted by the Company must not in aggregate exceed 15% of its issued share capital 
from time to time. The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted 
under the 2014 Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 5% of 
the shares in issue unless it is approved by shareholders in a general meeting of the Company. The maximum 
number of shares issuable under the options to each eligible participant in any twelve-month period is limited 
to 0.5% of the shares in issue unless it is approved by shareholders in a general meeting of the Company. Any 
grant of options under the 2014 Scheme to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company 
or any of their respective associates must be approved by independent non-executive directors (excluding any 
independent non-executive director who is the grantee of the options). Any share options granted to a substantial 
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the Company or to any of their respective associates, in 
excess of 0.1% of the shares in issue and with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the shares at 
the date of grant) in excess of HKD5,000,000 (approximately USD641,000), in any 12-month period, are subject 
to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting of the Company.

No option was granted or outstanding during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

28. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern 
while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s 
overall strategy remains unchanged from the previous year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued 
share capital, reserves and retained earnings.

Certain subsidiaries of the Company are licensed with Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong (“SFC”). 
The Group’s licensed subsidiaries are subject to liquid capital requirements under Securities and Futures 
(Financial Resources) Rules (“SF(FR)R”) (Chapter 571N of the Laws of Hong Kong) adopted by the SFC. The 
management closely monitors, on a daily basis, the liquid capital level of those licensed subsidiaries to ensure 
compliance with the minimum liquid capital requirements under the SF(FR)R.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure regularly. As part of this review, the directors consider 
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the 
directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues, 
share buy-backs or raising of new debt.

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

29a. Categories of financial instruments

2022 2021
USD’000 USD’000  

Financial assets
Amortised cost 1,003,991 1,019,610
Financial assets at FVTPL 480,554 556,178
Financial assets designated as at FVTOCI 2,821 —  
Financial liabilities
Amortised cost 59,636 52,352  
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

29b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include financial assets at FVTPL, investments in debt 
instruments measured at amortised cost, investments in perpetual notes at FVTPL and designated as at 
FVTOCI, accounts and other receivables and deposits, bank trust accounts balances, time deposits with 
original maturities over three months, cash and cash equivalents, accounts and other payables and lease 
liabilities. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated 
with these financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The 
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented 
on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
(i) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate Senior Notes and lease 
liabilities and cash flow interest rate risk in relation to bank balances and variable-rate Senior 
Notes.

The interest income is derived from the Group’s current and fixed deposits that carry interest at the 
respective banking deposit rate of the banks located in Hong Kong. The Group’s bank deposits 
(set out in note 22) carried interest at prevailing market rates.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy. However, the management 
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should 
the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for 
bank balances and variable-rate Senior Notes. The analysis is prepared assuming the financial 
instruments outstanding at the end of the period were outstanding for the whole year. A 100 basis 
points (2021: 50 basis points) increase or decrease is used for bank balances and variable-rate 
Senior Notes, and when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel 
and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates 
respectively. 

If interest rates had been 100 basis points (2021: 50 basis points) for variable-rate bank balances 
and Senior Notes higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s loss for 
the year ended 31 December 2022 would decrease/increase by USD8,842,000 and USD111,000 
(2021: post-tax profit would increase/decrease by USD4,504,000 and USD83,000), respectively. 
This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its bank balances and 
variable-rate Senior Notes.
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29.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

29b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)
(ii) Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from investments in perpetual notes at 
FVTPL and designated as at FVTOCI (note 17(d)) and unlisted investments (including unlisted 
investment funds (note 17(f)), unlisted equity investments (note 17(g)) and unlisted convertible 
notes (note 17(h)) and listed equity investments (note 17(i)) at FVTPL.

The Group’s listed equity price risk is mainly concentrated in equity instruments quoted on 
the stock exchanges for which quoted market bid price is available. The independent valuer 
conducted researches and estimated the liquidation value of the investee group, taking into 
account the prolonged duration of the suspension from trading of shares.

The Group maintains an investment portfolio which comprises listed and unlisted equities. 
Investments are chosen to enhance creation of capital value for trading purpose as well as for long 
term potential growth.

Equity investments are subject to asset allocation limits to control appropriate risks. The portfolio 
size is regularly reviewed and the price movements are closely monitored by the investment 
committee and the directors of the Group, who will take appropriate actions when required.

Sensitivity analysis
As at 31 December 2022, it is estimated that an increase/decrease of 5% (2021: 5%) in the fair 
value of the Group’s investments in perpetual notes at FVTPL, unlisted investments and listed 
equity investments at FVTPL, with all other variables held constant, would have decreased/
increased the Group’s post-tax loss by USD23,703,000 (2021: post-tax profit would increase/
decrease USD27,565,000).

As at 31 December 2022, it is estimated that an increase/decrease of 5% (2021: nil) in the fair 
value of the Group’s Investments in perpetual notes designated as at FVTOCI, with all other 
variables held constant, would have decreased/increased the Group’s total comprehensive 
expense by USD141,000 (2021: nil).

(iii) Currency risk
Most of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities are denominated in USD and HKD which are the 
same as the functional currency of the respective Group entities. In addition, the Group has certain 
financial assets and financial liabilities denominated in Australian Dollar (“AUD”), Chinese Yuan 
Renminbi (“CNY”), Pound sterling (“GBP”), and Swedish Kronor (“SEK”).

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, USD are stable with HKD under the Linked 
Exchange Rate System, and accordingly, the Group does not have any significant foreign 
exchange risk in respect of transactions or balances as denominated in HKD. Accordingly, no 
sensitivity analysis is performed on HKD.
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29.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

29b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)
(iii) Currency risk (continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary 
liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2022 2021
USD’000 USD’000  

Assets
AUD 1,138 2,239
CNY 9,297 18,019
GBP 682 495
SEK 1,709 11,738  
Liabilities
AUD 999 2,134
CNY 121 110
GBP 626 428  

The Group currently does not have a foreign exchange hedging policy. However, the management 
of the Group monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign 
exchange exposure should the need arises.

Sensitivity analysis
The Group’s foreign currency risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation among AUD, CNY, 
GBP and SEK against USD. The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 7% (2021: 7%) 
increase and decrease in the USD against the foreign currencies. 7% (2021: 7%) is the sensitivity 
rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and 
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange 
rates. As at 31 December 2022, a positive/(negative) number indicates and decrease/increase 
in loss before taxation for the year where the USD strengthens against the relevant foreign 
currencies. For a 7% (2021: 7%) weakening of the USD against the relevant foreign currencies, 
there would be an equal and opposite impact on profit before taxation.

Loss before taxation

2022 2021
USD’000 USD’000  

AUD (10) (7)
CNY (642) (1,254)
GBP (4) (5)
SEK (120) (822)  

(776) (2,088)  
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29.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

29b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of the counterparties’ failure to discharge their 
obligations in relation to each class of recognised financial assets excluding equity investments are the 
amounts stated in the consolidated statement of financial position. In order to minimise the credit risk, the 
management of the Group has determined credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures 
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In this regard, the directors of the 
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has concentrations of credit risk comprising time deposits placed at a financial institution 
included in the Group’s bank balances of USD335,360,000 (2021: USD271,557,000), which represents 
approximately 38% (2021: 30%) of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents and time deposits with original 
maturities over three months. The management considers the credit risk on such balances held at the 
financial institution is limited because the financial institution is with high credit rating.

Impairment assessment under ECL model
As at 31 December 2021 and 2022, except for the credit risks associated with accounts receivables 
from clients from the business of dealing in securities, which are mitigated by the security over equity 
securities, the Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover the credit risks 
associated with other financial assets. Those carrying amounts best represent the Group’s maximum 
exposure to credit risk. In the event of failure of the counterparties to discharge their obligation, the 
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk will be the financial loss of the carrying amount of the respective 
financial assets recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises the following categories under the general
approach:

Internal credit rating Description

Accounts receivables 
and investments in 
debt instruments at 
amortised cost   

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not 
have any past-due amounts

12-month ECL

Watch list A borrower frequently repays after due dates but 
usually settle after due date or extension of loan 
mutually agreed by the Group and borrower 
(accounts receivables in margin financing: no 
shortfall)

12-month ECL

Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit 
risk since initial recognition through information 
developed internally or external resources (accounts 
receivables in margin financing: shortfall outstanding 
between 1 and 30 days)

Lifetime ECL — not 
credit-impaired

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit 
impaired (accounts receivables in margin financing: 
shortfall outstanding for over 30 days)

Lifetime ECL — credit 
impaired

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the borrower is in 
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no 
realistic prospect of recovery

Amount is written off
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29.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

29b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Impairment assessment under ECL model (continued)
Accounts receivables
In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for 
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. Before accepting any new client, the Group assesses 
the potential customer’s credit quality and defines its credit limit. Credit limits attributed to clients are 
reviewed regularly. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk 
is significantly reduced. In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on 
accounts balances individually.

The management performs periodic evaluations on clients to ensure the Group’s exposure to bad debts 
is not significant. The experience in collection of accounts receivables from clients from the business of 
dealing in securities falls within the expectation of the directors. The management has continued to adopt 
business initiatives to enlarge the customer base of business of dealing in securities in order to reduce 
and also mitigate concentrations of credit risk.

The accounts receivables from clients from the business of dealing in securities have been reviewed 
by the management to assess impairment allowances which based on evaluation of collectability and 
on management’s judgment, including the current creditworthiness and the past collection statistics 
of individual account and collateral held by the Group. ECL on accounts receivables amounting to 
USD897,000 (2021: USD155,000) was recognised as at 31 December 2022.

The credit risk for accounts receivables from clearing houses and brokers is considered as not material 
taking into account the good market reputations and high credit ratings of the counterparties.

Other receivables and deposits
In determining the ECL for other receivables and deposits, the management of the Group has taken 
into account the historical default experience, for example, the Group has considered the consistently 
low historical default rate in connection with payments as adjusted by forward-looking information, 
and concluded that credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding other receivables and deposits is 
insignificant.

Investments in debt instruments at amortised cost
The Group assesses the credit risk of the investments in debt securities at the end of each reporting 
period. The Group’s debt instruments at amortised cost mainly comprise listed bonds that are graded 
by credit rating agencies as per globally understood definitions and some bonds without external credit 
rating are assessed by internal credit analysis.

The Group assessed the ECL for debt instruments at amortised cost by reference to credit rating of the 
bond investment by rating agencies, corporate historical default and loss rate and exposure of default of 
each bond investment. The Group also considered macroeconomic factors and recent forward-looking 
information affecting the respective region and industry for each issuer in the assessment.

The Group’s investments in debt instruments at amortised cost mainly comprise instruments that have 
a low risk of default or the issuers have a strong capacity to repay (e.g. financial instruments that are of 
investment grade or issuer with good credit history and capacity to repay etc). As at 31 December 2022, 
three of the Senior Notes carrying a gross amount of USD2,519,000 with original maturity dates in July 
2023, January 2024 and May 2024 have a provision of lifetime ECL of USD1,414,000. During the year 
ended 31 December 2022, ECL on investments in debt instruments at amortised cost decreased by 
USD1,391,000 (2021: increased by USD2,064,000).
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29.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

29b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Impairment assessment under ECL model (continued)
Bank balances, bank trust accounts balances and time deposits with original maturities over three months
The management of the Group considers the bank balances, bank trust accounts balances and time 
deposits with original maturities over three months that are deposited with the financial institutions with 
high credit rating to be low credit risk financial assets. The management of the Group considers the 
probability of default is negligible on the basis of high credit rating issuers, accordingly, no loss allowance 
was recognised.

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s financial assets, which are subject to ECL 
assessment:

Notes
Internal credit 

ratings ECL Model

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance

2022 2022 2021 2021
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000    

Financial assets at 
amortised cost

Investments in debt 
instruments measured at 
amortised cost

17 Low risk 12m ECL 55,749 347 61,153 2,781

Investments in debt 
instruments measured at 
amortised cost

17 Doubtful Lifetime ECL 
— not credit-

impaired

— — 1,014 371

Investments in debt 
instruments measured at 
amortised cost

17 Loss Lifetime ECL — 
credit impaired

2,519 1,414 — —

Accounts receivables 18 Low risk 12m ECL 1,621 14 19,076 155
Accounts receivables 18 Loss Lifetime ECL — 

credit-impaired
1,392 883 — —

Other receivables and 
deposits

18 N/A 12m ECL 13,081 — 1,398 —

Bank trust accounts balances 21 N/A 12m ECL 48,037 — 39,430 —
Bank balances (included 

in cash and cash 
equivalents)

22 N/A 12m ECL 854,250 — 900,845 —

Time deposits with original 
maturities over three 
months

22 N/A 12m ECL 30,000 — — —

The following table shows reconciliation of loss allowances that have been recognised for investments in 
debt instruments measured at amortised cost and accounts receivables.
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29.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

29b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Impairment assessment under ECL model (continued)
Bank balances, bank trust accounts balances and time deposits with original maturities over three months 
(continued)

Investments in debt instruments 
measured at amortised cost Accounts Receivables

Total

  

12m ECL

Lifetime ECL 
— not credit-

impaired

Lifetime ECL 
— credit 
impaired 12m ECL

Lifetime ECL 
— credit-
impaired

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000      
At 1 January 2021 214 874 — 18 — 1,106
Impairment allowance recognised 2,584 1,605 — 137 — 4,326
Transferred from 12m ECL to 

Lifetime ECL (17) 17 — — — —
Write-offs — (2,125) — — — (2,125)      
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 

2022 2,781 371 — 155 — 3,307
Impairment allowance recognised 649 — 1,255 9 730 2,643
Exchange realignments — — — 3 — 3
Transferred from 12m ECL to 

Lifetime ECL (159) — 159 (153) 153 —
Write-offs (2,924) (371) — — — (3,295)      
At 31 December 2022 347 — 1,414 14 883 2,658      

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, there is no impairment allowance for other 
receivables and deposits, bank trust accounts balances, bank balances, and time deposits with original 
maturities over three months. As at 31 December 2022, impairment allowances of USD1,761,000 and 
USD897,000 (2021: USD3,152,000 and USD155,000) were made for investments in debt instruments at 
amortised cost and accounts receivables, respectively.

Liquidity risk
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash 
equivalents deemed adequate by management to finance the operations of the Group and to maintain a 
balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of borrowings.

The following tables detail the remaining contractual maturity for the non-derivative financial liabilities. 
The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the 
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal 
cash flows.
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29.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

29b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)
Liquidity tables

Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate

On demand 
or less than 1 

month 1–3 months
3 months to 1 

year
More than 1 

year

Total 
undiscounted 

cash flow
Carrying 
amount

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000       
At 31 December 2022
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Accounts and other payables — 59,636 — — — 59,636 59,636

      
At 31 December 2021
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Accounts and other payables — 52,213 — — — 52,213 52,213
Lease liabilities 5% 9 18 81 36 144 139      

52,222 18 81 36 52,357 52,352
      

29c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments
The fair value of financial assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis:
• the fair values of the listed equity investments were determined based on their closing prices per 

share quoted on the relevant stock exchanges and quoted market bid prices as at the end of the 
respective reporting periods apart from the shares which the listing of shares had been cancelled 
by the Stock Exchange, the management considered that the fair value remained as nil, more 
details are stated in note 17;

• the fair values of Perpetual Notes were determined based on the quoted prices provided by the 
financial institution supported by observable inputs; and

• the fair values of unlisted investments were based on fair values of quoted prices in the open 
market or observable prices or using valuation techniques, more details are stated in note 17.

Fair value of Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis
The Company has closely monitored the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value 
measurements.
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29.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

29c.  Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

Fair value of Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis (continued)
The following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets are determined (in 
particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the level of fair value hierarchy into which 
the fair value measurements are categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to 
the fair value measurements is observable.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000    

At 31 December 2022
Financial assets
Unlisted investments (classified 

as financial assets at FVTPL) (Note a) — — 411,830 411,830
Listed equity securities 

(classified as financial assets 
at FVTPL) (Note b) 46,138 — — 46,138

Perpetual Notes (classified as 
financial assets at FVTPL) (Note c) — 22,586 — 22,586

Perpetual Notes (classified as 
financial assets designated as 
at FVTOCI) (Note c) — 2,821 — 2,821    

46,138 25,407 411,830 483,375    
At 31 December 2021
Financial assets
Unlisted investments (classified 

as financial assets at FVTPL) (Note a) — — 469,177 469,177
Listed equity securities 

(classified as financial assets 
at FVTPL) (Note b) 57,968 — — 57,968

Perpetual Notes (classified as 
financial assets at FVTPL) (Note c) — 29,033 — 29,033    

57,968 29,033 469,177 556,178    

Notes:

(a) As at 31 December 2022, the fair value of unlisted investment funds classified as financial assets at FVTPL 
include unlisted private equity funds, unlisted hedge funds, unlisted equity investments and convertible notes.

In accounting for the fair value measurement of the investment in unlisted private equity funds, the management 
of the Group has determined that the reported net asset value of unlisted private equity funds provided by 
the general partners represent the fair value of the unlisted private equity funds. The general partners used 
methodology based on relevant comparable data whether possible to quantify the adjustment from cost or 
latest equity financing price when adjustment if necessary, or to justify that cost or latest financing price is still 
a proper approximation of fair value of the underlying investments held by the unlisted private equity funds in 
determining the net asset value. The factors to be considered in general partners’ assessment may require the 
exercise of the judgment. The underlying investments of USD290,247,000 (2021: USD327,389,000) held by 
the private equity funds were valued using cost or latest equity financing price without adjustment, except for 
six (2021: one) of the underlying investments of approximately USD35.5 million (2021: USD12.9 million) which 
were valued under market approach (i.e. comparable companies approach) by the general partners.

For the underlying investments valued using cost or latest equity financing price without adjustment or latest 
equity financing price without adjustment, there is no significant unobservable input. The higher the reported 
net assets values of the unlisted private equity funds are, the higher the fair value of the unlisted private equity 
funds is.
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29.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

29c.  Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

Fair value of Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(a) (continued)

As at 31 December 2022, for the six (2021: one) underlying investments of the unlisted private equity 
funds using the market approach, the general partner adopts methodologies with judgment in considering 
assumptions those marketplace participants would utilise in their estimate of fair value. The significant 
unobservable inputs involved in the valuation of two underlying investments of the unlisted investment funds 
using the market approach are the revenue multiples or gross merchandise value multiples and discount of 
lack of marketability. The valuation of five out of six (2021: one) underlying investment of the unlisted private 
equity fund adopted the revenue multiples of ranging from 2.2x to 8.7x (2021: 2.2x), and one underlying 
investment of the unlisted private equity fund adopted the gross merchandise value multiples of 0.7x and 
discount of lack of marketability of ranging from 15% to 29.1% (2021:22%) respectively. The higher the revenue 
multiples or gross merchandise value multiples and the lower the discount of lack of marketability are, the 
higher the fair value of the unlisted private equity funds is. The sensitivity analysis has been determined based 
on the exposure to significant unobservable inputs of revenue multiples or gross merchandise value multiples 
and discount of lack of marketability. If the revenue multiples or gross merchandise value multiples has been 
1% higher/lower, the fair value would increase/decrease by approximately USD337,000 (2021: USD122,000); 
if the discount of lack of marketability has been 100 basis points higher/lower, the fair value would decrease/
increase by approximately USD435,000 (2021: USD157,000).

In accounting for the fair value measurement of the investment in unlisted hedge funds, the management of 
the Group has determined that the reported net asset values of the unlisted hedge funds provided by the by 
financial institutions represented the fair value of the unlisted hedge funds. The factors to be considered in 
financial institutions’ assessment may require the exercise of judgment. The higher the reported net assets 
values of the unlisted hedge funds are, the higher the fair value of the unlisted hedge funds is.

The fair value measurement of the investment in six (2021: five) unlisted equity investments was determined 
by market approach with a combination of observable and unobservable inputs and arrived at a valuation 
conducted by an independent professional valuer not connected to the Group. For the three (2021: two) 
unlisted equity investment with carrying value of approximately USD23,575,000 (2021: USD16,157,000). 
measured under Guideline Public Company Method under Market Approach and the OPM. If the price-to-sales 
multiple and price-to book multiple, respectively, has been 100 basis point higher/lower, holding other 
inputs as constant, the fair value would increase/decrease by approximately USD212,000 or USD200,000 
(2021: USD1,613,000). If the expected volatility has been 300 basis point higher/lower, holding other inputs 
as constant, the fair value would decrease by approximately USD6,000 or USD11,000 (2021: USD5,000). If 
the expected initial public offering probability has been 100 basis point higher/lower and it would result in 
decrease/increase in the same 100 basis point in expected liquidation probability, holding other inputs as 
constant, the fair value would increase/decrease by approximately USD35,000 (2021: USD33,000). 

For the remaining three (2021: three) unlisted equity investments with carrying value of approximately 
USD13,317,000 (2021: USD23,025,000) measured under Guideline Public Company Method under Market 
Approach. If the price-to-sales multiple has been 100 basis points higher/lower, the fair value would increase/
decrease by approximately USD139,000 (2021: USD708,000).

The fair value of unlisted convertible notes of USD24,096,000 is determined and arrived at a valuation 
conducted by an independent professional valuer not connected with the Group, using Monte Carlo 
simulations. The higher the equity value of the underlying investment or the lower the discount rate is, the 
higher the fair value of the convertible notes is. The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the 
exposure to significant unobservable inputs of equity value of the underlying investment and discount rate. 
If the equity value of the underlying investment has been 1% higher/lower, the fair value would increase or 
decrease by approximately USD386,000 or USD7,000 (2021: USD143,000 or USD52,000), respectively; if the 
discount rate has been 100 basis points higher or lower, the fair value would decrease/increase by nil (2021: 
USD48,000 or USD223,000), respectively.

The other details of the unlisted investments are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.
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29.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

29c.  Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

Fair value of Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(b) The fair value of listed equity investments with standard terms and conditions and traded in active liquid 
markets are determined with reference to quoted market bid prices; except for the shares which the listing of 
the shares had been cancelled by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, the management considered that the fair 
value was remained as nil.

(c) The fair value of Perpetual Notes included in investments in perpetual notes at FVTPL and designated as 
at FVTOCI is determined based on the quoted price from the financial institutions supported by observable 
inputs.

(d) For the year ended 31 December 2022, there is no transfer among level 1, 2 and 3.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial asset
Unlisted investments (classified as financial assets at FVTPL)

USD’000 
At 1 January 2021 190,377

Purchases 219,032
Return on capital (4,132)
Gain recognised in profit or loss 63,900 

At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 469,177
Purchases 47,419
Redemption (8,532)
Return on capital (4,910)
Loss recognised in profit or loss (91,324) 

At 31 December 2022 411,830 

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis:

• the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities (excluding financial assets at FVTPL) 
are determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash 
flow analysis.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at 
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

29d. Financial assets and financial liabilities offsetting
The disclosures set out in the tables below include financial assets and financial liabilities that are 
subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement that covers similar financial 
instruments that are either:

• offset in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position; or
• not offset in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position as the offsetting criteria are 

not met.

Under the agreement of continuous net settlement made between the Group and Hong Kong Securities 
Clearing Company Limited (“HKSCC”) and brokers, the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the 
money obligations receivable and payable with HKSCC and the Group intends to settle these balances 
on a net basis.
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29.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

29d.  Financial assets and financial liabilities offsetting (continued)

In addition, the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the accounts receivable and payable 
with its same retail customers in the Group’s brokerage business (“brokerage clients”) that are due to 
be settled on the same date with reference to the settlement method set by the HKSCC and the Group 
intends to settle these balances on a net basis.

Except for balances which are due to be settled on the same date which are being offset, amounts due 
from/to HKSCC, brokers and brokerage clients that are not to be settled on the same date, financial 
collateral including cash and securities received by the Group and deposits placed with HKSCC and 
brokers do not meet the criteria for offsetting in the consolidated statement of financial position since the 
right of set-off of the recognised amounts is only enforceable following an event of default.

Gross 
amounts of 
recognised 

financial 
assets after 
impairment

Gross 
amounts of 
recognised 

financial 
liabilities 

set off in the 
consolidated 

statement 
of financial 

position

Net amounts 
of financial 

assets 
presented 

in the 
consolidated 

statement 
of financial 

position

Related amounts not offset in 
the consolidated statement of 

financial position

Net amount

 
Financial 

instruments
Collateral 
received

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000      
As at 31 December 2022
Accounts receivable from the business of 

dealing in securities 2,166 (366) 1,800 — (1,176) 624

As at 31 December 2021
Accounts receivable from the business of 

dealing in securities 19,580 (1,252) 18,328 — (15,497) 2,831      

Gross 
amounts of 
recognised 

financial 
liabilities

Gross 
amounts of 
recognised 

financial 
assets set 

off in the 
consolidated 

statement 
of financial 

position

Net amounts 
of financial 

liabilities 
presented 

in the 
consolidated 

statement 
of financial 

position

Related amounts not offset in 
the consolidated statement of 

financial position

Net amount

 
Financial 

instruments
Collateral 
received

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000      
As at 31 December 2022
Accounts payable from the business of 

dealing in securities 48,156 (366) 47,790 — — 47,790

As at 31 December 2021
Accounts payable from the business of 

dealing in securities 41,552 (1,252) 40,300 — — 40,300      

The gross amounts of the recognised financial assets and financial liabilities and their net amounts as 
presented in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position, both of which have been disclosed 
in the above tables, are measured as accounts receivable from, or payable to brokerage clients and 
clearing house and brokers at amortised cost.
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30. OPERATING LEASES

The Group as a lessor
Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

2022 2021
USD’000 USD’000  

Not later than one year 1,448 1,303
Later than one year and not later than five years 1,057 2,505  

2,505 3,808  

31. OTHER COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following other commitments:

2022 2021
USD’000 USD’000  

Other commitments contracted for but not provided for in the consolidated 
financial statements in respect of capital contribution in unlisted 
investments which will be recognised as financial assets at FVTPL 94,278 113,948  

32. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Emoluments to directors (being the key management personnel compensation) are disclosed in note 11(a). They 
do not fall within the definition of connected transaction or continuing connected transaction in Chapter 14A of 
the Listing Rules.

33. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group participates in a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) established under the 
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for all its employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF 
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. Under the rules of 
MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make contributions to MPF Scheme at rates 
specified in the rules. The only obligation of the Group with respect to MPF Scheme is to make the required 
contributions under the MPF Scheme. No forfeited contributions are available to reduce the contributions 
payable in future years.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the total amount contributed by the Group to the MPF Scheme 
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss was USD124,000 (2021: USD137,000).

34. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash 
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future 
cash flow will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing 
activities.

Lease liabilities
USD’000 

At 1 January 2021 54
Addition 206
Financing cash outflows (126)
Interest expenses 6
Exchange realignments (1) 
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 139
Financing cash outflows (63)
Write off (79)
Interest expenses 3 
At 31 December 2022 — 
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

2022 2021
Note USD’000 USD’000  

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 5 11
Investments in subsidiaries — —  

5 11  
CURRENT ASSETS
Other receivables 209 250
Amounts due from subsidiaries 1,520,344 1,312,793
Cash and cash equivalents 10,391 175,393  

1,530,944 1,488,436  
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables 460 431
Amounts due to subsidiaries 130,048 84,616  

130,508 85,047  
NET CURRENT ASSETS 1,400,436 1,403,389  

1,400,441 1,403,400
  

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 26 598 598
Reserves a 1,399,843 1,402,802  
Total equity 1,400,441 1,403,400

  

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 
Directors on 30 March 2023 and is signed on its behalf by:

Leung Oi Kin Leung Wai Yiu, Malcoln
Director Director
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35.  STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Note:

(a) Reserves

Share 
premium

Capital 
redemption 

reserve
Contributed 

surplus
Exchange 

reserve
Retained 
earnings Total

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000      
At 1 January 2021 1,023,183 212 23,618 1,733 293,232 1,341,978
Profit for the year — — — — 34,515 34,515
Exchange realignment — — — (7,964) — (7,964)      
Total comprehensive (expense)/income 

for the year — — — (7,964) 34,515 26,551      
Capital reorganisation (Note 26 (a)) — — 34,273 — — 34,273      
At 31 December 2021 and  

1 January 2022 1,023,183 212 57,891 (6,231) 327,747 1,402,802
Profit for the year — — — — 4,096 4,096
Exchange realignment — — — (147) — (147)      
Total comprehensive (expense)/income 

for the year — — — (147) 4,096 3,949      
Final 2021 dividend recognised as 

distribution — — — — (6,908) (6,908)      
At 31 December 2022 1,023,183 212 57,891 (6,378) 324,935 1,399,843      

The contributed surplus of the Company includes (i) the difference between the consolidated shareholders’ 
funds of the subsidiaries at the date at which they were acquired by the Company, and the nominal amount of 
the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition at the time of the Group reorganisation prior to the listing of the 
Company’s shares in 1994; (ii) the surplus arising from the Group reorganisation in 1998; and (iii) the surplus 
arising from capital reorganisations in June 2009 and in June 2021.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the contributed surplus account of the Company is 
available for distribution. However, the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of 
contributed surplus if:

(a) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(b) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued 
share capital and share premium accounts.

The reserve available for distribution to shareholders at 31 December 2022 is USD382,826,000 (2021: 
USD385,638,000).
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36. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

General information of subsidiaries
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Place of 
incorporation/
operation

Class of 
shares

Paid up issued/
registered capital Proportion of ownership interests held by the Company Proportion of voting power held by the Company Principal activities

Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
31.12. 2022 31.12. 2021 31.12. 2022 31.12. 2021 31.12. 2022 31.12. 2021 31.12. 2022 31.12. 2021

% % % % % % % %             
Abner Holdings Limited British Virgin 

Islands (“BVI”)/
Hong Kong 
(“HK”)

Ordinary USD1 – – 100 100 – – 100 100 Real property

Abundant Idea Limited BVI/HK Ordinary USD1 – – 100 100 – – 100 100 Real property
Ace Emperor Limited BVI/HK Ordinary USD1 – – 100 100 – – 100 100 Real property
Alpha Trend International Limited BVI Ordinary USD7,390 – – 97.6 97.6 – – 97.6 97.6 Investment
Charming Ocean Investments 

Limited
BVI Ordinary USD6,700 – – 100 100 – – 100 100 Investment

Classic Idea Investments Limited BVI Ordinary USD1 – – 100 100 – – 100 100 Fund investment
Data Giant International Limited BVI Ordinary USD1 – – 100 100 – – 100 100 Fund investment
Diamond Fortune Global Limited BVI Ordinary USD6,375 – – 100 96.9 – – 100 96.9 Investment
Enhanced Securities Limited HK Ordinary HKD80,000,000 

(2022)
HKD450,000,000 

(2021)

– – 100 100 – – 100 100 Dealing in securities

Fabulous Stage Limited BVI Ordinary USD8,200 – – 100 97.6 – – 100 97.6 Investment
Funderstone Asset Management 

(HK) Limited
HK Ordinary HKD400,000 – – 100 100 – – 100 100 Asset management

Funderstone Finance Limited HK Ordinary HKD5,000,000 – – 100 100 – – 100 100 Money lending
Funderstone Futures Limited HK Ordinary USD2,000,000 – – 100 100 – – 100 100 Dealing in futures contracts, 

advising on futures 
contracts and asset 
management

Funderstone Securities Limited HK Ordinary HKD2,000,000,000
 (2022)

HKD500,000,000
 (2021)

– – 100 100 – – 100 100 Dealing in securities, 
provision of securities 
margin financing and 
advising on securities 
and corporate finance, 
and asset management

Funderstone Securities 
(Nominees) Limited

HK Ordinary HK10,000 – – 100 100 – – 100 100 Provision of trust and 
company services

GC HCM (BVI) Limited BVI Ordinary USD2,000 – – 100 92.0 – – 100 92.0 Investment
Global Access Development 

Limited
HK Ordinary HKD1 – – 100 100 – – 100 100 Money lending

Great Heart Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary USD1 – – 100 100 – – 100 100 Fund investment
Maximum Gains Group Limited BVI Ordinary USD1 – – 100 100 – – 100 100 Fund investment
Prime Classic Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary USD1 – – 100 100 – – 100 100 Securities investment
Ravi Global Limited BVI/HK Ordinary USD1 – – 100 100 – – 100 100 Securities investment
Royal Glorious Limited HK Ordinary HKD1 100 100 – – 100 100 – – Treasury management
Smart Blend Limited BVI Ordinary USD1 – – 100 100 – – 100 100 Fund investment
Smart Blooming Limited BVI Ordinary USD1 – – 100 100 – – 100 100 Fund investment
Starry View Global Limited BVI/HK Ordinary USD1 – – 100 100 – – 100 100 Securities investment
Summer Chance Limited BVI Ordinary USD1,700 – – 92.9 92.9 – – 92.9 92.9 Investment
Sunshine Hero Global Limited BVI/HK Ordinary USD1 – – 100 100 – – 100 100 Securities investment
Trade Champion Enterprises 

Limited
BVI Ordinary USD5,000 – – 100 98.2 – – 100 98.2 Investment

Well Advantage Global Limited BVI Ordinary USD1 – – 100 100 – – 100 100 Fund investment
Win Genius Investments Limited HK Ordinary HKD1 – – 100 100 – – 100 100 Securities investment

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, 
principally affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion 
of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive length. Additionally, they believed that no 
non-controlling interests were material to the Group, and therefore, the non-controlling interests were not 
disclosed.

None of the subsidiaries of the Group had any debt securities outstanding at the end of the reporting period or at 
any time during the year.



FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

G-RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED 2022 ANNUAL REPORT112

(A) RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000     

Revenue 34,273 27,110 54,215 63,165 26,873     
Profit/(loss) before taxation 48,375 43,492 73,167 69,917 (89,434)
Taxation (46) 6 (4) 4 —     
Profit/(loss) for the year 48,329 43,498 73,163 69,921 (89,434)     
Profit/(loss) for the year 

attributable to:
Owners of the Company 48,208 43,566 73,163 69,878 (89,927)
Non-controlling interests 121 (68) — 43 493     

48,329 43,498 73,163 69,921 (89,434)     

(B) ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at 31 December

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000     

Total assets 1,503,558 1,551,417 1,631,361 1,690,826 1,600,271
Total liabilities (58,372) (57,745) (60,052) (53,039) (60,140)     

1,445,186 1,493,672 1,571,309 1,637,787 1,540,131     
Equity attributable to owners of the 

Company 1,440,931 1,493,672 1,571,309 1,635,234 1,538,197
Non-controlling interests 4,255 — — 2,553 1,934     

1,445,186 1,493,672 1,571,309 1,637,787 1,540,131     
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